
AGENDA for the Joint Meeting of the 

Sierra County Board of Education 

and the 

Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District Governing Board 

May 13, 2025 

5 :00pm CLOSED Session 

6:00pm Regular Session 

Meeting .Location: 

Loyalton: Sierra County Office of Education, Room 4, 109 Beckwith Rd, Loyalton CA 96118 

Zoom for the public: 

Link: https://u 02web.zoom.us/j/8702 I 236544 

Phone dial-in: 669-900-9128 (Press *6 to unmute) 

Webinar ID: 870 2123 6544 

Board Members: 

Area I: Patty Hall- phall@spjusd.org 

Area 2: Rhynie Hollitz (Vice President) - rhollitz@spjusd.org 

Area 3: John Martinetti (Clerk) - jmartinetti@spjusd.org 

Area 4: Kelly Champion (President) - kchampion@spjusd.org 

Area 5: Richard Jaquez - rjaquez@spjusd.org 

Any individual who requires disability-related accommodations or modifications including auxiliary aids and services in order 

to participate in the Board meeting should contact the Superintendent(s) or designee in writing. 

Any student or parent/guardian who wishes to have directory information or personal information, as defined in Education 

Code 49061 and/or 49073.2, be excluded from the minutes should contact the Superintendent(s) or designee in writing. 

Public inspection of agenda documents that are distributed to the Board less than 72 hours before the meeting, will be made 

available at Sierra County Office of Education, Room 3, 109 Beckwith Road, Loyalton, CA, 96118, and posted with the online 

agenda at http://www.sierracountyschools.org (Government Code 54957.5). 

A. CALL TO ORDER

Please be advised that this meeting will be recorded.

B. ROLLCALL

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

D. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR CLOSED SESSION

At this time, the meeting opens for any public comments regarding the Closed Session item(s).

E. CLOSED SESSION

The Board will move into Closed Session to discuss the following item(s):

1. Government Code 54957.6

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS

Agency Negotiator(s) for the Board: 

Employee Organizations: 

Unrepresented Employees: 

James Berardi, County Superintendent 

Sean Snider, District Superintendent 

District Superintendent 

Sierra-Plumas Teachers' Association 

Classified Employees 

Confidential Employees 

Administrative Employees 

Page I of 4 
SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Agenda - May 13, 2025 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87021236544


2. Government Code 54957

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EV ALU A TI ON

Title: District Superintendent

F. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION and ADJOURN FOR BREAK

G. 6:00PM - RECONVENE

H. FLAG SALUTE

I. REPORT OUT FROM CLOSED SESSION

J. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS

1. Superintendent Reports

COUNTY-SCOE 

a. Continued Advocacy Work

b. SCOE Personnel Items:

I. Resignation for Dylan Abbott, Technology Specialist, 1.0 FTE, effective

April 18, 2025

2. Resignation for Tamara Hubbs, Speech Aide, .60 FTE ( 18 hours/week),

effective June 06, 2025

DISTRICT-SPJUSD 

c. Final report on District Superintendent goals for 2024-2025**

d. Bid Packages for LES Roof and DYL Cafeteria Roof

2. Business Report

a. Letter from the California Department of Education concurring with the

positive certification for the 2024-2025 Second Interim Reports for SCOE and

SPJUSD**

b. Monthly Chronic Absenteeism Rates**

c. Eighth Month SPJUSD Enrollments for the 2024-2025 School Year**

3. Board Meeting Spotlight on Schools: Loyalton Elementary School

4. SPTA Report

5. Committee/Board Member Reports

6. Public Comment -This is an opportunity for members of the public to directly address the governing

board on any item of interest that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the governing board. Three (3)

minutes may be allotted to each speaker and a maximum of twenty (20) minutes to each subject matter.

K. CONSENT CALENDAR

l. Approval of minutes for the joint Regular Meeting held April 08, 2025 **

2. Approval of minutes for the joint Special Meeting held May 07, 2025**

3. Approval of Board Report-Checks Dated 04/01/2025 through 04/30/2025

a. SCOE**

b. SPJUSD**

4. Approval of the following SPJUSD personnel items:

a. Assignment of Caroline Griffin to Teach Core Subjects out of Credential

Authorization for the 2024-2025 School Year**

b. Resignation for Alysia Massey, Cafeteria Worker, .44 FTE (3.5 hours/day),

effective May 20, 2025

c. Authorization to fill Cafeteria Worker, .44 FTE (3.5 hours/day)

Page 2 of 4 
SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Agenda - May 13, 2025 



d. Transfers for the following to Loyalton Middle School for the 2025-2026

school year:

1. Laurie Petterson (from LES)

2. Margaret Binkley (from LHS)

3. Jason Rosecrans (from LHS)

e. Authorization to fill Secretary, Loyalton Middle School, 1.0 FTE (8 hrs/day)

f. Authorization to fill 2 Instructional Aides, Loyalton Middle School, .58 FTE

each (3.5 hrs/day)

g. Authorization to fill Custodian, Loyalton Middle School, .5 FTE (4 hrs/day)

L. ACTION ITEMS

1. New Business

COUNTY & DISTRICT-SCOE & SPJUSD 

a. Adoption of Resolution 25-006C/25-009D declaring Classified School
Employee Week**

COUNTY-SCOE 

PUBLIC HEARING-SELPA 

b. Public Hearing to receive public comment on the 2025-2026 SCOE SELPA
Annual Budget and Service Plan
The SCOE SELPA Annual Budge/ and Service plan is available/or public inspection online at
www .. rierraco11nt1,•.1-chool.1·.org and at the Sierra County Office of Education, I 09 Beckwith Road,
Room 3, Loyalton, California, during business hours M-F 8:00am-4:J0pm.

c. Adoption of the 2025-2026 SCOE SELPA Annual Budget and Service Plan**

DISTRICT-SP JUSD 

d. Approval of assignments for the 2025-2026 Extra Duty stipend positions

1. Coaching**
2. Non-Coaching**

e. Approval of selection of Reading Difficulties Risk Screener

f. Approval of quote for Reading Difficulties Risk Screener**

g. Approval of quote for District Office and Wellness Center foundation work**

h. Approval of quote for new ramps for portables**

BOARD POLICIES AND BYLAWS 

Board Bylaw 93 10: "The Superintendent or designee shall develop and present a first 
reading at a public Board meeting and action may be taken on the proposed policy. 
The Board may require additional readings if necessary." 

Batch from April 8th 
- econd Reading

1. 5125-Student Records/\/\ 

J. 5131-Conduct/V\ 

k. 5131.6-Alcohol and Other Drugs/\/\ 

I. 5131.8-Mobile Communication Devices/\/\ 

m. 5141.5-Mental Health/\/\ 

n. 5141.52-Suicide Prevention/\/\ 

o. 5145 .13-Response to Immigration Enforcement/\/\ 

New for May 13th - Fir t Reading 

p. 1312.2-Complaints Concerning Instructional Materials**

q. 1340-Access to District Records**

r. 3311-Bids**

s. 3311. I-Uniform Public Construction Cost Accounting Procedures**

Page 3 of 4 
SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Agenda - May 13, 2025 



t. 3312--Contracts**

u. 3516.5-Emergency Schedules**

v. 3580-District Records**

w. 4151~4251~4351-Employee Compensation**

x. 4158~4258~4358-Rmployee Security**

M. ADV AN CED PLANNING

1. The next Regular Joint Board Meeting will be held on June 10, 2025, at Downieville

School, 130 School St, Downieville CA 95936 at 6:00pm. If needed, Closed Session may

be held before the Regular session beginning at 5:00pm. Zoom videoconferencing will be

available for the public.

2. Suggested Agenda Items

N. ADJOURN

r 
� ... --� 

James Berardi, 

County Superintendent 

** enclosed 

* handout

IV\ prior meeting handout 

Sean Snider, 

District Superintendent 

James Berardi, County Superintendent - jberardi@spjusd.org 

Sean Snider, District Superintendent - ssnider@spjusd.org 

Kristie Jacobsen, Executive Assistant to the Superintendents - kjacobsen@spjusd.org 

Randy Jones, Director of Business Services/CEO - rjones@spjusd.org 

Office: 530-993-1660 x0 

Email schoolinfo@spjusd.org to be added to the agenda email list. 

Page 4 of4 
SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Agenda- May 13, 2025 



SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 
 

Sean Snider 
Superintendent 

 

 

P.O. Box 955 
109 Beckwith Road 
Loyalton, California  96118 

Phone:      (530) 993-1660 
FAX:               (530) 993-0828 
Email:   ssnider@spjusd.org 

Progress Report on Superintendent’s Goals for 2024-2025 
Sean Snider 

Presented to the Board of Trustees May 13, 2025 
 
*Updates on goals will be provided in October, January, March, and May in order to establish two-way feedback on the 
progress of each. 
 
1. Provide instructional leadership and support for increased student academic achievement. 

a. Be visible and present on school campuses and in classrooms no less than 3 times monthly. 
1. I have been present on school campuses and in classrooms no less than 3 times monthly. 

b. Coordinate no less than 3 professional development opportunities for staff by June 1, 2025. 
1. K-12 Literacy 

1. Year-long literacy series kicked off on September 25, 2024. 
2. Introduction to the Revised Mathematics Framework 

1. This was scheduled to kick off in late April and May.  After further consideration and due to busy 
end-of-year schedules, we have decided to push this to next year. 

3. Series of Online Professional Development Modules for Classified Staff and Substitutes 
1. Classified professional development online modules launched on February 19, 2025. 

 
2. Maintain positive working relationships with school staff, community agencies, and the school community as a whole. 

a. Attend no less than 2 Board of Supervisors’ meetings by June 30, 2025. 
1. September 17, 2024 
2. January 21, 2025 
3. April 15, 2025 

b. Attend no less than 2 Loyalton City Council meetings by June 30, 2025. 
1. January 21, 2025 
2. April 15, 2025 
3. May 20, 2025 

c. Attend no less than 5 community events / fundraisers by June 1, 2025. 
1. Cattlemen’s Association Dinner September 14, 2024 
2. Downieville Brewfest September 21, 2024 
3. Tech-Wise Family Safety Night- Loyalton October 3, 2024 
4. Swinging for the Schools Golf Tournament October 5, 2024 
5. Booster Club Crab Feed Fundraiser March 29, 2025 
6. Loyalton High School Senior Variety Show April 9, 2025 
7. Loyalton High School Band Concert April 16, 2025 
8. Tech-Wise Family Safety Night- Downieville April 17, 2025 
9. Community Health Improvement Plan (CHIP) Meeting (Loyalton) April 29, 2025 
10. FFA End of Year Banquet April 30,2025 
11. Little League Opening Day May 3, 2025 

 
3. Make progress on the facilities needs of the district. 

a. Provide a list of facility priorities for each school site for the 2024-2025 school year at the September 10, 2024 Board 
meeting. 

1. List of facilities priorities for the 2024-25 school presented at the September 10, 2024 board meeting. 
2. Facilities Needs Assessment and Facilities Master Plan process kicked off on March 3, 2025 

 



SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 
 

Sean Snider 
Superintendent 

 

 

P.O. Box 955 
109 Beckwith Road 
Loyalton, California  96118 

Phone:      (530) 993-1660 
FAX:               (530) 993-0828 
Email:   ssnider@spjusd.org 

b. Report on the progress of this year's facilities improvement projects no less than 3 times during the 2024-25 school 
year. 

1. Progress reports provided on September 10, 2024, October 8, 2024, November 12, 2024, December 17, 
2024, January 14, 2025, February 11, 2025, March 19, 2025, April 8, 2025, and May 13, 2025. 

2. Downieville Roof project completed. 
 
4. Continue to reduce deficit spending, with the goal of presenting a balanced budget for the 2025-2026 school year. 

1. Budget cleanup and restated balances at First Interim provided a more accurate picture of our current 
status. 

2. First and Second Interim Budget Revisions and Multi Year Projections show we are on track to meet this 
goal. 

 
5. Provide mentoring and support for new Director of Student Improvement and 2 new principals. 

a. Daily check-ins 
1. These happen nearly every day 

b. Weekly Principals’ meetings 
1. Weekly meetings happening 

c. Monthly individualized coaching meetings 
1. Monthly coaching meetings began in September 

d. Ongoing support as needed 
1. Individual support provided as needed 



 
May 2, 2025 

James Berardi, Superintendent 
Sierra County Office of Education 
P.O. Box 955 
Loyalton, CA 96118 

Sean Snider, Superintendent 
Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified 
P.O. Box 955 
Loyalton, CA 96118 

Dear Superintendent Berardi and Superintendent Snider: 

Subject: 2024–25 Second Interim Reports 

Pursuant to California Education Code sections 1240(l) and 42131(g), the California 
Department of Education (CDE) has reviewed the Sierra County Office of Education 
(SCOE) and the Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified’s (SPJUSD) Second Interim Reports and 
the accompanying positive certifications of financial solvency to determine whether they 
comply with the Criteria and Standards for fiscal stability adopted by the State Board of 
Education and are consistent with a financial plan that will enable your county office of 
education and school district to satisfy their multiyear financial commitments, including 
all financial obligations in the current year. The CDE concurs with the assessment that, 
based on current projections, the SCOE and the SPJUSD will be able to meet their 
financial obligations for the current and subsequent two fiscal years and that positive 
certifications are appropriate. 

The CDE appreciates the submission of the SCOE and SPJUSD Second Interim 
Reports. If SCOE or SPJUSD have any questions or concerns, please email us at 
SACSINFO@cde.ca.gov. 

Sincerely, 

John Miles 
John Miles, Administrator 
Fiscal Oversight and Support Office 

cc: Randy Jones, Business Manager, Business Services 

mailto:SACSINFO@cde.ca.gov


Chronic Absenteeism Rates as of May 7, 2025 
 

Chronic absenteeism refers to the number (or percentage) of students in grades TK through 

8th grade who have missed 10% or more of school days for any reason. At this point in the 

year, students who have missed 15 or more days are considered chronically absent. By the 

end of the school year, this number increases to 18 days. 
 

2024-2025 School Year as of May 7 (This Year) 

     January      February             March*            April            May        June 

Loyalton 
Elementary 
School 

19% 15% 
 

8% 11% 10%  

Downieville 

Elementary 

9% 11% 
 

16% 15% 15%  

Loyalton 

High School 

13% 11% 
 

6% 19% 27%  

Downieville 

Jr/Sr High 

School 

11% 20% 12% 27% 18%  

Sierra Pass N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A  

District  17% 11.4% 8.40% 13% 14%  

 

2023-2024 School Year as of May 8 (Last Year) 

     January      February           March*            April          May       June 

Loyalton 
Elementary 
School 

13% 15% 
 

15% 25% 27%  

Downieville 

Elementary 

31% 23% 
 

26% 35% 35%  

Loyalton 

High School 

13% 17% 
 

17% 32% 32%  

Downieville 

Jr/ Sr High 

School 

11% 6% 
 

6% 9% 0%  

Sierra Pass N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A  

District  15% 16% 16% 27% 28%  

 



ENROLLMENT BY SCHOOL MONTH - 2024-2025

**As of 04/17/2025 Downieville Loyalton Downieville Loyalton Downieville Loyalton Sierra Pass Long-Term
Elementary Elementary Jr High Jr High Sr High Sr High Continuation ISP/SDC TOTAL

Ending 2023-2024 27 193 10 41 12 114 6 included in site # 403
1st Day 2024-2025 27 200 10 47 9 120 3 included in site # 416

Month
September 1 26 203 10 47 9 122 3 included in site # 420
08/21/24-09/13/24
October 2 26 203 10 47 9 118 5 included in site # 418
09/16/24-10/11/24
November 3 24 198 9 47 9 117 6 included in site # 410
10/14/24-11/08/24
December 4 23 198 9 47 9 119 5 included in site # 410
11/12/24-12/06/24
January 5 23 199 9 47 9 118 5 included in site # 410
12/09/24-01/17/25
February 6 22 202 8 46 10 117 4 included in site # 409
01/21/25-02/14/25
March 7 22 202 8 46 10 116 5 included in site # 409
02/18/25-03/14/25
April 8 22 200 9 44 10 116 5 included in site # 406
03/18/25-04/11/25
May 9 included in site # 0
04/14/25-05/09/25
June 10 included in site # 0
05/13/25-06/06/25

2023-2024 SPJUSD SCOE Washoe Long-Term ISP
P1 ADA 358.58 0.74 13.34 DES 0
P2 ADA 357.90 0.74 13.37 LES 6

Annual 358.02 0.74 13.33 DHS 0
LHS 6

2022-2023 SPJUSD SCOE Washoe
P1 ADA 354.53 0.70 13.50
P2 ADA 351.20 0.70 12.97

Annual 352.11 0.70 13.46



Page 1 of 6 

SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Minutes – April 08, 2025 

MINUTES for the Joint Meeting of the 

Sierra County Board of Education 

and the 

Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District Governing Board 

April 08, 2025 

5:00pm CLOSED Session 

6:00pm Regular Session 

Downieville: Downieville School, 130 School St, Downieville CA 95936 

Zoom videoconferencing was also available for the public. 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER 

President KELLY CHAMPION called the meeting to order at 5:00pm. 

B. ROLL CALL 

PRESENT: Area 2: Rhynie Hollitz (Vice President) 

Area 3: John Martinetti (Clerk) 

Area 4: Kelly Champion (President) 

Area 5: Richard Jaquez 

ABSENT: Area 1: Patty Hall 

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

SNIDER: The Honda CR-V is owned by SCOE, so that Action Item (2., g.) needs to be moved up 

to become the second item under COUNTY—SCOE.  

CHAMPION motioned to approve the agenda with the suggested change. Second by JAQUEZ. 

4/0 

D. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR CLOSED SESSION 

None 

E. CLOSED SESSION 

The Board moved into Closed Session at 5:02pm to discuss the following item(s): 

1. Government Code 54957.6 

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 

Agency Negotiator(s) for the Board:  James Berardi, County Superintendent 

     Sean Snider, District Superintendent 

Employee Organizations: 

Unrepresented Employees:  District Superintendent 

Sierra-Plumas Teachers’ Association 

Classified Employees 

Confidential Employees 

Administrative Employees 

2. Government Code 54957 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 

Title: District Superintendent 

F. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION at 6:05pm and ADJOURN FOR BREAK 



Page 2 of 6 

SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Minutes – April 08, 2025 

G. 6:12PM – RECONVENE 

H. FLAG SALUTE 

I. REPORT OUT FROM CLOSED SESSION 

MARTINETTI: Two topics were up for discussion only. No action was taken. 

J. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS 

1. Correspondence 

a. Letter from FEMA regarding Loyalton Elementary School and Loyalton High 

School roofs 

SNIDER: Determined that we are not eligible for disaster money for LES and 

LHS because the damage to those roofs is due to age and regular wear and 

tear, not storms. 

b. Letter from RIMKUS regarding insurance settlement for all school sites 

SNIDER: Awarded settlement of $418K for all district damage as a result of 

the storms, but mostly for Downieville roofs. 

2. Superintendent Reports 

COUNTY—SCOE 

a. Advocacy 

BERARDI: Attended the Education Leadership Summit last month and met 

with Megan Dahle, Heather Hadwick and Tony Thurmond to continue 

advocating for small rural schools. Superintendent Advisory Council meeting 

next month. There will be a ride-along with Senators on an electric bus to 

continue discussions about the challenges with electric buses and the problems 

with law requiring all electric busses to be used across California. 

b. Technology Specialist II added to Classified Salary Schedule (County position) 

BERARDI: Steps needed to allow advancement into the Technology Director 

position. Current Technology Specialist will move into Technology Specialist II 

starting July 1. 

DISTRICT—SPJUSD 

c. Transportation update 

SNIDER: We have enough buses functioning to run all of our routes, but still 

waiting on our fourth driver to be cleared so we don’t have to cancel routes 

due to unavailable drivers. Expecting fourth driver will be cleared by the end 

of spring break week. Bus from Oklahoma almost ready. 

d. Facilities update 

SNIDER: Downieville roof project is scheduled to be finished this Friday. Still 

waiting for the results on facility needs and the Facilities Master Plan. 

Expecting a draft in May. Will wait for the plan to determine order of 

importance of projects for each site. 

e. LCAP Process 

SNIDER: I have Community Meetings set up for May 1st in Loyalton and May 

6th in Downieville to look at current 3-year LCAP for possible revisions. Next 

year’s LCAP will be presented for review and approval in June. 

 



Page 3 of 6 

SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Minutes – April 08, 2025 

3. Business Report 

a. Monthly Chronic Absenteeism Rates 

b. Seventh Month SPJUSD Enrollments for the 2024-2025 School Year 

4. SPTA Report 

PRESIDENT—PETTERSON: SPTA wishes to respectfully remind the SPJUSD 

Board of the Meeting Guidelines they agreed upon last month. In recent 

months the behavior of the Board has been demoralizing to many SPJUSD 

stakeholders and staff. SPTA has observed with growing concern that some of 

the guidelines have not been adhered to over the past few months. A few areas 

of concern include lack of open communication, respectful discourse, and a 

commitment to collaboration. SPTA understands the pressures and challenges 

that come with governing a school district. However, we believe that by 

committing to the guidelines the Board can foster a more positive and effective 

environment for everyone involved. 

5. Board Workshops for Governance Handbook, Board Goals, and Strategic Plan 

HOLLITZ: Would like to see Board Goals developed so that they align with timeline for 

setting Superintendent goals.  

CHAMPION: Would like to plan for a Special Meeting in June for a workshop day. 

6. Committee/Board Member Reports 

HOLLITZ: Reviewed SABRE (Salary and Benefits Report) last week during 

Budget Committee meeting. Also discussed Middle School plans, cafeteria and 

other facility topics. 

CHAMPION: In Budget Committee meeting we discussed possibly raising 

General Fund Reserve, but determined to hold off on that for approximately a 

year, or until we get through some of the projects we’ve been talking about. We 

will be discussing one-time funding and grant-funded positions. Friday and 

Saturday HOLLITZ, HALL, BERARDI and CHAMPION going to Sacramento 

for a County Board workshop on County Board governance. 

7. Public Comment 

Pat Doyle—Teacher: Would like to encourage having a board member present 

during negotiations meetings. Would also like to voice support for 

Superintendent SNIDER’s contract to be extended using a three-year contract 

as has been precedent with previous superintendents. 

K. CONSENT CALENDAR 

1. Approval of minutes for the Regular Joint Meeting held March 19, 2025 

2. Approval of Board Report-Checks Dated 03/01/2025 through 03/31/2025 

a. SCOE 

b. SPJUSD 

3. Approval of Quarterly Report on Williams Uniform Complaints for the quarter ending 

03/31/2025 

a. SCOE 

b. SPJUSD 

 



Page 4 of 6 

SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Minutes – April 08, 2025 

4. Approval of the following SPJUSD personnel items: 

a. Assignment of Isaac Price, 2024-2025 Golf, Loyalton High School 

b. Resignation for Kathleen Epps, Instructional Aide, Downieville School, .9 FTE 

(5.4 hours/day), effective April 30, 2025 

c. Authorization to fill Instructional Aide, Downieville School, .9 FTE (5.4 

hours/day) 

d. Resignation for Kayla Seeland, Cafeteria Worker, .50 FTE (4 hours/day), 

effective April 25, 2025 

e. Authorization to fill Cafeteria Worker, .44 FTE (3.5 hours/day) 

f. Assignment of Alysia Massey, Cafeteria Worker, .44 FTE (3.5 hours/day), 

effective April 28, 2025 

g. Assignment of Kayla Seeland, Cafeteria Worker II, .68 FTE (5.4 hours/day), 

effective April 28, 2025 

HOLLITZ/JAQUEZ 

4/0 

L. ACTION ITEMS 

1. Old Business 

a. Approval of the 2025-2026 School Calendars 

HOLLITZ/JAQUEZ 

4/0 

2. New Business 

COUNTY & DISTRICT—SCOE & SPJUSD 

a. Approval of purchase of building for new Wellness Center 

HOLLITZ motioned to approve with the upgrades if needed (blinds and 

carpet). Second by JAQUEZ. 

4/0 

COUNTY—SCOE 

b. Approval of purchase of building for new County/District Office 

JAQUEZ motioned to approve with the upgrades if needed (blinds and carpet). 

Second by HOLLITZ. 

4/0 

b.c. Review and award bid for the 2007 Honda CR-V 

HOLLITZ/CHAMPION 

4/0 

DISTRICT—SPJUSD 

c.d. Approval of the Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District Ethnic Studies 

Course Outline, second reading 

JAQUEZ/HOLLITZ 

4/0 

d.e. Approval of the 2025-2026 Extra Duty Assignments and Stipends to be filled 

HOLLITZ/MARTINETTI 

4/0 

 



Page 5 of 6 

SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Minutes – April 08, 2025 

 

e.f. Approval of Middle School Plan 

HOLLITZ motioned to approve Plan B, but use Plan A as backup if funding 

does not come through. Second by MARTINETTI. 

JAQUEZ concerned about Administrator time with Plan B. CHAMPION 

feels that we need a designated Administrator for the Middle School. 

Discussion regarding review of plans during Budget Committee meeting. 

HOLLITZ amended motion. Intended to approve Plan A with Plan B as 

backup, but amending motion to approve Plan B as recommended by SNIDER 

and using Plan A if we get NSS funding. 

SNIDER/JONES: We do not have confirmation from CDE that they will 

fund us as NSS. Discussion regarding surplus in budget for next year 

versus additional expenses with Middle School. Revenues projected to 

increase in the 2nd and 3rd years out. 

SNIDER also to research a Teaching Principal position as part of Plan B. 

Second by JAQUEZ. 

4/0 

f.g. Acceptance of a 2017 Ford StarCraft – Class A Starlite bus from Sierra County 

Transportation Commission 

JAQUEZ/MARTINETTI 

4/0 

g.a. Review and award bid for the 2007 Honda CR-V 

h. Approval to surplus the following: 

HOLLITZ/JAQUEZ 

4/0 

1. 1994 Chev Suburban, VIN 1GNGK26K2RJ351939 

2. 1998 Chev PU, VIN 1GCGK24ROWZ275420 

3. Crane Chef stove 

4. General Electric stove 

BOARD POLICIES AND BYLAWS 

Board Bylaw 9310: “The Superintendent or designee shall develop and present a first 

reading at a public Board meeting and action may be taken on the proposed policy. 

The Board may require additional readings if necessary.” 

New for April 8th – First Reading 

Postponed to May for second reading 

i. 5125—Student Records 

j. 5131—Conduct 

k. 5131.6—Alcohol and Other Drugs 

l. 5131.8—Mobile Communication Devices 

m. 5141.5—Mental Health 

n. 5141.52—Suicide Prevention 

o. 5145.13—Response to Immigration Enforcement 

 



Page 6 of 6 

SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Minutes – April 08, 2025 

M. ADVANCED PLANNING 

1. The next Regular Joint Board Meeting will be held on May 13, 2025, at Sierra County 

Office of Education, Room 4, 109 Beckwith Rd, Loyalton CA 96118 at 6:00pm. If 

needed, Closed Session may be held before the Regular session beginning at 5:00pm. 

Zoom videoconferencing will be available for the public. 

2. Suggested Agenda Items 

None 

N. ADJOURN 

CHAMPION adjourned the meeting at 7:48pm. 

 

 

 

______________________________  _______________________________ 

James Berardi,     Sean Snider, 

County Superintendent    District Superintendent 

 

 

_______________________________ 

John Martinetti, Clerk 







Page 1 of 2 

SCOE & SPJUSD Joint SPECIAL Meeting Minutes – May 07, 2025 

MINUTES for the Joint SPECIAL Meeting of the 

Sierra County Board of Education 

and the 

Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District Governing Board 

May 07, 2025 

4:00pm 

Loyalton: Sierra County Office of Education, Room 4, 109 Beckwith Rd, Loyalton CA 96118 

Zoom videoconferencing was also available for the public. 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER 

President KELLY CHAMPION called the meeting to order at 4:02pm. 

B. ROLL CALL 

PRESENT: Area 1: Patty Hall 

Area 2: Rhynie Hollitz (Vice President) 

Area 3: John Martinetti (Clerk) 

Area 4: Kelly Champion (President) 

Area 5: Richard Jaquez 

ABSENT: None 

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

HALL/JAQUEZ 

5/0 

D. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR CLOSED SESSION (1) 

None 

E. CLOSED SESSION (1) 

The Board moved into Closed Session at 4:02pm to discuss the following item(s): 

1. Education Code 48912 

Consideration of Agreement and Stipulation for Expulsion in case 24/25-01 

F. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION at 4:23pm & REPORT OUT FROM CLOSED SESSION (1) 

CHAMPION: This item was for discussion only.  

G. FLAG SALUTE 

H. PUBLIC COMMENT 

Special Meeting Agenda Items only, please. 

None 

I. ACTION ITEMS 

1. New Business 

a. Approval of Agreement and Stipulation for Expulsion in case 24/25-01 

HALL/JAQUEZ 

5/0 

b. Adoption of Resolution 25-005C/25-008D declaring Teacher Appreciation 

Week and California Day of the Teacher 

HOLLITZ/CHAMPION 

5/0 



Page 2 of 2 

SCOE & SPJUSD Joint SPECIAL Meeting Minutes – May 07, 2025 

c. Approval of quote for bus 

HOLLITZ/HALL 

5/0 

J. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR CLOSED SESSION (2) 

None 

K. CLOSED SESSION (2) 

The Board moved into Closed Session at 4:45pm to discuss the following item(s): 

1. Government Code 54957.6 

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 

Agency Negotiator(s) for the Board:  James Berardi, County Superintendent 

     Sean Snider, District Superintendent 

Employee Organizations: 

Unrepresented Employees:  District Superintendent 

Sierra-Plumas Teachers’ Association 

Classified Employees 

Confidential Employees 

Administrative Employees 

2. Government Code 54957 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 

Title: District Superintendent 

L. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION at 7:47pm & REPORT OUT FROM CLOSED SESSION (2) 

CHAMPION: Both items were for discussion only. No action was taken. 

M. ADVANCED PLANNING 

1. The next Regular Joint Board Meeting will be held on May 13, 2025, at Sierra County 

Office of Education, Room 4, 109 Beckwith Rd, Loyalton CA 96118 at 6:00pm. If 

needed, Closed Session may be held before the Regular session beginning at 5:00pm. 

Zoom videoconferencing will be available for the public. 

N. ADJOURN 

CHAMPION adjourned the meeting at 7:47pm. 

 

 

 

_______________________________  _______________________________ 

James Berardi,     Sean Snider, 

County Superintendent    District Superintendent 

 

 

_______________________________ 

John Martinetti, Clerk 











Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 04/01/2025 through 04/30/2025

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00017415 04/11/2025 ALHAMBRA 11-4330 WATER SERVICE 116.87 

00017416 04/11/2025 ALPINE FIRE SERVICES, INC. SALES AND SERVICE 11-6200 FIRE EXTINGUISHERS 526.33 

00017417 04/11/2025 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES 01-4300 CLASSROOM SUPPLIES 413.52 

IPAD CASE 28.95 

STUDENT TRANSP SUPPLIES 91.16 

01-4320 FURNITURE 245.21 

11-4300 OCCUPANCY SIGNS 17.14 795.98 

00017418 04/11/2025 AMERIGAS 11-5500 PROPANE 351.35 

00017419 04/11/2025 AT&T 11-5900 PHONE 175.72 

00017420 04/11/2025 DONALD BERGSTROM 01-5810 SPED/DO CLEANING 1,286.25 

01-5899 SPED/DO CLEANING 551.25 1,837.50 

00017421 04/11/2025 HEIDI BETHKE 01-5200 SPED CONFERENCE 894.26 

00017422 04/11/2025 BRADY INDUSTRIES 01-4320 CUSTODIAL SUPPLIES 127.48 

00017423 04/11/2025 KELLY CHAMPION 01-5200 PER DIEM 34.23 

01-5899 PER DIEM 34.23 68.46 

00017424 04/11/2025 MELANIE CHRISTIAN 01-5810 TRANSPORTATION REIMBURSE 2,002.00 

00017425 04/11/2025 MICAH COHEN, MOT, OTR/L 01-5810 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY SERVICES 2,627.80 

00017426 04/11/2025 CRESCO RESTAURANT EQUIPMENT 11-4300 CULINARY SUPPLIES 771.89 

11-4400 CULINARY SUPPLIES 1,461.58 2,233.47 

00017427 04/11/2025 CURRENT ELECTRIC & ALARM 11-5500 ALARM MONITORING 405.00 

11-6200 FIRE ALARM/SMOKE DETECTORS 1,500.00 1,905.00 

00017428 04/11/2025 EDWARDS, STEVENS AND TUCKER, LLP 01-5801 LEGAL FEES 97.50 

00017429 04/11/2025 ELEVATION TRUCKEE 01-5810 TRANSITIONAL SERVICES 3,192.00 

00017430 04/11/2025 FAGEN FRIEDMAN & FULFROST LLP 01-5801 LEGAL FEES 2,786.00 

00017431 04/11/2025 W.W. GRAINGER, INC. 01-4320 MAINT. SUPPLIES 228.07 

Unpaid Sales Tax 15.42- 212.65 

00017432 04/11/2025 KELLI GROCK 01-5100 COUNSELING SERVICES 4,205.06 

01-5810 COUNSELING SERVICES 1,399.94 5,605.00 

00017433 04/11/2025 INTEGRITY HEATING & AIR 01-5600 HEATING REPAIR 2,439.29 

11-5810 HVAC SERVICE 632.18 3,071.47 

00017434 04/11/2025 INTERMOUNTAIN DISPOSAL, INC. 01-5899 GARBAGE SERVICE 146.87 

11-5500 GARBAGE SERVICE 165.95 312.82 

00017435 04/11/2025 JAQUEZ CUSTOM CRAFT, INC 11-6200 BUILDING WORK 5,096.57 

00017436 04/11/2025 JOEL TILLMAN 11-5810 TECH SUPPORT 510.51 

00017437 04/11/2025 LASSEN COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 01-5810 ADAPTIVE PE SERVICES 1,681.38 

00017438 04/11/2025 LAUREN JONES BEHAVIORAL CONSULTANT 01-5899 BEHAVIORAL CONSULTANT 10,495.83 

00017439 04/11/2025 LIBERTY UTILITY CA 01-5500 ELECTRICAL SERVICE 1,933.95 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 1 of 3

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  5 2025  6:10AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 04/01/2025 through 04/30/2025

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00017439 04/11/2025 LIBERTY UTILITY CA 11-5500 ELECTRICAL SERVICE 489.22 2,423.17 

00017440 04/11/2025 MARTIN EARTHWORKS 01-5899 SNOW REMOVAL 110.00 

11-5500 SNOW REMOVAL 440.00 550.00 

00017441 04/11/2025 MEGAN MESCHERY 01-5200 CISC CONFERENCE 189.00 

00017442 04/11/2025 ODP BUSINESS SOLUTIONS LLC 01-4330 OFFICE SUPPLIES 134.03 

00017443 04/11/2025 PEARSON EDUCATION, INC 11-4300 TEXTBOOKS 3,165.68 

00017444 04/11/2025 PLUMAS-SIERRA TELECOMMUNICATIONS 11-5900 BROADBAND SERVICE 109.00 

00017445 04/11/2025 PRESENCELEARNING, INC. 01-5810 PRESENCE LEARNING 20,215.81 

00017446 04/11/2025 UBEO WEST LLC 11-5600 COPIER/MAINTENANCE 70.83 

00017447 04/11/2025 REMSA CENTER FOR INTEGRATED HEALTH CARE & 

COMMUNITY EDU

11-5810 CPR CARDS 341.00 

00017448 04/11/2025 RENO PRINT STORE 01-4300 MUSIC PROGRAM SHIRTS 1,700.48 

OLYMPIC T-SHIRTS 4,417.60 

Unpaid Sales Tax 293.35- 5,824.73 

00017449 04/11/2025 RIVERSIDE INSIGHTS 01-4300 ASSESSMENT SUPPLIES 504.13 

00017450 04/11/2025 SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 01-5808 BANK SERVICE FEES 122.72 

00017451 04/11/2025 SIERRA VALLEY HOME CENTER 01-4300 SHOP CLASS SUPPLIES 1,689.46 

00017452 04/11/2025 TERMINIX PROCESSING CENTER 01-5810 PEST CONTROL 207.00 

00017453 04/11/2025 THE MASTER TEACHER 11-4300 ONLINE TRAINING 660.00 

00017454 04/11/2025 TIP PRINTING & GRAPHICS 01-4300 BUSINESS CARDS 70.62 

00017455 04/11/2025 TODDLER TOWERS, INC. SIERRAKIDS 01-5810 ELOP SPED AIDE 2,483.31 

00017456 04/11/2025 TRI COUNTY SCHOOLS INSURANCE GROUP 01-9535 HEALTH INSURANCE 1,661.41 

76-9576 HEALTH INSURANCE 30,288.99 31,950.40 

00017457 04/11/2025 U.S. BANK VOYAGER 01-4350 FUEL EXPENSE 272.04 

01-5200 FUEL EXPENSE 164.37 

01-5899 FUEL EXPENSE 100.23 536.64 

00017458 04/11/2025 AMBER WILLIAMS 01-5200 MILEAGE/PER DIEM 215.60 

00017459 04/23/2025 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES 01-4300 LAPTOP BAG 43.96 

01-4320 CLEANING SUPPLIES 14.54 

01-4330 ATTEND CLERK SUPPLIES 1,030.88 

OFFICE SUPPLIES 66.47 1,155.85 

00017460 04/23/2025 JAMES BERARDI 01-5200 MILEAGE 518.00 

00017461 04/23/2025 EDWARDS, STEVENS AND TUCKER, LLP 01-5801 LEGAL FEES 845.00 

00017462 04/23/2025 LES SCHAWB 01-4350 VEHICLE SERVICE 144.39 

01-5600 VEHICLE SERVICE 5.61 

01-5899 VEHICLE SERVICE 5.61 155.61 

00017463 04/23/2025 P2C SOLUTIONS, LLC 11-5810 PRESENTATION 300.00 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 2 of 3

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  5 2025  6:10AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 04/01/2025 through 04/30/2025

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00017464 04/23/2025 PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM 01-5810 SSA 218 FEE 110.00 

00017465 04/23/2025 TEAM ONE NETWORKING 11-4300 PHONES 716.76 

00017466 04/23/2025 U.S. BANK 01-4300 EPOXY 757.06 

01-5200 CCS TRAVEL 1,534.76 

CISC CONFERENCE 281.33-

GRANT WRITER COURSE 186.00 

HOTEL ACCOMODATIONS 131.93 

REGISTRATION 515.00 

01-5899 CAFE INFO LUNCH 65.20 2,908.62 

Total Number of Checks 52 124,896.92 

Fund Summary

Fund Description Check Count Expensed Amount

County School Service Fund 37 76,893.12 01

ADULT EDUCATION 20 18,023.58 11

Payroll Clearing 1 30,288.99 76

Net (Check Amount)

Less Unpaid Sales Tax Liability

Total Number of Checks 52 125,205.69 

308.77 

124,896.92 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 3 of 3

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  5 2025  6:10AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 04/01/2025 through 04/30/2025

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00087499 04/11/2025 ACCO ENGINEERED SYSTEMS 01-5600 LIBRARY AIR HANDLER 4,465.02 

00087500 04/11/2025 AIRGAS, USA, LLC 01-5600 TANK RENTAL LHS/DVL 360.40 

00087501 04/11/2025 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES 01-4300 books 231.18 

CELL PHONE HOLDER 38.57 

CLASS BOOKS 306.24 

classroom supplies 73.43 

Earbuds 21.42 

ELOP SUPPLIES 1,657.70 

GARDEN SUPPLIES 72.41 

HEADPHONES 85.75 

music program

STUDENT INSTRUCTIION 9.62 

Supplies 168.24 

TECH SUPPLIES 191.77 

TECHNOLOGY SUPPLIES 216.76 

01-4302 classroom supplies 65.94 

office supplies 515.77 

01-4320 Corner Desk 106.17 

MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 382.15 

plant maintenance supplies 68.30 

RESTROOM SIGNS 148.02 

wellness center chairs 566.24 

01-4330 nurse supplies 48.72 

office supplies 290.09 

school board chairs 424.69 

01-4400 LEARNING CENTER TECH 139.43-

01-5899 school board chairs 424.67 5,974.42 

00087502 04/11/2025 AMERIGAS 01-5540 PROPANE 13,068.65 

01-5899 PROPANE 797.99 13,866.64 

00087503 04/11/2025 STACI ARMSTRONG 01-4300 ATTENDANCE AWARDS 105.95 

00087504 04/11/2025 AT&T 01-5890 PHONE SERVICES 60.19 

01-5899 PHONE SERVICES 27.56 

01-5910 PHONE SERVICES 635.21 722.96 

00087505 04/11/2025 MARGARET BINKLEY 01-4300 Pro Teacher Subscription 54.00 

00087506 04/11/2025 PAMELA BRANDON 01-5600 TECH COTTAGE RENTAL 100.00 

00087507 04/11/2025 BSN SPORTS LLC 01-4305 Softball Home Plate 122.24 

00087508 04/11/2025 BUREAU OF EDUCATION & RESEARCH ATTN: 

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

01-5200 REGISTRATION 295.00 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 1 of 5

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  5 2025  6:12AM006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 04/01/2025 through 04/30/2025

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00087509 04/11/2025 CITY OF LOYALTON 01-5530 WATER AND SEWER - LOYALTON SITES 4,874.85 

01-5899 WATER AND SEWER - LOYALTON SITES 283.57 5,158.42 

00087510 04/11/2025 CURRENT ELECTRIC & ALARM, INC. 01-5600 ALARM MONITORING 990.00 

01-5899 ALARM MONITORING 75.00 1,065.00 

00087511 04/11/2025 DAVIS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 01-5200 INDUCTION 2,550.00 

00087512 04/11/2025 DOWNIEVILLE PUBLIC UTILITY DIS 01-5530 Water 50.00 

00087513 04/11/2025 EDWARDS, STEVENS AND TUCKER, LLP 01-5810 LEGAL FEES 1,202.50 

00087514 04/11/2025 FILTERS DELIVERED, LLC 01-4320 HVAC FILTERS 804.27 

Unpaid Sales Tax 57.07- 747.20 

00087515 04/11/2025 JANET HAMILTON 01-5600 TECH COTTAGE RENTAL 100.00 

00087516 04/11/2025 HEARTLAND SCHOOL SOLUTIONS 01-5890 MOSAIC CAFETERIA SOFTWARE 3,196.00 

00087517 04/11/2025 HUNT & SONS, INC. 01-5590 HEATING OIL 2,986.65 

00087518 04/11/2025 INTEGRITY HEATING & AIR 01-6200 HVAC - ROOM 1 7,461.00 

00087519 04/11/2025 JOHN'S SPRING & SUSPENSION LLC 01-5600 BUS REPAIR 2,997.10 

00087520 04/11/2025 JOSHUA WILKINSON 01-5200 MILEAGE 557.20 

00087521 04/11/2025 JOSTENS 01-4305 Diplomas and Covers 503.11 

00087522 04/11/2025 JOSTENS 01-4305 Caps and Gowns 689.95 

00087523 04/11/2025 K 12 MANAGEMENT DBA FUELED 01-5890 STUDENT LICENSE BLOCK/ISP 

COURSES

2,025.00 

00087524 04/11/2025 LIBERTY UTILITY CA 01-5510 ELECTRIC - LOYALTON SITES 17,136.75 

01-5899 ELECTRIC - LOYALTON SITES 1,076.16 18,212.91 

00087525 04/11/2025 MODEL DAIRY, LLC 13-4700 DAIRY PRODUCTS 1,395.06 

00087526 04/11/2025 MOUNTAIN MESSENGER 01-5890 ADVERTISEMENTS AND PUBLIC 

HEARINGS

145.73 

00087527 04/11/2025 NORTHAM DISTRIBUTING, INC. 13-4340 CAFE FOOD/SUPPLIES 200.28 

13-4700 CAFE FOOD/SUPPLIES 2,289.65 2,489.93 

00087528 04/11/2025 ODP BUSINESS SOLUTIONS LLC 01-4302 office supplies 2,931.02 

00087529 04/11/2025 PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 01-5510 Electricity 4,870.07 

00087530 04/11/2025 PETERNELL ELECTRIC 01-5600 ELECTRICAL WORK 271.25 

00087531 04/11/2025 QUINCY TOW SERVICE & REPAIR 01-5890 BUS TOWING 2,250.00 

00087532 04/11/2025 UBEO WEST LLC 01-4330 office supplies 63.28 

01-5600 COPIER MAINT. 1,269.89 

01-5899 COPIER MAINT. 142.72 1,475.89 

00087533 04/11/2025 RUA & SON MECHANICAL, INC 40-6200 ROOF REPLACEMENT PROJECT 111,806.50 

40-9515 ROOF REPLACEMENT PROJECT 5,590.33- 106,216.17 

00087534 04/11/2025 SCHOOL SERVICES OF CALIFORNIA 01-5890 SABRE REPORT 450.00 

00087535 04/11/2025 SIERRA COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT 01-5510 ELECTRICAL SERVICES FOR TECH 

COTTAGE

289.50 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 2 of 5

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  5 2025  6:12AM006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 04/01/2025 through 04/30/2025

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00087536 04/11/2025 INTERMOUNTAIN DISPOSAL, INC. 01-5520 GARBAGE SERVICE 724.18 

01-5899 GARBAGE SERVICE 13.33 737.51 

00087537 04/11/2025 SIERRA ELECTRONICS 01-4400 BUS RADIO 1,259.76 

00087538 04/11/2025 SIERRA HARDWARE 01-4320 Misc Maintenance supplies 162.73 

00087539 04/11/2025 SIERRA VALLEY HOME CENTER 01-4320 MAINT SUPPLIES 83.06 

MAINT. SUPPLIES 1,042.97 

40-4320 DEFERRED MAINT PROJECTS 325.20 1,451.23 

00087540 04/11/2025 SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED 01-5890 BANK SERVICE FEES 155.21 

Reim. for Softball Officials 1,710.00 1,865.21 

00087541 04/11/2025 DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE ACCOUNTING OFFICE 01-5890 EMPLOYMENT FINGERPRINTING 64.00 

01-5899 EMPLOYMENT FINGERPRINTING 32.00 96.00 

00087542 04/11/2025 SYSCO FOOD SVCS OF SACRAMENTO 13-4340 CAFETERIA - FOOD AND SUPPLIES 803.37 

13-4700 CAFETERIA - FOOD AND SUPPLIES 7,136.51 7,939.88 

00087543 04/11/2025 TEAM ONE NETWORKING 01-5899 PHONE SERVICES 14.00 

01-5910 PHONE SERVICES 126.00 140.00 

00087544 04/11/2025 TODDLER TOWERS, INC. SIERRA KIDS 01-5890 ELOP PROGRAM 28,244.22 

00087545 04/11/2025 TRI COUNTY SCHOOLS INS. GR. 01-9535 HEALTH INSURANCE 8,855.62 

76-9576 HEALTH INSURANCE 81,141.90 89,997.52 

00087546 04/11/2025 VERIZON WIRELESS 01-5899 CELL PHONE SERVICE 465.38 

01-5910 CELL PHONE SERVICE 468.20 933.58 

00087547 04/11/2025 U.S. BANK VOYAGER 01-4305 FIELD TRIP FUEL 387.62 

FUEL FOR ATHLETIC TRIPS 1,228.69 

01-4351 BUS FUEL 2,231.62 

Fuel for Maintenance 190.02 

01-5200 FUEL FOR FFA 331.11 4,369.06 

00087548 04/11/2025 AMANDA WATTENBURG 01-5200 MILEAGE 137.20 

00087549 04/23/2025 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES 01-4300 LIBRARY & MISC SUPPLIES 315.93 

Supplies 20.97 

01-4302 office supplies 102.79 

01-4320 Flags/Ipad Case 70.17 

Maint Supplies 95.46 

wall clock 16.76 

01-4330 Flags/Ipad Case 23.40 645.48 

00087550 04/23/2025 AMERICAN BUS SALES, LLC 01-6400 BUS 122,620.25 

Unpaid Sales Tax 7,605.25- 115,015.00 

00087551 04/23/2025 AMERICAN TRUCK & TRAILER 01-4400 ONSPOT CHAINS 4,941.98 

00087552 04/23/2025 LYNN W. FILLO 01-9210 HEALTH CARE REIMBURSE 6,260.11 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 3 of 5

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  5 2025  6:12AM006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 04/01/2025 through 04/30/2025

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00087553 04/23/2025 K 12 MANAGEMENT DBA FUELED 01-5890 STUDENT LICENSE BLOCK/ISP 

COURSES

16,250.00 

00087554 04/23/2025 LEARNING A-Z 01-5890 curriculum 270.00 

00087555 04/23/2025 LES SCHWAB TIRE CENTER 01-4350 Vehicle maintenance 103.96 

00087556 04/23/2025 MODEL DAIRY, LLC 13-4700 DAIRY PRODUCTS 782.69 

00087557 04/23/2025 ODP BUSINESS SOLUTIONS LLC 01-4300 Instructional Supplies 109.64 

01-4302 Copy Paper 887.17 996.81 

00087558 04/23/2025 PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 01-5510 Electricity 4,632.64 

00087559 04/23/2025 PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM 01-5890 SSA 218 FEE 130.00 

00087560 04/23/2025 SHERRILL RAHE 01-4300 GARDEN GRANT SUPPLIES 284.46 

GARDEN SUPPLIES 49.83 334.29 

00087561 04/23/2025 RODOLFO NEVAREZ 01-5200 TRANSPORTATION MILEAGE 16.80 

00087562 04/23/2025 SIERRA BOOSTER 01-5890 ADVERTISEMENTS/LEGAL/PUBLIC 

NOTICES

115.20 

01-5899 ADVERTISEMENTS/LEGAL/PUBLIC 

NOTICES

162.00 277.20 

00087563 04/23/2025 DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE ACCOUNTING OFFICE 01-5890 EMPLOYMENT FINGERPRINTING 32.00 

01-5899 EMPLOYMENT FINGERPRINTING 49.00 81.00 

00087564 04/23/2025 SYSCO FOOD SVCS OF SACRAMENTO 13-4340 CAFETERIA - FOOD AND SUPPLIES 207.37 

13-4700 CAFETERIA - FOOD AND SUPPLIES 1,265.00 1,472.37 

00087565 04/23/2025 TINYEYE TECHNOLOGIES CORP c/o V68000U 01-5890 THERAPY SERVICES 11,738.93 

00087566 04/23/2025 U.S. BANK 01-4300 GARDEN GRANT SUPPLIES 5,746.20 

GARDEN SUPPLIES 540.36 

IPAD SOFTWARE 33.00 

Paint 133.01 

01-4305 Baseball/Softball Supplies 215.03 

01-4320 I Beam for scoreboard 941.91 

MAINT SUPPLIES 40.75 

01-4330 ADOBE PRO SUBSCRIPTION 15.00 

01-4350 BUS BATTERIES 621.42 

FUEL FOR MAINT. 156.42 

MAINT SUPPLIES 4.44 

TOWING AND REPAIR 581.67 

WINDSHEILD 270.30 

01-4351 BUS FUEL 381.81 

01-4400 GRADUATION STAGE 1,917.01 

NAIL DRAG 1,403.50 

01-5200 CHARTER BUS 5,070.08 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 4 of 5

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  5 2025  6:12AM006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 04/01/2025 through 04/30/2025

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00087566 04/23/2025 U.S. BANK 01-5200 HOTEL ACCOMODATIONS 1,173.00 

REGISTRATION 399.50 

01-5600 MOBILE BUS REPAIR 2,126.80 

01-5890 JOB FAIR REGISTRATION 125.00 

ZOOM SUBSCRIPTION 74.24 

01-5899 ADOBE PRO SUBSCRIPTION 4.99 

CELL PHONE SERVICE 466.66 

REGISTRATION 399.50 

01-5910 CELL PHONE SERVICE 468.20 

13-6400 CAFETERIA EQUIPMENT 15,916.32 39,226.12 

00087567 04/23/2025 VEREGY 01-6500 CALSHAPE PROJECTS 63,787.50 

00087568 04/23/2025 VERIZON WIRELESS 01-5899 CELL PHONE SERVICE 515.65 

01-5910 CELL PHONE SERVICE 468.20 983.85 

ACH-00021461 04/30/2025 SIOBHAN MARKEE Cancelled 3,579.40 *

Cancelled on 05/02/2025

ACH-00021468 04/30/2025 ISAAC PRICE Cancelled 1,492.47 *

Cancelled on 04/30/2025

Total Number of Checks 72 608,705.79 

Net Issue

Cancel 

AmountCount

 2 5,071.87 

603,633.92 

Fund Summary

Fund Description Check Count Expensed Amount

General Fund 64 393,616.72 01

Cafeteria Fund 6 29,996.25 13

Special Reserve for Capital Ou 2 106,541.37 40

Warrant/Pass Though (payroll) 1 81,141.90 76

Net (Check Amount)

Less Unpaid Sales Tax Liability

Total Number of Checks 70 611,296.24 

7,662.32 

603,633.92 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 5 of 5

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  5 2025  6:12AM006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District





SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 

SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

RESOLUTION No. 25-006C/25-009D 

FOR DECLARING 

CLASSIFIED SCHOOL EMPLOYEE WEEK 

 

WHEREAS a strong staff of classified employees is essential to the success of an educational 
organization; and 

 

WHEREAS the Sierra County Office of Education and Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School 

District classified employees provide a myriad of valuable services to the schools; 

and 

 

WHEREAS classified employees are the backbone of our schools and contribute to a positive 

school and district environment; and 

 

WHEREAS classified employees help provide for the welfare and safety of our students and staff; 

and 

 

WHEREAS the efforts of the classified staff are highly appreciated, but too often unheralded; and 

 

WHEREAS we are fortunate to have 49 classified employees contributing to student success each 

and every day. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Sierra County Board of Education and 

Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District Governing Board hereby recognize and 

honor the contributions of the classified employees to quality education and declares 

the week of May 18-24, 2025, as Classified School Employee Week. 

 

ADOPTED on May 13, 2025, by the Sierra County Board of Education and Sierra-Plumas Joint 

Unified School District Governing Board, Sierra County, California. 
 

 
 

Kelly Champion, President John Martinetti, Clerk 

Board of Education Board of Education 
 

 

 
 

Rhynie Hollitz, Vice President Patty Hall, Member 

Board of Education Board of Education 
 

 

 
 

Richard Jaquez, Member Sean Snider 

Board of Education District Superintendent 

 

 

__________________________________ 

James Berardi 

County Superintendent 















































 2025-2026 EXTRA DUTY ASSIGNMENTS 

 
 
 
 

Position Stipend Personnel Personnel Personnel  

  Downieville LHS LES  
          Coaching Assignments      

Athletic Director - Loyalton 
High/$2,750 per season x3/$8250 cap 
 

8250 cap  Rebekah Perez   

Athletic Director – Downieville/$750 
per team or $2,250 cap 

2250 cap     

Athletic Director - Loyalton Gr. TK-8 2000 per 
season/$
6000 cap 

        April Burns  

Varsity Football LHS 2250  Jeremy Miller   

Assistant Varsity Football LHS 1750     

Varsity Basketball - Boys 2250  Joel Armstrong   

J.V. Basketball - Boys 2250     

Varsity Basketball - Girls 2250    Laurie Petterson   

J.V Basketball – Girls 2250     

7th Grade Basketball – Boys 750     

8th Grade Basketball – Boys 750     

7th  Grade Basketball - Girls 750  Sarah Torricelli   

8th Grade Basketball – Girls 750     

7th/8th Gr. COED Basketball (Downieville) 1750     

Boys Baseball 2250     

Girls Softball 2250     

Varsity Volleyball - Girls 2250  Carlie Sheridan   

JV Volleyball Girls 1750     

Track 2250     

Tennis 1750     

Cheerleading Advisor per season 
maximum 2 seasons per year 

2250  Laurie 
Petterson/Fall 

  

Golf Coach  1750     

Physical Fitness Coordinator District-
wide 

750  Sarah Torricelli   

Soccer 2250  TBD   

Ski Team 1750 
 

 Cali Griffin   

      

      

      

Presented to the Governing Board: May 13, 2025 Doc: SPTA/2025-2026 Extra Duty Assignment list 



SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 

 

CERTIFICATED PERSONNEL 

2025-2026 Extra Duty Assignments - Assignments 

The following Extra Duty Assignment temporary positions and stipends are subject to the Sierra-
Plumas Joint Unified Governing Board approval. 
 
        Stipend 

WASC Lead 
 Loyalton Maintenance Year   $1,250      Rebekah Perez 
 Downieville Maintenance Year  $1,250      Robin Bolle  
 

Site Technology Coordinator    $1,750 

• Loyalton Elementary            Joanna Haug 

• Loyalton Junior/Senior High 7-12         Sarah Torricelli  

• Downieville K-12            Katrina Bosworth  

Teacher-In-Charge (per semester)   $1,250 

• Loyalton Junior/Senior High 7-12           Jason Prakash 

• Loyalton Elementary            Miranda Prakash 

• Downieville K-12                   TBD 
 

SST Site Facilitator 

• Loyalton High 7-12     $1,750       Jason Prakash 

• Downieville K-12    $1,250              TBD 

• LES K-6     $1,750       Sonia Joy 
  
                     Advisor Friday Night Live Kids 

• Loyalton Grades K-6   $2,500  TBD 

• Downieville Grades K-6  $1,500            TBD 
  Advisor Friday Night Live 

• Loyalton Grades  9-12  $2,500        Amber Williams 

• Downieville Grades 9-12  $1,500       Katrina Bosworth 
  Advisor Club Live 

• Loyalton Grades 7-8   $2,500  TBD 

• Downieville Grades 7-8  $1,500  TBD 
 

Advisor Associated Student Body-LHS  $2,500      Amber Williams 
Advisor Associated Student Body- DHS  $1250      Robin Bolle 
 

 
 

5/8/2025 
 
 



Amplify
 
55 Washington Street, Suite 800
Brooklyn, NY 11201
Phone: (800) 823-1969
Fax: (646) 403-4700
 
 
 
 

Price Quote
 

Quote #: Q-519591-1
Date: 4/17/2025
Expires On: 5/17/2025
Delivery Service Level: Standard

Customer Contact Information
Sean Snider
Sierra Plumas Joint Unif Sd
0
ssnider@spjusd.org

Amplify Contact Information
Kevin Mauser
Lead Inside Account Executive
(815) 534-0148
kmauser@amplify.com

 
 
1yr

GRADE K-2 mCLASS D8 & Lectura Licenses

PRODUCT QUANTITY PRICE TOTAL
DISCOUNT

TOTAL PRICE

mCLASS California Grades K-2 1yr DIBELS 8th Ed Annual
Student License - 1yr (2025-2026)

78.00 $9.00 $702.00 $0.00

mCLASS Lectura Annual Student License add-on for existing
mCLASS customers - 1yr (2025-2026)

6.00 $5.00 $30.00 $0.00

TOTAL $732.00 $0.00

GRADE 3-6 mCLASS D8 & Lectura Licenses

PRODUCT QUANTITY PRICE TOTAL
DISCOUNT

TOTAL PRICE

mCLASS California Grades 3-6 1yr DIBELS 8th Ed Annual
Student License - 1yr (2025-2026)

119.00 $9.00 $0.00 $1,071.00

mCLASS Lectura Annual Student License add-on for existing
mCLASS customers - 1yr (2025-2026)

5.00 $5.00 $0.00 $25.00

TOTAL $0.00 $1,096.00

GRADE 7-8 DDS Implementation & Licenses

PRODUCT QUANTITY PRICE TOTAL
DISCOUNT

TOTAL PRICE

DIBELS Data System Implementation Fee 1.00 $200.00 $0.00 $200.00

DIBELS Data System DIBELS 8th Ed - 1yr (2025-2026) 59.00 $1.00 $0.00 $59.00

TOTAL $0.00 $259.00

Page 1 of 7



KITS

PRODUCT QUANTITY PRICE TOTAL
DISCOUNT

TOTAL PRICE

mCLASS DIBELS 8th Edition Kit - Kindergarten 1.00 $47.00 $0.00 $47.00

mCLASS DIBELS 8th Edition Kit - Grade 1 1.00 $47.00 $0.00 $47.00

mCLASS DIBELS 8th Edition Kit - Grade 2 1.00 $47.00 $0.00 $47.00

mCLASS DIBELS 8th Edition Kit - Grade 3 1.00 $47.00 $0.00 $47.00

mCLASS DIBELS 8th Edition Kit - Grade 4 1.00 $47.00 $0.00 $47.00

mCLASS DIBELS 8th Edition Kit - Grade 5 1.00 $47.00 $0.00 $47.00

mCLASS DIBELS 8th Edition Kit - Grade 6 1.00 $47.00 $0.00 $47.00

mCLASS GK Lectura Kit 1.00 $47.00 $0.00 $47.00

mCLASS G1 Lectura Kit 1.00 $47.00 $0.00 $47.00

mCLASS G2 Lectura Kit 1.00 $47.00 $0.00 $47.00

mCLASS G3 Lectura Kit 1.00 $47.00 $0.00 $47.00

mCLASS G4 Lectura Kit 1.00 $47.00 $0.00 $47.00

mCLASS G5 Lectura Kit 1.00 $47.00 $0.00 $47.00

mCLASS G6 Lectura Kit 1.00 $47.00 $0.00 $47.00

DIBELS 8th Ed Paper/Pencil G7 Benchmark Kit 1.00 $76.00 $0.00 $76.00

DIBELS 8th Ed Paper/Pencil G7 Progress Monitoring Kit 1.00 $44.00 $0.00 $44.00

DIBELS 8th Ed Paper/Pencil G8 Progress Monitoring Kit 1.00 $44.00 $0.00 $44.00

TOTAL $0.00 $822.00

BOOST READING/BOOST CLOSE
READING

Grades K-8

PRODUCT QUANTITY PRICE TOTAL
DISCOUNT

TOTAL PRICE

Boost Reading Student License - 1yr (2025-2026) 167.00 $32.00 $2,338.00 $3,006.00

Boost Close Reading Student License - 1yr (2025-2026) 89.00 $32.00 $1,246.00 $1,602.00

TOTAL $3,584.00 $4,608.00

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT QUANTITY PRICE TOTAL
DISCOUNT

TOTAL PRICE

CA Small Dist mCLASS DIBELS 8th Ed/Lectura Year 1 Virtual 12 1.00 $3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00

Boost Reading Getting Started for Teachers (2 Hours Remote) 1.00 $600.00 $0.00 $600.00

Boost Close Reading Getting Started for Teachers (2 Hours
Remote)

1.00 $600.00 $0.00 $600.00

TOTAL $4,200.00 $0.00 $4,200.00

Page 2 of 7



SHIPPING & HANDLING

SHIPPING AND HANDLING DELIVERY SERVICE LEVEL SHIPPING COST TOTAL
DISCOUNT

TOTAL PRICE

Amplify Shipping and Handling Standard $98.64 $0.00 $98.64
 
TOTAL DISCOUNT $4,316.00
GRAND TOTAL $11,083.64
 
 
 

Scope and Duration

 
Payment Terms:

• This Price Quote (including all pricing and other terms) is valid through Quote Expiration Date stated above.
• Payment terms: net 30 days.
• Prices do not include sales tax, if applicable.
• Pricing terms in the Price Quote are based on the scope of purchase and other terms herein.
• The Federal Tax ID # for Amplify Education, Inc. is 13-4125483. A copy of Amplify's W-9 can be found at:  http://

www.amplify.com/w-9.pdf

License and Services Term:
• Licenses: 07/01/2025 until 06/30/2026.
• Services: 18 months from order date. Unless otherwise stated above, all training and other services purchased must be

scheduled and delivered within such term or will be forfeited.

Special Terms:
• FOR SHIPPED MATERIALS:

• Expedited shipping is available at extra charge.
• Print materials and kits are non-returnable and non-refundable, except in the case of defective or missing

materials reported by Customer within 60 days of receipt.
• FOR SERVICES:

• Training and professional development sessions cancelled with less than one week notice will be deemed
delivered.

 

How to Order Our Products

 
Amplify would like to process your order as quickly as possible. Please visit amplify.com/ordering-support to find all the information you
need for submitting your order.  We accept the following forms of payment: purchase orders, checks, and credit card payments (Visa,
MasterCard, Discover and American Express). In order for us to assist you, please help us by following these instructions:
Please include these three documents with your order:

• Authorized purchase order or check
• A copy of your Price Quote
• A copy of your Tax-Exemption Certificate

If submitting a purchase order:
To expedite your order, please visit amplify.com/ordering-support where you can submit your signed purchase order. You can also
email a purchase order to  IncomingPO@amplify.com or fax it to (646) 403-4700. Purchase Orders can also be mailed to our Order
Management Department at the address below.
 
If submitting your order via credit card:

Page 3 of 7

http://www.amplify.com/w-9.pdf
http://www.amplify.com/w-9.pdf
https://amplify.com/ordering-support
https://amplify.com/ordering-support
mailto:IncomingPO@amplify.com


• Please email Accountsreceivable@amplify.com   to request a secure credit card payment link

If submitting your order via sending a check:
• Please mail your documents directly to our Order Management Department and notify your sales representative of the

check number and check amount.
• Please note that mailing a check can add up to  two weeks of processing time for your order. For faster processing of

your order, please submit your order via Purchase Order or Credit Card Authorization Form.

The information requested above is essential to ensure the smooth completion of your order with Amplify. Failure to submit documents
will prevent your order from processing.
 
Our Order Management Department is located at 55 Washington Street, Suite 800, Brooklyn, NY 11201. Please note that mailing any
documents can result in delays of up to two weeks. For faster processing of your order, we recommend you submit a purchase
order via our website: amplify.com/ordering-support.
 
 

This Price Quote is subject to the Customer Terms & Conditions of Amplify Education, Inc. attached and available at amplify.com/
customer-terms. Issuance of a purchase order or payment pursuant to this Price Quote, or usage of the products specified herein, shall
be deemed acceptance of such Terms & Conditions.

 

Terms & Conditions

1.    Scope. These Terms and Conditions (the “Customer Terms”) are a legal agreement between Amplify Education, Inc. (“Amplify”)
and your school, district, state agency, or other educational organization (“you” or “Customer”) for the license and use of one or more
of Amplify products or services (the “Products”), as specified in the receipt, price quote, proposal, renewal letter, or other ordering
document containing the details of this purchase (the “Quote”). Unless otherwise specified in the Quote, these Customer Terms and the
Quote constitute the entire agreement between Amplify and Customer regarding the license and use of the Products (the “Agreement”).
This Agreement becomes effective at the earliest of the following: (i) issuing a purchase order, shipment request, or payment against
the Quote; (ii) accessing, downloading, or using the Products; or (iii) otherwise accepting this Agreement. You represent and warrant
that: (1) you are of legal age to accept this Agreement; (2) you are authorized to accept this Agreement and to access and use the
Products; and (3) your use of the Products will comply at all times with Amplify’s Acceptable Use Policy available at amplify.com/
acceptable-use (“AUP”). If you do not agree to this Agreement, do not access, download, or use the Products.
 
2.    License. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Agreement, Amplify grants to Customer a non-exclusive, non-transferable,
non-sublicensable license to access and use, and permit Authorized School Users, as defined below, to access and use the Products
in accordance with the AUP, for the duration specified in the Quote (the “Term”), and for the number of Authorized School Users
specified in the Quote for whom Customer has paid the applicable fees to Amplify. “Authorized School User” means an individual
teacher or other personnel employed by Customer, or an individual student registered or authorized for instruction with Customer, who
Customer permits to access and use the Products subject to the terms and conditions of the Agreement, solely while such individual
is so employed or so registered. Each Authorized School User’s access and use of the Products will be subject to Amplify’s AUP in
addition to the terms and conditions of the Agreement. Violations of this Agreement or the AUP may result in suspension or termination
of the applicable account.
 
3.    Restrictions. Customer may access and use the Products solely for non-commercial instructional and administrative purposes.
Guidelines for such purposes may be detailed in materials associated with the Product you are accessing. Further, Customer may
not, except as expressly authorized or directed by Amplify: (a) copy, modify, translate, distribute, disclose, or create derivative works
based on the contents of, sell, or otherwise exploit, the Products, or any part thereof; (b) decompile, disassemble, reverse engineer
the Products, or otherwise use the Products to develop functionally similar products or services; (c) modify, alter, or delete any of the
copyright, trademark, or other proprietary notices in or on the Products; (d) rent, lease, or lend the Products or use the Products for the
benefit of any third party; (e) avoid, circumvent, or disable any security or digital rights management device, procedure, protocol, or
mechanism in the Products; or (f) permit any Authorized User or third party to do any of the foregoing. Customer also agrees that any
works created in violation of this section are derivative works, and, as such, Customer agrees to assign, and hereby assigns, all right,
title, and interest in such works to Amplify. The Products and derivatives thereof may be subject to export control laws, restrictions,
regulations, and orders of the U.S. and other jurisdictions (together, “Export Laws”). Customer agrees to comply with all applicable
Export Laws, and will not, and will not permit Authorized School Users to, export, or transfer for the purpose of re-export, any Product to
any prohibited or embargoed country in violation of any U.S. export law or regulation. Further, Customer represents that it is not a party

Page 4 of 7

mailto:Accountsreceivable@amplify.com
https://amplify.com/ordering-support
http://amplify.com/customer-terms
http://amplify.com/customer-terms
http://amplify.com/acceptable-use
http://amplify.com/acceptable-use
http://amplify.com/acceptable-use


subject to sanctions by the U.S. Office of Foreign Assets Control or included on any restricted party list maintained by the U.S. Bureau
of Industry and Security. The software and associated documentation portions of the Products are “commercial items” (as defined at 48
CFR 2.101), comprising “commercial computer software” and “commercial computer software documentation,” as those terms are used
in 48 CFR 12.212. Accordingly, if Customer is the U.S. Government or its contractor, Customer will receive only those rights set forth
in this Agreement in accordance with 48 CFR 227.7201-227.7204 (for Department of Defense and their contractors) or 48 CFR 12.212
(for other U.S. Government licensees and their contractors).
 
4.    Reservation of Rights. SUBSCRIPTION PRODUCTS ARE LICENSED, NOT SOLD. Subject to the limited rights expressly granted
hereunder, all rights, title, and interest in and to all Products, including all related IP Rights, are and will remain the sole and exclusive
property of Amplify or its third-party licensors. “IP Rights” means, collectively, rights under patent, trademark, copyright, and trade
secret laws, and any other intellectual property or proprietary rights recognized in any country or jurisdiction worldwide. Customer must
promptly notify Amplify of any violation of Amplify’s IP Rights in the Products, and will reasonably assist Amplify as necessary to remedy
any such violation. Amplify Products are protected by patents (see amplify.com/virtual-patent-marking).
 
5.    Payments. In consideration of the Products, Customer will pay to Amplify (or other party designated on the Quote) the fees
specified in the Quote in full within 30 days of the date of invoice, except as otherwise agreed by the parties or for those amounts
that are subject to a good faith dispute of which Customer has notified Amplify in writing. Customer will be responsible for all state or
local sales, use or gross receipts taxes, and federal excise taxes unless Customer provides a then-current tax exemption certificate in
advance of the delivery, license, or performance of any Product, as applicable. 
 
6.    Shipments. Unless otherwise specified on the Quote, physical Products will be shipped FOB origin in the US (Incoterms 2010
EXW outside of the US) and are deemed accepted by Customer upon receipt. Upon acceptance of such Products, orders are non-
refundable, non-returnable, and non-exchangeable, except in the case of defective or missing materials reported to Amplify by
Customer within 60 days of receipt. In such case, Customer may not return Products without Amplify’s written authorization.
 
7.    Account Information. For subscription Products, the authentication of Authorized School Users is based in part upon information
supplied by Customer or Authorized School Users, as applicable. Customer will and will cause its Authorized School Users to (a)
provide accurate information to Amplify or a third-party service as applicable, and promptly report any changes to such information, (b)
not share login credentials or otherwise allow others to use their account, (c) maintain the confidentiality and security of their account
information, and (d) use the Products solely via such authorized accounts. Customer agrees to notify Amplify immediately of any
unauthorized use of its or its Authorized School Users’ accounts or related authentication information. Amplify will not be responsible for
any losses arising out of the unauthorized use of accounts created by or for Customer and its Authorized School Users.
 
8.    Confidentiality. Customer acknowledges that, in connection with this Agreement, Amplify has provided or will provide to Customer
and its Authorized School Users certain sensitive or proprietary information, including software, source code, assessment instruments,
research, designs, methods, processes, customer lists, training materials, product documentation, know-how, or trade secrets, in
whatever form (“Confidential Information”). Customer agrees (a) not to use Confidential Information for any purpose other than use of
the Products in accordance with this Agreement and (b) to take all steps reasonably necessary to maintain and protect the Confidential
Information of Amplify in strict confidence. Confidential Information shall not include information that, as evidenced by Customer’s
contemporaneous written records: (i) is or becomes publicly available through no fault of Customer; (ii) is rightfully known to Customer
prior to the time of its disclosure; (iii) has been independently developed by Customer without any use of the Confidential Information; or
(iv) is subsequently learned from a third party not under any confidentiality obligation.
 
9.    Student Data. The parties acknowledge and agree that in the course of providing the Products to the Customer, Amplify may
collect, receive, or generate information that directly relates to an identifiable current or former student of Customer (“Student Data”).
Student Data may include personal information from a student’s “educational records,” as defined by the Family Educational Rights and
Privacy Act of 1974 (“FERPA”). Student Data is owned and controlled by the Customer and Amplify receives Student Data as a “school
official” under Section 99.31 of FERPA for the purpose of providing the Products hereunder. Individually and collectively, Amplify and
Customer agree to uphold our obligations, as applicable, under FERPA, the Children’s Online Privacy Protection Act (“COPPA”), the
Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment (“PPRA”), and applicable state laws relating to student data privacy. Amplify’s Privacy Policy
at amplify.com/customer-privacy (“Privacy Policy”) will govern collection, use, and disclosure of Student Data collected or stored on
behalf of Customer under this Agreement. Customer is responsible for providing notice and obtaining appropriate consents under
applicable laws to authorize Authorized School Users’ use of the Products, including making a copy of the Privacy Policy available to
the parents or guardians of users who are under the age of 13. In addition, Amplify has entered into the Data Privacy Agreements listed
at amplify.com/privacy-security aligned with state and national templates to facilitate compliance with applicable state laws and help
expedite Customer’s student data privacy documentation process.
 

Page 5 of 7

http://amplify.com/virtual-patent-marking
http://amplify.com/customer-privacy
http://amplify.com/customer-privacy
http://amplify.com/customer-privacy
http://amplify.com/privacy-security


10.    Customer Materials and Requirements. Customer represents, warrants, and covenants that it has all the necessary rights,
including consents and IP Rights, in connection with any data, information, content, and other materials provided to or collected by
Amplify on behalf of Customer or its Authorized School Users using the Products or otherwise in connection with this Agreement
(“Customer Materials”), and that Amplify has the right to use such Customer Materials as contemplated hereunder or for any other
purposes required by Customer. Customer is solely responsible for the accuracy, integrity, completeness, quality, legality, and safety of
such Customer Materials. Customer is responsible for meeting hardware, software, telecommunications, and other requirements listed
at amplify.com/customer-requirements.  
 
11.    Warranty Disclaimer. PRODUCTS ARE PROVIDED “AS IS” AND WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND BY AMPLIFY.
AMPLIFY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY AS TO TITLE,
NON-INFRINGEMENT, MERCHANTABILITY, OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR USE. CUSTOMER ASSUMES
RESPONSIBILITY FOR SELECTING THE PRODUCTS TO ACHIEVE CUSTOMER’S INTENDED RESULTS AND FOR THE
ACCESS AND USE OF THE PRODUCTS, INCLUDING THE RESULTS OBTAINED FROM THE PRODUCTS. WITHOUT LIMITING
THE FOREGOING, AMPLIFY MAKES NO WARRANTY THAT THE PRODUCTS WILL BE ERROR-FREE OR FREE FROM
INTERRUPTIONS OR OTHER FAILURES OR WILL MEET CUSTOMER’S REQUIREMENTS. AMPLIFY IS NEITHER RESPONSIBLE
NOR LIABLE FOR ANY THIRD-PARTY CONTENT OR SOFTWARE INCLUDED IN PRODUCTS, INCLUDING THE ACCURACY,
INTEGRITY, COMPLETENESS, QUALITY, LEGALITY, USEFULNESS, OR SAFETY OF, OR IP RIGHTS RELATING TO, SUCH
THIRD-PARTY CONTENT AND SOFTWARE. ANY ACCESS TO OR USE OF SUCH THIRD-PARTY CONTENT AND SOFTWARE
MAY BE SUBJECT TO THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS AND INFORMATION COLLECTION, USAGE, AND DISCLOSURE
PRACTICES OF THIRD PARTIES.
 
12.    Limitation of Liability. IN NO EVENT WILL AMPLIFY BE LIABLE TO CUSTOMER OR TO ANY AUTHORIZED USER FOR ANY
INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, PUNITIVE, RELIANCE, OR COVER DAMAGES, DAMAGES FOR LOST PROFITS,
LOST DATA OR LOST BUSINESS, OR ANY OTHER INDIRECT DAMAGES, EVEN IF AMPLIFY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE
POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, AMPLIFY’S ENTIRE LIABILITY TO
CUSTOMER OR ANY AUTHORIZED USER ARISING OUT OF PERFORMANCE OR NONPERFORMANCE BY AMPLIFY OR IN
ANY WAY RELATED TO THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THIS AGREEMENT, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE CLAIM FOR SUCH
DAMAGES IS BASED IN CONTRACT, TORT, STRICT LIABILITY, OR OTHERWISE, MAY NOT EXCEED THE AGGREGATE OF
CUSTOMER’S OR ANY AUTHORIZED USER’S DIRECT DAMAGES UP TO THE FEES PAID BY CUSTOMER TO AMPLIFY FOR
THE AFFECTED PORTION OF THE PRODUCTS IN THE PRIOR 12-MONTH PERIOD. UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES WILL
AMPLIFY BE LIABLE FOR ANY CONSEQUENCES OF ANY UNAUTHORIZED USE OF THE PRODUCTS THAT VIOLATES THIS
AGREEMENT OR ANY APPLICABLE LAW OR REGULATION.
 
13.    Term/Termination. This Agreement will be in effect for the Term and may be renewed or extended by mutual agreement of the
parties. Without prejudice to any rights either party may have under this Agreement, in law, equity, or otherwise, a party will have the
right to terminate this Agreement if the other party (or in the case of Amplify, an Authorized School User) materially breaches any term,
provision, warranty, or representation under this Agreement and fails to correct the breach within 30 days of its receipt of written notice
thereof. Upon termination, Customer will: (a) cease using the Products, (b) return, purge, or destroy (as directed by Amplify) all copies
of any Products and, if so requested, certify to Amplify in writing that such surrender or destruction has occurred, (c) pay any fees due
and owing hereunder, and (d) not be entitled to a refund of any fees previously paid, unless otherwise specified in the Quote. Customer
will be responsible for the cost of any continued use of the Products following termination. Upon termination, Amplify will return or
destroy any Student Data provided to Amplify hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing will require Amplify to return or destroy
any data that does not include Student Data, including de-identified information or data that is derived from access to Student Data but
which does not contain Student Data. Sections 3–14 will survive the termination of this Agreement. 
 
14.    Miscellaneous. This Agreement, including all addenda, attachments, and the Quote, as applicable, constitutes the entire
agreement between the parties relating to the subject matter hereof. The provisions of this Agreement will supersede any conflicting
terms and conditions in any Customer purchase order, other correspondence or verbal communication, and will supersede and
cancel all prior agreements, written or oral, between the parties relating to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement may not be
modified except in writing signed by both parties. All defined terms in this Agreement will apply to their singular and plural forms, as
applicable. The word “including” means “including without limitation.” This Agreement will be governed by and construed and enforced
in accordance with the laws of the U.S., state of New York, without giving effect to the choice of law rules thereof. This Agreement will
be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors and assigns. The parties expressly understand
and agree that their relationship is that of independent contractors. Nothing in this Agreement will constitute one party as an employee,
agent, joint venture partner, or servant of another. Each party is solely responsible for all of its employees and agents and its labor
costs and expenses arising in connection herewith. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder may
be assigned or delegated by Customer or any Authorized School User without the prior written consent of Amplify. If one or more of the
provisions contained in this Agreement will for any reason be held to be unenforceable at law, such provisions will be construed by the

Page 6 of 7

http://amplify.com/customer-requirements


appropriate judicial body to limit or reduce such provision or provisions so as to be enforceable to the maximum extent compatible with
applicable law. Amplify will have no liability to Customer or to third parties for any failure or delay in performing any obligation under
this Agreement due to circumstances beyond its reasonable control, including acts of God or nature, fire, earthquake, flood, epidemic,
pandemic, strikes, labor stoppages or slowdowns, civil disturbances or terrorism, national or regional emergencies, supply shortages or
delays, action by any governmental authority, or interruptions in power, communications, satellites, the Internet, or any other network.
Each party represents and warrants that it has all necessary right, power, and authority to enter into this Agreement and to comply with
the obligations hereunder.
 
 
We are delighted to work with you and we thank you for your order!
 
 

Amplify Education, Inc. - Confidential Information

 
 
 
 

 

Page 7 of 7



ESTIMATE
MARTIN EARTHWORKS
PO Box 890
Loyalton, Ca 96118

tyler.martinconstruction@gmail.com
+1 (530) 565-6089

Bill to

Loyalton Elementary School

Estimate details

Estimate no.: 20
Estimate date: 04/07/2025

# Date Product or service Description Qty Rate Amount

1. Materials and Delivery 1 $10,000.00 $10,000.00

2. Backstop removal 1 $1,500.00 $1,500.00

3. Equipment fee 1 $1,500.00 $1,500.00

4. Machine Time and Labor 1 $8,500.00 $8,500.00

5. Off Haul 1 $2,000.00 $2,000.00

6. Trenching and Backfill 1 $3,000.00 $3,000.00

Note to customer
This estimate is for removal of the back stop at the future portable
buildings location, stripping topsoil, leveling, cutting subgrade,
compacting subgrade and placing 1 foot of compacted road base at
the location of the future portable buildings. Pads to be over built by
one foot in all directions. 1 pad 26’ by 42’ and another pad 50’ by
42’. Pads to match same elevation as existing portable pads. Digging
joint trench for power and propane to be installed at the new portable
buildings. Cutting, removing small section of sidewalk to trench
across and pouring back the small section. Sand for proper bedding
and shading of utilities and compacted backfill. Propane company
and electrician are to install the underground pipes. Off haul of all
material dugout. Any underground obstructions such as excessive
rocks or groundwater will be handled on a time and material basis.
Neither Tyler Martin nor MARTIN EARTHWORKS are responsible for
obtaining permits that may or may not be needed.

Total $26,500.00

Accepted date Accepted by

mailto:tyler.martinconstruction@gmail.com
tel:5305656089


PROPOSAL
DATE

5/5/2025

PROPOSAL #

53861

Requested By:

Sierra-Plumas Joint USD
P.O. Box 955
109 Beckwith Rd.
Loyalton, CA 96118

P.O. NO. TERMS

Net 30

REP

BC

Project

7 Classroom Ramps w/ Rails

Contact

Sean Snider

TOTAL

Subtotal

Sales Tax  (7.25%)

Corporate Office
2929 Kansas Ave.

Riverside, CA 92507

Toll Free:
888-867-2360

   Fax: 951-213-3997
www.tmpservices.com

TMP HAS RAMPED UP TO ROBOTICS!!

License No.: B697442  DIR No. 1000012387

Proposal based on interpretations of provided parameters. Customers to
verify dimensions, design, material choice and orientation prior to
commencement of order.

** PROPOSAL VALID FOR 30 DAYS **

DESCRIPTION QTY RATE Total

(1) 12' Ramps @4' Wide , (6) 14' Ramps @ 4' Wide - 
------ Revised 5/5/25
Galvanized Steel: Under 30" Design, 5'x7' Landing, 4'x12' Ramp with
Integrated Toe

1 4,648.00 4,648.00T

Galvanized Steel: Under 30" Design, 5'x7' Landing, 4'x14' Ramp with
Integrated Toe

6 5,196.00 31,176.00T

--- Optional Services ---
Delivery via Common Carrier - Flatbed Riverside CA  to Loyalton CA
(customer to provide forklift for offloading)

1 2,800.00 2,800.00

** Quotation is based on threshold heights, and ramp configuration as per
TMP Drawings, Customer request, specifications and square footage listed
above. Any variation in these items will result in a price change.
** Manufactured to meet  ADA , IBC, and CBC requirements.
** Price does NOT include: 
-INSTALLATION
-PRESSURE TREATED WOOD Sills (Wood sills are required for dirt, grass
or gravel) 
-SKIRTING
-FLASHING MATERIAL
-ANCHORING
-GROUNDING
- DEMO OF EXISTING STRUCTURES (If applicable)
- ADDITIONAL ENGINEERING 
** Transition from end of ramp to grade and 72" bottom landing by others.
** TMP is not responsible for cutting doors or providing transition thresholds
from finished floor or building to landing surface.
** If stairs are required, CUSTOMER is responsible to bring grade to first

0.00 0.00T

Page 1



PROPOSAL
DATE

5/5/2025

PROPOSAL #

53861

Requested By:

Sierra-Plumas Joint USD
P.O. Box 955
109 Beckwith Rd.
Loyalton, CA 96118

P.O. NO. TERMS

Net 30

REP

BC

Project

7 Classroom Ramps w/ Rails

Contact

Sean Snider

TOTAL

Subtotal

Sales Tax  (7.25%)

Corporate Office
2929 Kansas Ave.

Riverside, CA 92507

Toll Free:
888-867-2360

   Fax: 951-213-3997
www.tmpservices.com

TMP HAS RAMPED UP TO ROBOTICS!!

License No.: B697442  DIR No. 1000012387

Proposal based on interpretations of provided parameters. Customers to
verify dimensions, design, material choice and orientation prior to
commencement of order.

** PROPOSAL VALID FOR 30 DAYS **

DESCRIPTION QTY RATE Total

riser of step into compliance. Standard Steps are built in 7" increments, ANY
other requested sizes have to be made offline, considered custom, and require
additional cost & lead time.
** Bonding and Waiver of Subrogation NOT included.
** Any required permits, city licensing or inspections are at project owner’s
expense.
** Any in-house inspections will require a minimum 4-6 week manufacturing
lead time, lead time varies per project and per inspector requirements.
** Any modification to TMP product voids warranty. 
** By signing and returning proposal, customer agrees to all material costs
listed above. Prepaid Order materials must be Paid in Full prior to
manufacturing.

Page 2

$41,221.24

$38,624.00

$2,597.24



3'-6"

Sierra Plumas Joint USD
       Proposal 53861

3'-6"
Rm 3 Rm 4 Rm 6

Rm 9Rm 7

Rm 11

Rm 10
3'-6"

5'-
0"

7'-0"

Galvanized Steel : Under 30" Design

3'-6" 3'-6"

Revised 5/5/2025 Per Sean Snider

7'-0"

5'-
0"

7'-0"

5'-
0"

4'-
0"

7'-0"

5'-
0"

14'-0"

4'-
0"

7'-0"

5'-
0"

14'-0"

4'-
0"

4'-
0"

14'-0"

5'-
0"

7'-0"14'-0"

4'-
0"

3'-6"

5'-
0"

7'-0"12'-0"

4'-
0"

3'-6"

5'-
0"

7'-0"

4'-
0"

3'-6"

5'-
0"

7'-0"14'-0"14'-0"

NOTE:
DRAWING NOT TO SCALE , MEASUREMENTS SHOWN ABOVE ARE FEET NOT INCHES.
WOOD PADS REQUIRED FOR DIRT, GRASS OR GRAVEL PRICE MAY VARY BASED ON SITE CONDITIONS, SLOPE OR THRESHOLD.

2 OF 3

X
TMP SERVICES, INC. IS TO PROCEED WITH MANUFACTURING BASED ON THE ABOVE DRAWING REQUESTED MANUFACTURING DATE

PROPRIETARY DESIGN: THIS DRAWING AND THE MATERIAL CONTAINED THEREIN ARE THE PROPERTY OF TMP SERVICES, INC. AND SHALL NOT BE REPRODUCED, COPIED OR OTHERWISE DISPOSED OF DIRECTLY
OR INDIRECTLY AND SHALL NOT BE USED AS A WHOLE OR IN PART TO ASSIST IN THE MAKING OF OR THE PURPOSE OF FURNISHING ANY INFORMATION FOR THE MAKING OF DRAWINGS, PRINTS, APPARATUS OR
PARTS THEREOF WITHOUT THE FULL KNOWLEDGE AND CONSENT OF TMP SERVICES, INC. . ALL PATENTABLE MATERIAL CONTAINED HEREIN AND ORIGINATED WITH TMP SERVICES, INC. SHALL BE THE
PROPERTY OF TMP SERVICES, INC.

PAGE NUMBER



Page 1 of 2 

CSBA POLICY GUIDE SHEET – April 08, 2025__First Reading 

 
Board Policy 5125 - Student Records 

Policy updated to include in the first philosophical paragraph disclosure of records in the list of 
administrative regulations the Superintendent or designee is required to establish. Additionally, policy 
updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 801, 2024) which requires districts to provide documentation that a 
student has not been enrolled in the district for at least 60 days to the operator of a website, online service 
or application, or mobile application that has control of student records which contain covered 
information that is not subject to the California Consumer Privacy Act, if the student's parent/guardian or 
the student, if 18 years of age or older, requests deletion of such records. In addition, policy updated to 
reflect REVISED GUIDANCE from the California Attorney General related to responding to 
immigration enforcement in K-12 schools. Policy also updated to broaden the applicability of the 
prohibition against disclosure by deleting reference to "Superintendent or designee" and replacing with 
"district or district employee", and add the requirement that the Superintendent or designee develop 
protocols to comply with a court's restraining order that prohibits a party from accessing specified 
records and information pertaining to a student. Additionally, policy updated to add requirements related 
to the retention, disclosure, and security of student records, including that the Superintendent or 
designee (1) ensure the confidentiality of student records as required by law and establish processes and 
procedures to safeguard data against damage, loss, or theft, including damage, loss, or theft, which may 
be caused by the use of technology, including artificial intelligence, in the retention or disclosure of 
student records and breaches to the district's digital infrastructure, (2) ensure that employees receive 
information and training about cybersecurity, including ways to protect student records from breaches to 
the district's digital infrastructure, and (3) report a cyberattack to the California Cybersecurity Integration 
Center if the district experiences a cyberattack that impacts more than 500 students or personnel. 
 

Board Policy 5131 - Conduct 
Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 3216, 2024) which requires the Governing Board to, by July 
1, 2026, develop, adopt, and update every five years a policy to limit or prohibit student use of 
smartphones while at a school site or under the supervision and control of district employee(s). 
Additionally, policy updated to expand the list of prohibited student conduct to include conduct that is 
prohibited by law related to suspension and expulsion. 

 
Board Policy 5131.6 - Alcohol and Other Drugs 

Policy updated to add language which requires districts to annually inform parents/guardians at the 
beginning of the first semester or quarter of the regular school year about the dangers associated with the 
use of synthetic drugs that are not prescribed by a physician, such as fentanyl, and to reflect NEW LAW 
(AB 2690, 2024) which requires districts to notify parents/guardians about the risk of social media being 
used as a way to market and sell synthetic drugs. Additionally, policy updated to reflect NEW LAW 
(AB 2711, 2024) which prohibits the suspension of students who voluntarily disclose their use of a 
tobacco product, controlled substance, alcohol, or an intoxicant of any kind in order to seek help through 
services or supports solely for that disclosure, NEW LAW (SB 997, 2024) which prohibits districts that 
serve students in middle school, junior high school, high school, or adult school from prohibiting a 
student in middle school, junior high school, or high school, while on a school site or participating in 
school activities, from carrying fentanyl test strips while on a school site or participating in school 
activities, to carry fentanyl test strips or a federally approved opioid antagonist for the emergency 
treatment of persons suffering, or reasonably believed to be suffering, from an opioid overdose, and 
NEW LAW (AB 2998, 2024), which provides that districts may not prohibit students 12 years of age or 
older, while on a school site or participating in school activities, from carrying or administering, for the 
purposes of providing emergency treatment to persons who are suffering, or reasonably believed to be 
suffering, from an opioid overdose, a naloxone hydrochloride nasal spray or any other opioid overdose 
reversal medication. In addition, policy updated to add language which authorizes a district to use 
alternatives to the referral of a student to a law enforcement agency in response to an incident involving 
the student's misuse of an opioid, to the extent any alternative utilized is not in conflict with any law 
requiring that referral. 

 

Note: Descriptions below identify revisions made to CSBA's sample board policies, administrative regulations, 
board bylaws, and/or exhibits. Editorial changes have also been made. Districts and county offices of education 
should review the sample materials and modify their own policies accordingly. 



Page 2 of 2 

Board Policy 5131.8 - Mobile Communication Devices 
Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 3216, 2024) which requires the Governing Board to, by July 
1, 2026, develop, adopt, and update every five years a policy to limit or prohibit student use of 
smartphones while at a school site or under the supervision and control of district employee(s). 
Additionally, policy updated to add options which offer different approaches to regulating the use of 
smartphones and other mobile communication devices. In addition, policy updated to clarify language 
related to the search of a student's personal electronic device. 

 
Board Policy 5141.5 - Mental Health 

Policy updated to include substance abuse in instruction provided to students, and to include students as 
recipients of information and training that the Superintendent or designee is required to provide. 
Additionally, policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 153, 2024) which (1) requires the district to, by 
July 1, 2029, certify to the California Department of Education that all certificated employees and 40 
percent of classified employes who have direct contact with students in grades 7-12 receive youth 
behavioral training at least one time, and (2) requires the Governing Board of any district serving 
students in grades 7-12 to, before January 31, 2026, adopt a policy at a regularly scheduled meeting, on 
referral protocols for addressing student behavioral health concerns. In addition, policy updated to 
reflect that the Superintendent or designee is required to provide and require at least one hour of training 
to support lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, and questioning cultural competency annually to all 
certificated employees serving students in grades 7 to 12, and that the district is required to maintain 
records documenting the date that each employee completed such training and the name of the entity that 
provided the training. Policy also updated to expand material related to telehealth or other information 
and communication technologies for mental and behavioral health services for students. 

 
Board Policy 5141.52 - Suicide Prevention 

Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 1318, 2024) which, if the district does not have a school 
mental health professional or contract with a mental health professional, encourages the Governing Board 
to consider when reviewing its policy on suicide prevention whether funding should be identified for 
purposes of hiring a school mental health professional. Additionally, policy updated to require that 
measures and strategies for suicide prevention, intervention, and postvention include student instruction 
on help-seeking strategies and resources, and expand tasks of district and/or school-site crisis 
intervention team(s) to include posting of suicide prevention policy, protocols, and resources on district 
and school websites. In addition, policy updated to include material related to addressing mental health 
disabilities, as well as language regarding the establishment of a process to maintain regular contact with 
students, including during distance learning or school closures, and to communicate emotional wellbeing 
and or safety concerns. Policy also updated to include that mental health and behavioral health services 
be provided for in accordance with Board Policy 5141.5 - Mental Health, which includes the provision 
of services by way of telehealth technology. 
 

Board Policy 5145.13 - Response to Immigration Enforcement 
Policy updated to reflect REVISED GUIDANCE from the California Attorney General related to 
responding to immigration enforcement in K-12 schools, including the prohibition against seeking or 
requiring information or documents, to the exclusion of other permissible information or documents, 
regarding the citizenship or immigration status of a student or the student's family members. 
Additionally, policy updated to incorporate language from the accompanying administrative regulation 
related to the prohibition against using resources and data collected by the district to compile a list, 
registry, or database of individuals based on national origin, immigration status, religion, or other 
category of individual characteristics protected against unlawful discrimination. 



Page 1 of 4 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District & Sierra County Office of Education 

Students 
Policy 5125: Student Records 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following mandated policy and accompanying administrative regulation address 
student records, which are governed by both federal and state law, including the Family Educational 
Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) (20 USC 1232g, 34 CFR 99.1-99.8), the Protection of Pupil Rights 
Amendment (PPRA) (20 USC 1232h), the Children's Online Privacy Protection Act (COPPA) (15 USC 
6501-6506, 16 CFR 312), Education Code 49069.7 and 49073.1, K-12 Pupil Online Personal 
Information Protection Act (Business and Professions Code 22584), Early Learning Personal 
Information Protection Act (Business and Professions Code 22586), and 5 CCR 430-438. For 
information regarding public access to certain records in accordance with the California Public Records 
Act (CPRA) (Government Code 7920.000 - 7930.215), see BP/AR 1340 - Access to District Records 
and BB 9012 - Board Member Electronic Communications. For information regarding retention of 
records, see BP/AR 3580 - District Records and AR 4112.6/4212.6/4312.6 - Personnel Files. 
 
Pursuant to 5 CCR 431, districts are mandated to establish policies and procedures to implement 
state law and regulations regarding student records, including policies and procedures which (1) 
enumerate and describe the student records collected and maintained by the district, (2) ensure security 
of the records, and (3) guarantee access to authorized persons within five days of a request. Education 
Code 49069.7 mandates procedures related to parental review of student records. See the 
accompanying administrative regulation for additional language implementing these mandates. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 234.7, districts were mandated to adopt policies with language that is 
equivalent to the model policy language developed by the California Attorney General in, "Promoting a 
Safe and Secure Learning Environment for All: Guidance and Model Policies to Assist California's K-
12 Schools in Responding to Immigration Issues," first published in April 2018 ("2018 Guidance"), 
by June 1, 2018. The Attorney General updated the 2018 Guidance in December 2024 ("2024 
Guidance") and has stated that districts "should" adopt or update their policies based on the 2024 
Guidance by May 1, 2025. The 2024 Guidance is available on the Office of the Attorney General's 
website and includes model policy language regarding student records. 

 
The Board of EducationThe Governing Board recognizes the importance of keeping accurate, 
comprehensive student records as required by law. The Superintendent or designee shall establish 
administrative regulations governing the identification, collection, retention, disclosure, and security of 
student records. These regulations shall ensure the rights of authorized persons to have timely access to 
student records while maintaining the confidentiality of student records consistentin accordance with 
state and federal law.  
 
The Superintendent or designee shall designate a certificated employee to serve as custodian of records 
with responsibility for student records at the district level. At each school, the principal or a certificated 
employee shall be designated as custodian of records for students enrolled at that school. The custodian of 
records shall be responsible for implementing Board policy and administrative regulation regarding 
student records. (5 CCR 431) 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 2 of 4 

CSBA NOTE: The privacy of online information of students in prekindergarten (preK) through grade 12 
is addressed in Privacy Rights for California Minors in the Digital World (Business and Professions 
Code 22580-22582), the K-12 Pupil Online Personal Information and Protection Act (Business and 
Professions Code 22584-22585), and the Early Learning Personal Information Protection Act (Business 
and Professions Code 22586-22587), which prohibit an operator of a website, online service or 
application, or mobile application from knowingly using, disclosing, or compiling the personal 
information of a minor for the purpose of marketing or advertising specified types of products or 
services; allowing a third party to use, disclose, or compile such information; or selling or disclosing 
specified student information or knowingly using such student information to engage in targeted 
advertising to students or parents/guardians or to amass a profile about a preK-12 student. Covered 
student information includes any personally identifiable information or materials created or provided by 
a student, parent/guardian, or district employee (e.g., name, contact information, educational record, 
discipline records, test results, health records, and socioeconomic information). Pursuant to Business and 
Professions Code 22584 and 22586, an operator is required to delete data under the control of the school 
or district upon the request of the school or district. However, Business and Professions Code 22584, as 
amended by AB 801 (Ch. 935, Statutes of 2024), does not require the deletion of student records held by 
a national assessment provider when the records only include standardized test results. 
 
Additionally, pursuant to Business and Professions Code 22584 and 22586, as amended by AB 801, an 
operator is required to delete a student's covered information that is not subject to the California 
Consumer Privacy Act which is under the operator's control, as specified below. Business and 
Professions Code 22584 and 22586, as amended by AB 801, do not require the deletion of mandatory 
permanent student records or any official records or files directly related to a student and maintained by 
the operator, school, or district. 

 
If student records containing covered information which is not subject to the California Consumer 
Privacy Act are under the control of the operator of a website, online service or application, or mobile 
application, and the student's parent/guardian or the student, if 18 years of age or older, requests deletion 
of such records, the Superintendent or designee shall provide documentation to the operator that the 
student has not been enrolled in the district for at least 60 days. (Business and Professions Code 
22584) 
 
All appropriate personnel shall receive training regarding district policies and procedures for gathering 
and handling sensitive student information., including which information should not be solicited. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 49076.7, a district is prohibited from soliciting or 
collecting social security numbers or the last four digits of social security numbers of students or 
their parents/guardians, unless otherwise required to do so by state or federal law. One such 
exception is the collection of the last four digits of the social security number for the purpose of 
establishing eligibility for a federal benefit program. 

 
The district shall not collect or solicit social security numbers or the last four digits of social security 
numbers of students or their parents/guardians, unless otherwise required to do so by state or federal law. 
(Education Code 49076.7) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 234.7 prohibits the collection of information or documents regarding the 
citizenship or immigration status of students or their family members, as provided below. If the 
district becomes aware of the citizenship or immigration status of any student, it is prohibited from 
disclosing that information, as such disclosure is not among the limited exceptions specified in law 
for which student records may be released without parental consent or a lawful judicial order. 
 
The following two paragraphs are equivalent to model policy language from the 2024 Guidance. 



Page 3 of 4 

 
No information or documents regarding the citizenship or immigration status of students or their 
family members shall be collected, except as required by state or federal law or as required to 
administer a state or federally supported educational program. TheIn accordance with Board Policy 
5145.13 - Response to Immigrant Enforcement, the Superintendent or designee shall not disclose student 
records to a person, agency, or organization for immigration enforcement purposes without parental 
consent, a court order, or a judicial subpoena/warrant. If a district employee receives such a request, 
he/shethe employee shall immediately report the requestrespond in accordance with Board Policy 5145.13 
- Response to the SuperintendentImmigrant Enforcement. The Superintendent shall report the request 
to the Board in a timely manner that ensures the confidentiality and privacy of any potentially 
identifying information. (Education Code 234.7) 
 
The Superintendentdistrict or designeeany district employee shall not compile a list, registry, or database 
based on students' national origin, ethnicity, or religious belief, practice, or affiliation, nor shall he/sheor 
disclose student information to federal government authorities for the purpose of compiling such a list, 
registry, or database for purposes of immigration enforcement. SuchThis prohibition does not apply to 
information may only be compiled or exchanged with other local, state, or federal agencies if the 
information that is aggregated and is not personally identifiable. (Government Code 8310.3) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Family Code 6323.5, districts are required to develop protocols to 
comply with a court's restraining order that prohibits a party from accessing records and information 
pertaining to the education, daycare, health care, recreational activities, or employment of a minor 
child of the parties, which may include prohibiting access to a parent/guardian who would otherwise 
be entitled to the records. The protocols must, at a minimum, (1) designate an appropriate employee(s) 
who is responsible for receiving protective order(s), (2) establish a means of ensuring that the 
restrained party is not able to access the prohibited records or information, and (3) implement a 
procedure for submitting a copy of the restraining order including confirmation of when and to 
whom it was submitted. It is recommended that districts with questions about complying with these 
procedures consult CSBA's District and County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal 
counsel. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall develop protocols to comply with a court's restraining order that 
prohibits a party from accessing specified records and information pertaining to a student. (Family 
Code 6323.5) 
 
Student Records from Social Media 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. Pursuant 
to Education Code 49073.6, any district considering a program to gather information from students' 
social media activity, as defined, must first notify students and parents/guardians and provide an 
opportunity for public comment. The notification may be provided as part of the annual parental 
notification required pursuant to Education Code 48980. If such a program is then adopted, the district 
must comply with program requirements reflected in the section "Student Records from Social Media" 
in the accompanying administrative regulation. 
 
It is recommended that the district consult CSBA's District and County Office of Education Legal 
Services or district legal counsel before gathering any other online information that does not meet the 
definition of social media in Education Code 49073.6. 

 
The Superintendent or designee may gather and maintain information from the social media of any 
district student, provided that the district first notifies students and parents/guardians about the 
proposed program, offers an opportunity for public comment at a regularly scheduled Board meeting, 



Page 4 of 4 

and gathers only information that directly pertains to school safety or student safety. (Education Code 
49073.6) 
 
Contract for Digital Storage, ManagementRetention, Disclosure, and RetrievalSecurity of Student 
Records 
 

CSBA NOTE: The use of artificial intelligence (AI) may pose risks to keeping student records private 
and secure. CSBA's, "Understanding Artificial Intelligence in K-12 Education: What Governance 
Teams Should Know," cautions districts to consider whether information about students shared with or 
stored in an AI-enabled system is subject to federal or state privacy laws and whether interactions 
between students and AI systems may create records that are required to be protected by law, such 
as when a chatbot or automated tutor generates written guidance to a student. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure the confidentiality of student records as required by law 
and shall establish processes and procedures to safeguard data against damage, loss, or theft, including 
damage, loss, or theft, which may be caused by the use of technology, including artificial intelligence 
and breaches to the district's digital infrastructure, in the retention or disclosure of student records. 
Additionally, in accordance with Board Policy 5145.13 - Response to Immigration Enforcement, all 
district staff shall avoid the disclosure of information that may indicate a student's or family's 
citizenship or immigration status if the disclosure is not authorized by law. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that employees receive information and training about 
cybersecurity, including ways to protect student records from breaches to the district's digital 
infrastructure. 
 
If the district experiences a cyberattack that impacts more than 500 students or personnel, the 
Superintendent or designee shall report the cyberattack to the California Cybersecurity Integration 
Center. (Education Code 35266) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 49073.1 authorizes districts to enter into a contract with a third party for 
the digital storage, management, and retrieval of student records and/or for software designed for this 
purpose. A district that chooses to enter into such a contract is mandated to adopt policy allowing such 
contracts and must ensure that the contract includes all the provisions specified in Education Code 
49073.1. Also see BP 3312 - Contracts. 

 
The Superintendent or designee may enter into a contract with a third party for the digital storage, 
management, and retrieval of student records and/or to authorize a third party provider of 
digital software to access, store, and use student records, provided that the contract meets the 
requirements of Education Code 49073.1 and other applicable state and federal laws. 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: March 10, 2015 
revised: August 14, 2018 
revised: ??, 2025 



Page 1 of 3 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District & Sierra County Office of Education 

Students 
Policy 5131: Conduct 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional policy may be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
The Board of EducationThe Governing Board believes that all students have the right to be 
educated in a safe and positive learning environment free from disruptions.  Students shall be 
expected to exhibit appropriate conduct that does not infringe upon the rights of others or interfere 
with the school program while on school grounds, going to or coming from school, at school 
activities, or using district transportation.  
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that each school develops standards of conduct and 
discipline consistent with Board policies and administrative regulations. Students and 
parents/guardians shall be notified of district and school rules related to conduct. 
 

CSBA NOTE: The district may modify, delete, or add to the items below to reflect district 
practice. Also see AR 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process for conduct that constitutes 
grounds for suspension or expulsion.  

 
Prohibited student conduct includes, but is not limited to: 
 

1. Conduct that endangers students, staff, or others, including, but not limited to, physical 
violence, possession of a firearm or other weapon, and terrorist threats 
 

2. Discrimination, harassment, intimidation, or bullying of students or staff, including sexual 
harassment, hate- motivated behavior, cyberbullying, hazing or initiation activity, 
extortion, or any other verbal, written, or physical conduct that causes or threatens to cause 
violence, bodily harm, or substantial disruption to the school program 
 

3. Conduct that disrupts the orderly classroom or school environment 
 

4. Willful defiance of staff's authority 
 

5. Damage to or theft of property belonging to students, staff, or the district 
 

6. Obscene acts or use of profane, vulgar, or abusive language 
 

7. Possession, use, or being under the influence of tobacco, alcohol, or other prohibited 
substances 

 
CSBA NOTE: Penal Code 417.27 prohibits students from possessing laser pointers on school 
premises, unless the pointer is used for a valid instructional or other school-related purpose, as 
provided in Item #8 below. Penal Code 417.25 states that aiming or pointing a laser scope 
(i.e., a portable device capable of projecting a laser light on objects at a distance) at another 
person in a threatening manner, regardless of whether the laser scope is attached to a firearm, 
may be a misdemeanor if intended to cause a person fear of bodily harm. 

8. Possession or use of a laser pointer, unless for a valid instructional or other school-related 
purpose with prior permission of the principal or designee  (Penal Code 417.27) 



Page 2 of 3 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48901.5, the district may regulate the use of 
electronic signaling devices that operate through the transmission or receipt of radio waves, 
such as paging and signaling equipment. However, student use of such devices may not be 
prohibited if essential for a student's health. 
 
Additionally, pursuant to Education Code 48901.7, as amended by AB 3216 (Ch. 500, 
Statutes of 2024), the Governing Board is required, by July 1, 2026, to develop in conjunction 
with students, parents/guardians, and district employees, adopt, and update every five years, 
a policy to limit or prohibit student use of smartphones while at a school site or under the 
supervision and control of district employee(s). For more information regarding the 
limitation or prohibition of student use of smartphones and other mobile communication 
devices, see BP 5131.8 - Mobile Communication Devices. 

9. Use of a cell phone, smart watch, pager,smartphone or other mobile communication device 
during instructional time or in an unauthorized manner in violation of district policy 
 

10. Plagiarism or dishonesty on school work or tests 
 

11. Wearing of any attire that violates district or school dress codes, including gang-related 
apparel 
 

12. Tardiness or unexcused absence from school 
 

13. Failure to remain on school premises in accordance with school rules 
 

14. Other conduct prohibited by Education Code 48900-48915-48915 
 
Employees are expected to enforce standards of conduct and, when they observe or receive a report 
of a violation of these standards, to appropriately intervene, or seek assistance. As necessary, the 
employee shall refer the matter to a supervisor or the principal or designee. 
 

CSBA NOTE: When school officials want to search a student or a student's belongings, such as a 
backpack, purse, or computer, as part of an investigation of suspected student misconduct, the 
legality of the search will depend on whether the search is "reasonable." For more information 
regarding the search of a student or a student's belongings, see BP/AR 5145.12 - Search and 
Seizure. The "reasonableness" of a search depends on (1) whether there is individualized suspicion 
that the search will turn up evidence of a student's violation of the law or school rules, and (2) 
whether the search is reasonably related to the objectives of the search and not excessively 
intrusive in light of the student's age, gender, and/or the nature of the infraction. Additionally, 
Penal Code 1546.1 prohibits warrantless searches of students' personal electronic devices such as 
mobile phones, except in narrowly defined circumstances. It is recommended that the district 
consult CSBA's District and County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel 
for questions related to the search of a student or the student's belongings. 

 
When a school employee suspects that a search of a student or a student's belongings will turn up 
evidence of the student's violation of the law or school rules, such a search shall be conducted in 
accordance with BP/ARBoard Policy and Administrative Regulation 5145.12 - Search and Seizure. 
 
When a student uses any prohibited device, or uses a permitted device in an unauthorized manner, 
a district employee may confiscate the device.  The employee shall store the device securely until it 
is returned to the student or turned over to the principal or designee, as appropriate. 



Page 3 of 3 

 

 
Students who violate district or school rules and regulations may be subject to discipline including, but 
not limited to, suspension, expulsion, transfer to alternative programs, referral to a student success 
team or counseling services, or denial of participation in extracurricular or cocurricular activities or 
other privileges in accordance with Board policy and administrative regulation.  The 
Superintendent or designee shall notify local law enforcement as appropriate. 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph addresses students' off-campus conduct during 
nonschool hours. In general, courts have upheld districts' discipline of students for off-campus 
conduct that posed a threat to the safety of other students, staff, or school property or presented a 
risk of substantial disruption of school activities, provided that the district was able to document 
the impact or disruption that the conduct had, or could be expected to have, on school activities. 
In addition, courts have analyzed the reasonableness of the district's policy and whether the 
disciplinary action taken by the district was in proportion to the student's misbehavior. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 48900, districts have the authority to suspend or expel students 
who engage in cyberbullying off campus, provided that the act meets the criteria specified in 
the definition of "bullying" in Education Code 48900 (i.e., a severe or pervasive physical or 
verbal act or conduct that has or can be reasonably predicted to have the effect of placing a 
reasonable student in fear of harm to the student's person or property, causing a substantially 
detrimental effect on the student's physical or mental health, causing substantial interference with 
the student's academic performance, or causing substantial interference with the student's 
ability to participate in or benefit from school services, activities, or privileges); see BP 5131.2 
- Bullying. 
 
In adopting policy related to off-campus conduct, it is recommended that districts consult 
CSBA's District and County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel to 
ensure that the policy does not violate students' First Amendment rights to freedom of speech or 
expression. For more information regarding freedom of speech or expression, see BP 5145.2 - 
Freedom of Speech/Expression. 

 
Students also may be subject to discipline, in accordance with law, Board policy, or administrative 
regulation, for any off-campus conduct during nonschool hours which poses a threat or danger to the 
safety of students, staff, or district property, or substantially disrupts school activities. 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: June 12, 2012 
revised: November 12, 2019 
revised: ??, 2025 





Page 1 of 4 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District & Sierra County Office of Education 

Students 
Policy 5131.6: Alcohol And Other Drugs 

 

 
The Governing Board of Education believes that the use of alcohol or other drugs adversely affects a 
student's ability to achieve academic success, is physically and emotionally harmful, and has serious 
social and legal consequences. The Superintendent or designee shall develop comprehensive programs 
and activities to foster safe, healthy, and drug- free environments that support academic achievement.  
 

CSBA NOTE: The Student Support and Academic Enrichment Grants program (20 USC 7101-7122) 
may be used for several specified purposes, including activities to improve school conditions for 
student learning. For participating districts, 20 USC 7118 requires parent/guardian involvement in 
program activities and encourages partnerships with an institution of higher education, business, 
nonprofit organization, community-based organization, or other public or private entity. 20 USC 
7116 requires specified groups to be consulted in the development of the grant application, including 
parents/guardians, teachers, principals, other school leaders, specialized instructional support personnel, 
students, community-based organizations, local government representatives (e.g., law enforcement, 
juvenile court, child welfare agency, public housing agency), Indian tribes or tribal organizations, 
charter school leaders and staff, and others with relevant and demonstrated expertise in alcohol and 
drug prevention and intervention. 
 
Additionally, Education Code 51268 encourages districts to collaborate with county offices of 
education in the provision of education programs for alcohol and drug prevention and to coordinate 
program planning and implementation with health, social services, criminal justice, and other 
entities. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 49428.16, county offices of education are encouraged to establish a 
County Working Group on Fentanyl Education in Schools for the purposes of outreach, building 
awareness, and collaborating with local health agencies regarding fentanyl overdoses. Additionally, the 
California Department of Education is required to curate, and maintain on its website, informational 
materials containing awareness and safety advice, for staff, students, and parents/guardians, on how 
to prevent an opioid overdose, including any relevant information developed by a county working 
group and resource information on the provision of emergency naloxone hydrocholoride or other 
opioid antagonist. 
 
The following paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
The district's alcohol and drug prevention and intervention programs shall be coordinated with other 
school and community-based services and programs and shall promote the involvement of 
parents/guardians. The Superintendent or designee may collaborate with the county office of education, 
community-based organizations, health providers, law enforcement agencies, local child welfare 
agencies, postsecondary institutions, businesses, and other public and private entities in program 
planning, implementation, and evaluation. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Items #1-4 below reflect some of the types of programs that may be funded through the 
Student Support and Academic Enrichment Grants and may be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
Prevention and intervention programs and activities may include, but are not limited to: (20 USC 7118) 
 

1. Evidence-based drug and violence prevention activities and programs that educate students 
against the use of alcohol, tobacco, cannabis, smokeless tobacco products, and electronic 
cigarettes 



Page 2 of 4 

 

 
2. Professional development and training for school staff, specialized instructional support 

personnel, and interested community members on drug prevention, education, early identification, 
intervention mentoring, recovery support services, and, where appropriate, rehabilitation 
referral 
 

3. School-based mental health services, including early identification of drug use and referrals to 
counseling services, and/or partnerships with public or private health care entities that have 
qualified mental and behavioral health professionals 
 

4. Programs and activities that provide mentoring and school counseling to all students, including 
students who are at risk of drug use and abuse 

 
Instruction and Notification 
 
The district shall provide science-based preventative instruction, consistent with law, the 
accompanying administrative regulation, and Board Policy 5141.52 - Suicide Prevention, which has been 
proven effective in helping students avoid the use of alcohol and other drugs. 
 
All instruction and related materials shall consistently state that unlawful use of alcohol or other drugs 
is prohibited. Instruction shall not include any message on responsible use of drugs or alcohol when such 
use is illegal. (Health and Safety Code 11999.2) 
 
The district shall offer staff development activities for staff who implement the comprehensive drug 
and alcohol prevention and intervention program. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48985.5 requires districts, at the beginning of the first semester or 
quarter of the regular school year, to annually inform parents/guardians about the dangers associated 
with the use of synthetic drugs that are not prescribed by a physician, such as fentanyl, and, as amended 
by AB 2690 (Ch. 241, Statutes of 2024), about the risk of social media being used as a way to market 
and sell synthetic drugs. This notification may be provided as part of the parent/guardian notification 
pursuant to Education Code 48980. Additionally, pursuant to Education Code 48985.5, each district 
and school that maintains a website is required to post such information on its website. 

 
The district shall annually inform parents/guardians at the beginning of the first semester or quarter of 
the regular school year about the dangers associated with the use of synthetic drugs that are not 
prescribed by a physician, such as fentanyl, the possibility that dangerous drugs can be found in 
counterfeit pills, and the risks of social media being used as a way to market and sell synthetic drugs. 
Additionally, the district, and each school that maintains its own website, shall post such information 
on its website. (Education Code 48985.5) 
 
Intervention, Referral, and Student Assistance Programs 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 20 USC 7118, programs which may be funded under the Student Support 
and Academic Enrichment Grants include programs of counseling, mentoring, referral services, and 
other student assistance programs. The following section may be revised to reflect district practice. 
Additionally, Education Code 215 mandates that any district serving students in grades 7-12 adopt a 
suicide prevention policy which contains measures and strategies for addressing the needs of high-risk 
groups, including, but not limited to, students with substance use disorders. See BP/AR 5141.52 - 
Suicide Prevention. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall inform school staff, students, and parents/guardians about early 
warning signs, which may indicate alcohol and other drug use, and about appropriate agencies offering 
intervention programs, counseling, referral, and other student assistance programs. 



Page 3 of 4 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48900, as amended by AB 2711 (Ch. 840, Statutes of 2024), 
students who voluntarily disclose their use of a tobacco product, controlled substance, alcohol, or an 
intoxicant of any kind in order to seek help through services or supports may not be suspended solely 
for that disclosure. 

 
The Board strongly encourages any student who is using alcohol or drugs to discuss the matter with 
his/herthe student's parent/guardian or with any staff member. Students who disclose their use of 
alcohol or other drugs when seeking help from an intervention or recovery program shall not be 
disciplined for such use., including that, in accordance with Education Code 48900, students who 
voluntarily disclose their use of a tobacco product, controlled substance, alcohol, or an intoxicant of any 
kind in order to seek help through services or supports shall not be suspended. 
 
Opioid Antagonists 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is for districts that serve students in middle school, junior high 
school, high school, or adult school and should be modified to reflect the students served by the district. 
Pursuant to Education Code 49414.6, as added by SB 997 (Ch. 872, Statutes of 2024), a district may 
not prohibit a student in middle school, junior high school, or high school, while on a school site or 
participating in school activities, from carrying fentanyl test strips or a federally approved opioid 
antagonist for the emergency treatment of persons suffering, or reasonably believed to be suffering, 
from an opioid overdose. 

 
Students in middle school, junior high school, high school, or adult school, may carry fentanyl test strips or 
a federally approved opioid antagonist for the emergency treatment of persons suffering, or reasonably 
believed to be suffering, from an opioid overdose, while on a school site or participating in a school 
activity. (Education Code 49414.6) 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is for districts that serve students 12 years of age or older 
and may be deleted by districts that do not serve such students. Pursuant to Education Code 
49414.35, as added by AB 2998 (Ch. 974, Statutes of 2024), districts may not prohibit students 12 
years of age or older, while on a school site or participating in school activities, from carrying or 
administering, for the purposes of providing emergency treatment to persons who are suffering, or 
reasonably believed to be suffering, from an opioid overdose, a naloxone hydrochloride nasal spray 
or any other opioid overdose reversal medication. Students who administer such an opioid antagonist 
may not be held liable in a civil action or be subject to criminal prosecution due their acts or 
omissions, and the district and employees of the district may not be subject to professional review, 
liable in a civil action, or subject to criminal prosecution for a student's acts in administering an opioid 
antagonist, unless an act or omission of the students, employee, or district constitutes gross 
negligence or willful or wanton misconduct. 

 
Additionally, students 12 years of age or older, while on a school site or participating in school activities, 
may carry and administer a naloxone hydrochloride nasal spray or any other opioid overdose reversal 
medication that is federally approved for over-the counter nonprescription use for the purpose of 
providing emergency treatment to persons who are suffering, or reasonably believed to be suffering, 
from an opioid overdose. (Education Code 49414.35) 
 
Enforcement/ and Discipline 
 
Students 
 
Unless otherwise authorized by law, students shall not possess, use, or sell alcohol or other drugs and 
related paraphernalia on school grounds or at school-sponsored activities. 
 



Page 4 of 4 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall clearly communicate to all students, staff, and parents/guardians the 
district's policies, regulations, and school rules related to the use of alcohol and other drugs. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48900, a student's unlawful possession, use, sale, or 
furnishing of alcohol or a controlled substance is a ground for suspension or expulsion; see AR 5144.1 - 
Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process. Education Code 48915 requires immediate suspension and 
mandates expulsion for any student who sells a controlled substance at school or while under school 
jurisdiction. In addition, Education Code 48902 requires districts to notify law enforcement of any 
acts which may involve the possession or sale of narcotics or a controlled substance. However, when 
suspension and expulsion are not mandated, districts should consider whether it is appropriate to use an 
alternative discipline that maintains safety and order on campus and corrects student misbehavior 
without unnecessarily excluding students from school or discouraging them from seeking assistance for 
substance abuse. 

 
Any student found by the Board to be selling a controlled substance listed in Health and Safety Code 
11053-11058 shall be expelledrecommended for expulsion in accordance with BP/ARBoard 
Policy/Administrative Regulation 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process. A student found to 
have committed another drug or alcohol offense, including possession or intoxication, shall be referred 
to appropriate behavioral interventions or student assistance programs, and may be subject to discipline 
on a case-by-case basis. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 49414.4, the district may, as part of a restorative justice 
framework and utilizing the Multi-Tiered System of Supports, use alternatives to a referral of a 
student to a law enforcement agency in response to an incident involving the student's misuse of an 
opioid. 

 
The district may use alternatives to the referral of a student to a law enforcement agency in response to an 
incident involving the student's misuse of an opioid, to the extent any alternative utilized is not in 
conflict with any law requiring that referral. (Education Code 49414.4) 
 
Program Evaluation 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 20 USC 7116, an application for Student Support and Academic Enrichment 
Grants is required to include a description of how the district will periodically evaluate program 
effectiveness based on identified program objectives and outcomes. The following paragraph may 
be revised to reflect district practice.  

 
The Board and Superintendent shall agree upon performance measures that will be used to monitor and 
determine the effectiveness of district programs in reducing drug and alcohol use. The Superintendent or 
designee shall periodically report to the Board on the effectiveness of district activities in 
achieving identified objectives and outcomes. (20 USC 7116) 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: November 14, 2017 
revised: ??, 2025 



Page 1 of 3 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District & Sierra County Office of Education 

Students 
Policy 5131.8: Mobile Communication Devices 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following policy will be mandated beginning July 1, 2026, and may be revised to 
reflect district practice. Pursuant to Education Code 48901.7, as amended by AB 3216 (Ch. 500, 
Statutes of 2024), the Governing Board is required, by July 1, 2026, to adopt policy that limits or 
prohibits student use of smartphones while at a school site or under the supervision and control of 
district employee(s), and subsequently, to update the policy every five years. 
 
Additionally, Education Code 48901.5 authorizes the district to regulate the use of electronic signaling 
devices that operate through the transmission or receipt of radio waves, unless essential for a 
student's health. 
 
The U.S. Department of Education's 2024 guidance, "Planning Together: A Playbook for Student 
Personal Device Policies," provides districts guidance for adopting policies around the use of cellphones 
and personal devices on campus. 

 
The Board of Education recognizes that theThe Governing Board recognizes that student use of 
smartphones and other mobile communication devices on campus may be beneficial to student learning 
and well-being, butand could be harmful and disruptive of the instructional program in some 
circumstances.  The Board permits limited use When on campus or when under the supervision of 
district employees, students may use smartphones and other mobile communication devices on campus 
in accordance with law and the only as permitted under this policy. 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following two options offer different approaches to regulating the use of 
smartphones and other mobile communication devices. Districts should revise this policy consistent 
with their approach. Education Code 48901.7, as amended by AB 3216, requires significant 
stakeholder participation in the development of the policy, in order to ensure that the policy is 
responsive to the unique needs and desires of students, parents/guardians, and educators in each 
community. 
 
Option 1, below, limits the use of smartphones and other mobile communication devices to 
noninstructional time. Option 2, below, prohibits the use of smartphones and other mobile 
communication devices while at a school site or under the supervision and control of a district 
employee. 

 
Option 1: (Limited use of smartphones and other mobile communication devices) 
Students may use cell phones, smart watches, pagers,smartphones or other mobile communication devices 
on campus during noninstructional time as long as the device is utilized in accordance with law and any 
rules that individualapplicable school sites may impose.rules. 
 
Mobile communication devices shall be turned off during instructional time. 
End Option 1 
 
Option 2: (Prohibited use of smartphones and other mobile communication devices) 
Students shall not use smartphones or other mobile communication devices while at a school site or under 
the supervision and control of a district employee. 
End Option 2 



Page 2 of 3 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following applies to all districts, irrespective of which option the district chooses. 
Education Code 48901.7 specifies circumstances in which the district is not permitted to prohibit 
student use of smartphones and other mobile communication devices. 

 
However, a student shall not be prohibited from possessing or using a mobile communication device 
under any of the following circumstances:  (Education Code 48901.5, 48901.7) 
 

1. In the case of an emergency, or in response to a perceived threat of danger 
 

2. When a teacher or administrator grants permission to the student to possess or use a mobile 
communication device, subject to any reasonable limitation imposed by that teacher or 
administrator 
 

3. When a licensed physician or surgeon determines that the possession or use is necessary for the 
student's health and well-being 
 

4. When the possession or use is required by the student's individualized education program 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48901.7, as amended by AB 3216, the district's policy may 
include enforcement mechanisms that limit student access to smartphones. However, the district is 
not permitted to monitor, collect, or otherwise access any information related to a student's online 
activities. 

 
The Superintendent or designee may undertake measures or strategies in accordance with law, to limit 
student access to smartphones and other mobile communication devices on campus. (Education Code 
48901.7) 
 
Smartphones and other mobile communication devices shall not be used in any manner which infringes 
on the privacy rights of any other person. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Penal Code 1546.1 prohibits warrantless searches of students' personal electronic devices 
such as mobile phones, except in the circumstances specified in the following paragraph. 
Additionally, a search of a student's personally owned mobile communication device may be subject to 
the Fourth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, which prohibits unreasonable search and seizure. See 
BP/AR 5145.12 - Search and Seizure. It is recommended that the district consult CSBA's District and 
County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel, with questions related to the 
search of a student's mobile communication device. 

 
A student's personal electronic device shall not be searched without the consent of the student's 
parent/guardian, except pursuant to a lawfully issued warrant, when a school official, in good faith, 
believes that an emergency involving danger of death or serious physical injury to the student or others 
requires access to the electronic device information, or when the search is otherwise permitted pursuant 
to Penal Code 1546.1. 
 
When a student uses a mobile communication device in an unauthorized manner while at a school site or 
under the supervision and control of a district employee, the student may be disciplined and athe 
district employee may temporarily confiscate the device.  The employee shall store the device securely 
until it is returned to the student or turned over to the principal or designee, as appropriate. 
 
 



Page 3 of 3 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph addresses students' off-campus conduct during 
nonschool hours. In general, courts have upheld districts' discipline of students for off-campus 
conduct that posed a threat to the safety of other students, staff, or school property or presented a risk 
of substantial disruption of school activities, provided that the district was able to document the 
impact or disruption that the conduct had, or could be expected to have, on school activities. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 48900, districts have the authority to suspend or expel students who engage 
in cyberbullying off campus, provided that the act meets the criteria specified in the definition of 
"bullying" in Education Code 48900, which are a severe or pervasive physical or verbal act or conduct 
that has or can be reasonably predicted to have the effect of placing a reasonable student in fear of harm 
to the student's person or property, causing a substantially detrimental effect on the student's physical or 
mental health, causing substantial interference with the student's academic performance, or causing 
substantial interference with the student's ability to participate in or benefit from school services, 
activities, or privileges. For more information regarding bullying, including cyberbullying, see BP 
5131.2 - Bullying. 
 
In adopting policy related to off-campus conduct, it is recommended that districts consult CSBA's 
District and County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel to ensure that the 
policy does not violate students' First Amendment rights to freedom of speech or expression. For more 
information regarding freedom of speech or expression, see BP 5145.2 - Freedom of 
Speech/Expression. 

 
A student may also be subject to discipline, in accordance with law, Board policy, or administrative 
regulation, for off-campus use of a mobile communication device which poses a threat or danger to the 
safety of students, staff, or district property or substantially disrupts school activities. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall inform students that the district will not be responsible or liable for 
a student's mobile communication device which is brought on campus or to a school activity and is 
lost, stolen, or damaged. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48901.7, as amended by AB 3216, the district's policy 
limiting or prohibiting student use of smartphones while at a school site or under the supervision and 
control of district employee(s) is required to be updated every five years. 

 
The Board shall review and, as necessary, update this policy at least once every five years. Any such 
review or update shall include significant stakeholder participation to ensure that the policy is responsive 
to the unique needs and desires of the school community. 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: November 12, 2019 
revised: ??, 2025 





Page 1 of 8 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District & Sierra County Office of Education 

Students 
Policy 5141.5: Mental Health 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 49428.2, as added by SB 153 (Ch. 38, Statutes of 2024), mandates the 
Governing Board of any district serving students in grades 7-12, before January 31, 2026, to adopt a 
policy on referral protocols for addressing student behavioral health concerns. This mandate is reflected 
below; see "Mental Health Counseling and Referrals." 
 
Education Code 215 requires the Board to adopt a policy on student suicide prevention, intervention, 
and postvention (i.e., intervention conducted after a suicide) with specified components; see BP/AR 
5141.52 - Suicide Prevention. The following policy is intended to address broader mental health issues 
facing students and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 232.7, the California Department of Education (CDE) is required, by June 
30, 2025, to develop and post on its website a model policy and resources about body shaming that 
districts may use to educate staff and students. Districts are encouraged to share these resources with 
staff, students, and parents/guardians by providing information in student and employee handbooks 
and making the information available on each school's website. 
 
The U.S. Department of Education's (USDOE), "Supporting Child and Student Social, Emotional, 
Behavioral, and Mental Health Needs," provides that a student's unmet mental health treatment needs 
may result in social, emotional, or behavioral challenges that, in the absence of effective support, may 
cause a student to experience reactive and exclusionary discipline, such as suspensions and/or 
expulsions, that further exacerbate mental health concerns, interrupt access to and participation in 
learning, limit opportunities, and negatively affect outcomes. The guidance explains that school mental 
health services play an important role by broadening the reach of mental health services and providing 
an access point for early and effective intervention in everyday environments. Additionally, the 
guidance articulates several recommendations for how districts can increase the capacity to provide 
students with social, emotional, and behavioral health support, which includes (1) prioritizing wellness 
for individuals, (2) enhancing mental health literacy and reducing stigma and other barriers to access, 
(3) implementing a continuum of evidence-based prevention practices, (4) establishing an integrated 
framework of educational, social, emotional, and behavioral health support, and (5) using data for 
decision making to promote equitable implementation and outcomes. 
 
The U.S. Surgeon General's, "Social Connection Advisory," emphasizes the critical role that social 
connection plays in individual and societal health and well-being, and provides recommendations for 
how to address the consequences when there is a lack of social connection. Because schools play an 
important role in facilitating positive social connection, the advisory includes specific actions districts 
can implement, which include (1) developing a strategic plan for school connectedness and social skills 
with benchmark tracking, (2) building social connection into the health curriculum, (3) implementing 
socially based educational techniques, and (4) creating a supportive school environment. 
 
In its advisory, "Social Media and Youth Mental Health," the U.S. Surgeon General describes the 
positive and negative impacts of social media on children and adolescents, including the impact on 
mental health and well-being, and recommends that schools develop, implement, and evaluate digital 
and media literacy curriculum to provide students and staff with the skills to strengthen digital 
resilience. 
 



Page 2 of 8 

 

Additionally, SchoolSafety.gov is an interagency website created by the U.S. Department of Homeland 
Security, USDOE, U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ), and U.S. Department of Health and Human 
Services to provide districts with actionable recommendations to create safe and supportive learning 
environments for students, including information about mental health. In addition, the Children and 
Youth Behavioral Health Initiative provides resources for school administrators, school health staff, 
teachers, students and their families. The California Department of Health Care Services (DHCS) also 
provides free mental health and wellness resources to schools through its CalHOPE Schools Initiative. 

 
The Governing Board recognizes that students' emotional well-being and mental health are critical to their 
ability to perform to their full academic and personal potential. The Superintendent or designee shall 
develop strategies and services to reduce the stigma associated with mental illness, facilitate access to 
mental health services, and help students build resiliency skills, including digital resilience, increase 
social connections, and cope with life challenges. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall consult and collaborate with school-employed mental health 
professionals, the county mental health department, psychologists and other health professionals, 
social workers, and/or community organizations to strengthen local mental health services and develop 
and implement an integrated plan to support student mental health. 
 
To the extent possible, the district shall focus on preventive strategies which increase students' 
connectedness to school, create a support network of peers and trusted adults, and provide techniques 
for conflict resolution. The district shall investigate and resolve any complaint of bullying, 
intimidation, harassment, or discrimination in accordance with law and district policy. 
 

CSBA NOTE: The state's content standards for health education include voluntary standards pertaining 
to mental, emotional, and social health at selected elementary and secondary grades and suicide 
prevention instruction at grade 7 or 8 and in high school. 
 
Education Code 51925 requires districts that offer health education courses to middle or high school 
students to include mental health instruction, as specified. Pursuant to Education Code 51929, CDE 
developed the, "Mental Health Instruction Expansion Education Plan," to assist districts in (1) 
understanding that mental health education is a universal support and part of California health 
education, (2) identifying resources to analyze, expand, and enhance current mental health education 
efforts, and (3) making a plan to enhance and expand mental health education. 
 
Additionally, pursuant to Education Code 33546.4, as added by AB 3010 (Ch. 176, Statutes of 
2024), when the Health Education Framework for California Public Schools is next revised, the 
Instructional Quality Commission is required to consider including information on evidence-based 
schoolwide programs to support students in developing skills in mindfulness, distress tolerance, 
interpersonal effectiveness, and emotional regulation. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 51225.38, as added by AB 2429 (Ch. 67, Statutes of 2024), if a district 
requires a course in health education for graduation from high school, the course is required, beginning 
with the 2026-27 school year, to include instruction in the dangers associated with fentanyl use. 
 
For more information on the required contents of courses, see BP/AR 6143 - Courses of Study. 

 
The district shall provide instruction to students that promotes their healthyInstruction provided to 
students shall promote student health and mental, emotional, and social development. Health education 
courses shall be aligned with the state content standards and curriculum framework, as specified in 
Administrative Regulation 6143 - Courses of Study, and shall include, but not be limited to, 



Page 3 of 8 

 

instruction related to identifying signs of depression and self-destructive behaviors including substance 
abuse, developing coping skills, and identifying resources that may provide assistance. 
 
Information and Training 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 49428.15, CDE has identified and posted on its website, 
"Youth Mental Health First Aid," an evidence-based and evidence-informed training program for use by 
schools to address student behavioral health. 
 
Additionally, the California Surgeon General has developed, "Safe Spaces: Trauma Informed Training," 
an online training designed to help recognize and respond to signs of student trauma and stress. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide school staff and students with information and training to 
recognize the early signs and symptoms of an emerging mental health condition or behavioral health 
disorder, including common psychiatric conditions and substance use disorders such as opioid and 
alcohol abuse, identify risk factors and warning signs of suicidal intent, respond to students who have 
been impacted by traumatic stress, safely deescalate crisis situations involving students with a 
behavioral health disorder, and link students with effective services, referrals, and supports. 
SuchAdditionally, such training shall also provide instruction on how to maintain student privacy and 
confidentiality. Behavioral health information, and training may also be provided to parents/guardians, 
students, and families. (Education Code 49428.15) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 49428.2, as added by SB 153, the district is required to, by 
July 1, 2029, certify to CDE that 100 percent of its certificated employees and 40 percent of its 
classified employes who have direct contact with students in grades 7-12 have received youth 
behavioral training at least one time, as specified.  

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all certificated employees and 40 percent of classified 
employes who have direct contact with students in grades 7-12 receive youth behavioral training at 
least one time, in accordance with Education Code 49428.2. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall develop a protocol for identifying and assessing students who may 
be suffering from an anxiety disorder, depression, eating disorder, or other severe or disabling mental 
illness. The Superintendent or designee may establish districtwide or school-site crisis intervention 
team(s) to respond to mental health concerns in the school setting. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 218.3, CDE has developed and posted on its website, 
"Providing Relevant Inclusive Support that Matters for LGBTQ Students (PRISM)," a training 
curriculum for certificated staff to support lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, and questioning 
(LGBTQ ) cultural competency. Beginning with the 2025- 26 school year, through the 2029-30 school 
year, districts are required to provide at least one hour of training annually to all certificated 
employees serving students in grades 7-12, in accordance with Education Code 218.3. 
 
Additionally, pursuant to Education Code 219, the State Superintendent of Public Instruction has 
established the LGBTQ Statewide Advisory Task Force to identify the needs of LGBTQ students and 
make recommendations to assist in implementing supportive measures including (1) mental health and 
feelings of safety and support, (2) inclusive and safe access to school facilities, (3) inclusive 
instructional material and school curriculum, (4) prevention of, response to, and oversight of, bullying 
and harassment to determine the effectiveness of policies and programs, and (5) inclusive participation 
in school activities. 

 



Page 4 of 8 

 

Annually, the Superintendent or designee shall provide, and require all certificated employees serving 
students in grades 7 to 12 to participate in, at least one hour of cultural competency training to support 
lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, and questioning individuals. The district shall maintain records 
documenting the date that each employee completed the training and the name of the entity that 
provided the training. (Education Code 218.3) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Each district school is required to notify students and parents/guardians no less than twice 
per school year with information regarding how to access student mental health services on campus 
and/or in the community, in accordance with Education Code 49428. 

 
At least twice per school year, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure that each school provides 
notice regarding how to initiate access to student mental health services on campus and/or in the 
community. The notification to parents/guardians and to students shall be in at least two of the 
following methods: (Education Code 49428)  
 

1. Distributing the information, electronically or in hardcopy, in a letter to parents/guardians, and in 
a school publication or other document to students 
 

2. Including the information, at the beginning of the school year, in the parent/guardian handbook 
for parents/guardians and in student orientation materials or a student handbook 
 

3. Posting the information on the school's website or social media 
 
Parents/guardians and students shall each receive two notices on how to initiate access to student mental 
health services, which may be delivered by different methods. (Education Code 494280) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 49428.5, each school site serving students in any of grades 
6-12 is required to create a poster, as specified below, that identifies approaches and resources about 
student mental health, and prominently display such poster in public areas that are accessible to and 
commonly frequented by students at each school site. Pursuant to Education Code 49428.5, CDE has 
developed model mental health posters, available on its website. 

 
Each school site that serves students in any of grades 6-12 shall create an age appropriate and culturally 
relevant poster that identifies approaches and shares resources about student mental health, and that 
includes the following information: (Education Code 49428.5)  
 

1. Identification of common behaviors of those struggling with mental health or who are in a mental 
health crisis, including, but not limited to, anxiety, depression, eating disorders, emotional 
dysregulation, bipolar episodes, and schizophrenic episodes 
 

2. A list of, and contact information for, school site-specific resources, including, but not limited to, 
counselors, wellness centers, and peer counselors 
 

3. A list of, and contact information for, community resources, including, but not limited to, 
suicide prevention, substance abuse, child crisis, nonpolice mental health hotlines, public 
behavioral health services, and community mental health centers 
 

4. A list of positive coping strategies to use when dealing with mental health, including, but not 
limited to, meditation, mindfulness, yoga, breathing exercises, grounding skills, journaling, 
acceptance, and seeking therapy 
 



Page 5 of 8 

 

5. A list of negative coping strategies to avoid, including, but not limited to, substance abuse or 
self-medication, violence and abuse, self-harm, compulsivity, dissociation, catastrophizing, and 
isolating 

 
The poster shall be displayed in English and any primary language spoken by 15 percent or more of the 
students at the school site and be no smaller than 8.5 by 11 inches and at least 12-point font. The poster 
shall be prominently and conspicuously displayed in public areas that are accessible to, and commonly 
frequented by, students at each school site such as bathrooms, locker rooms, classrooms, classroom 
hallways, gymnasiums, auditoriums, cafeterias, wellness centers, and offices. Additionally, at the 
beginning of each school year the poster shall be distributed online to students through social media, 
websites, portals, and learning platforms. (Education Code 49428.5) 
 
Mental Health Counseling and Referrals 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 49428.2, as added by SB 153, mandates the Board of a district serving 
students in grades 7-12 to adopt a policy at a regularly scheduled meeting before January 31, 2026, 
on referral protocols for addressing student behavioral health concerns. A policy addressing referral 
protocols adopted before June 29, 2024, may be considered to meet the requirements if the contents 
of the policy fulfill the requirements specified in Education Code 49428.1 and 49428.2. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 49428.1, as amended by SB 153, CDE is required to develop model referral 
protocols for addressing student behavioral health concerns and to post the model referral protocols on 
its website by June 1, 2025. 

 
A school counselor, school psychologist, or school social worker may provide mental health counseling 
to students in accordance with the specialization(s) authorized on the individual's credential. As needed, 
students and their parents/guardians may be provided referrals to mental health services in the 
community and/or to mental health services at or near district schools. 
 
Mental health 
 
The district's referral protocols shall: (Education Code 49428.1) 
 

1. Address the appropriate and timely referral by school staff of students with behavioral health 
concerns 
 

2. Reflect a multitiered system of support process and positive behavioral interventions and 
supports, to be used as an alternative to disciplinary action as appropriate 
 
The protocols shall be accessible to students who may be the subject of disciplinary action. 
 

3. Be adaptable to varied local service arrangements for behavioral health services 
 

4. Reflect evidence-based and culturally appropriate approaches to student behavioral health referral 
without disciplinary actions 
 
"Evidence-based" means peer-reviewed, scientific research evidence, including studies based on 
research methodologies that control threats to both the internal and the external validity of the 
research findings. 
 

5. Address the inclusion of parents/guardians in the referral process 



Page 6 of 8 

 

 
6. Be written to ensure clarity and ease of use by certificated and classified school employees 

 
7. Reflect differentiated referral processes for students on campuswith exceptional needs and other 

populations for whom the referral process may be provided by waydistinct 
 

8. Be written to ensure that school employees act only within the authorization or scope of their 
credential or license 
 
School employees are not authorized or encouraged to diagnose or treat youth behavioral health 
disorders unless they are specifically licensed and employed to do so. 
 

9. Be consistent with state activities conducted by the California Department of Education in the 
administration of federally funded behavioral health programs 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Family Code 6924, a student 12 years of age or older is legally authorized to 
consent to mental health treatment or counseling if the student, in the opinion of the mental health 
professional, is mature enough to participate intelligently in the services. However, such mental health 
treatment or counseling authorized by Family Code 6924 requires involvement of the minor's 
parent/guardian unless the mental health professional determines, after consulting with the minor, that 
the involvement of the parent/guardian would be inappropriate.  

 
A student 12 years of age or older may consent to mental health treatment or counseling if the 
student, in the opinion of the attending mental health professional, is mature enough to participate 
intelligently in the services. Additionally, the student's parent/guardian shall consent to student's 
treatment, unless the mental health professional determines, after consulting with the student, that the 
involvement of the parent/guardian would be inappropriate. (Family Code 6924) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 49429, CDE has developed, "Telehealth Guidance for 
School Districts," to provide guidelines for the use of telehealth technology in schools, including mental 
health and behavioral health services to students on school campuses, and guidelines for securing 
telehealth systems. Telehealth services may include live counseling, mental health, or therapeutic 
sessions between a student or group of students and a licensed clinician delivered through a virtual 
platform. The following four paragraphs reflect CDE's 2024 guidance. 
 
For more information regarding school health services, including telehealth services, see BP/AR 5141.6 
- School Health Services. It is recommended that districts with questions regarding the provision of 
telehealth services, consult district risk management and/or insurance, and CSBA's District and 
County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel, as appropriate. 

 
In delivering mental health and behavioral health services to students, the district may use telehealth 
or other information and communication technologies that facilitate the diagnosis, consultation, 
treatment, education, care management, and self-management of a student's health while the student is 
on campus and the health care provider is at a distant location. (Education Code 49429) 
 
Prior to utilizing telehealth technology to manage a student's mental health or behavior, the mental 
health professional shall consult with the student, parent/guardian, and/or the student's individualized 
education program team, as required by law, unless the mental health professional determines that the 
involvement would be inappropriate pursuant to Family Code 6924. 
 
 



Page 7 of 8 

 

CSBA NOTE: CDE, in its 2024, "Telehealth Guidance for School Districts," provides numerous 
recommendations related to using telehealth services, including the creation of a district "emergency 
response plan" for telebehavioral health, as described below. Since an "emergency response plan" for 
telebehavioral health is not defined in law, it is recommended that districts with questions about 
developing such a plan consult CSBA's District and County Office of Education Legal Services or 
district counsel. 

 
In using telehealth technology to provide mental health services to students, the Superintendent or 
designee shall ensure that mental health professionals comply with applicable professional codes of 
ethics and legal authority. 
 
Additionally, space that affords privacy and confidentiality of telehealth sessions shall be provided for 
students and an emergency response plan shall be put in place that lays out all legally-mandated steps 
to take when a student suddenly begins to exhibit suicidal ideation or other potentially dangerous 
behavior during a telehealth session. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 28 CFR 35.108, a student should be evaluated in accordance with Section 
504 of the Rehabilitation Act (29 USC 794) if the student has a disability, including a mental 
impairment, that substantially limits a major life activity, has a record of such impairment, or is 
regarded as having such impairment. See BP/AR 6164.6 - Identification and Education Under Section 
504. Districts also have an affirmative, ongoing duty to actively and systematically seek out, identify, 
locate, and evaluate all children with exceptional needs who may be in need of special education and 
related services (Education Code 56171, 56300-56385; 20 USC 1412; 34 CFR 300.111). See BP/AR 
6164.4 - Identification and Evaluation of Individuals for Special Education. 
 
USDOE and DOJ's joint publication, "Supporting and Protecting the Rights of Students at Risk of 
Self-Harm in the Era of COVID-19," provides that a student with anxiety, depression, or a substance 
use disorder may be considered a mental health disability that entitles the student to special 
education or related services in accordance with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act or the federal 
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. While this is written in response to the pandemic, the 
guidance may be interpreted as having a more general applicability. 

 
If a student has an emotional or mental illness that limits a major life activity, has a record of such 
impairment, or is regarded as having such impairment, or may need special education and related 
services, the student shall be referred for an evaluation for purposes of determining whether any 
educational or related services are required in accordance with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act or 
the federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, as applicable. (Education Code 56301-56302; 
29 USC 794; 28 CFR 35.108) 
 
Funding Resources 
 

CSBA NOTE: In addition to using district funds for mental health programs or services, districts may 
apply for grant funds administered by the county mental health agency or other sources. 
 
The Behavioral Health Services Act, formerly the Mental Health Services Act, established by 
Proposition 63 in 2004 and revised by Proposition 1 in 2024, provides funding, personnel, and other 
resources to support county mental health programs, including, but not limited to, prevention and 
early intervention programs and treatment for substance abuse disorders. Funding may be allocated 
for outreach to families and others to recognize the early signs of potentially severe and disabling 
mental illnesses, access and linkage to medically necessary care for children with severe mental illness, 
reduction in stigma and discrimination against people with mental illness, and strategies to reduce 



Page 8 of 8 

 

negative outcomes that may result from untreated mental illness. Half of early intervention funding 
is required to be directed to individuals 25 years of age and younger, and include early childhood (0-
5) mental health consultation, school-based services, and expanding early psychosis and mood disorder 
detection and intervention. 
 
Welfare and Institutions Code 5886 established the Mental Health Student Services Act, a 
competitive grant program to award funds to county mental health or behavioral health departments for 
the purpose of creating mental health partnerships with school districts, charter schools, and county 
offices of education. 
 
DHCS launched the Children and Youth Behavioral Health Initiative Fee Schedule program to create 
a reimbursement pathway for districts to receive funding for services provided at schools or school-
linked sites by setting the reimbursement rate for a certain set of outpatient, school-linked services 
rendered to children and youth who are (1) under 26 years old, (2) enrolled in public Transitional 
Kindergarten-12 schools, and (3) covered by Medi- Cal managed care plans, Medi-Cal Fee-for-Service, 
health care service plans, and disability insurers. For more information about the Children and Youth 
Behavioral Health Initiative, see DHCS's website. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall explore potential funding sources for district programs and 
services that support student's mental health. In accordance with local plans and priorities, the district 
may apply to the county for grants for prevention and early intervention activities that are designed to 
prevent mental illness from becoming severe and disabling and to improve timely access for 
underserved populations. 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: August 14, 2012 
revised: November 13, 2018 
revised: August 08, 2023 
revised: ??, 2025 



Page 1 of 5 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District & Sierra County Office of Education 

Students 
Policy 5141.52: Suicide Prevention 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 215 mandates the Governing Board of any district serving students in 
grades K-12 to adopt a policy on student suicide prevention, intervention, and postvention (i.e., 
intervention conducted after a suicide) with specified components. The required components are 
addressed in this policy and the accompanying administrative regulation. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 215, as amended by SB 1318 (Ch. 645, Statutes of 2024), the California 
Department of Education (CDE) is required, by July 1, 2026, to update its, "Model Youth Suicide 
Prevention Policy for Local Educational Agencies that Serve Kindergarten through Twelfth Grade 
Students," to address crisis intervention protocols in the event of a student suicide crisis. On or after 
July 1, 2026, the Board is required to, during its next regularly scheduled review of its student 
suicide prevention policy, update its policy to include the best practices identified in CDE's updated 
Model Policy. 
 
The following policy is consistent with CDE's Model Policy, which also includes an extensive list of 
resources to assist in the prevention, intervention, and postvention of student suicide. Districts are 
encouraged to work closely with their county behavioral health department to identify and access 
resources at the local level. 
 
The Mental Health Services Oversight and Accountability Commission developed a suicide prevention 
plan for the state which is published in, "Striving for Zero: California's Strategic Plan for Suicide 
Prevention 2020-2025," available on its website. The plan presents strategic aims, with related goals, 
objectives, and an implementation schedule. Districts may find the strategic plan useful in learning 
more about the stigma associated with behavioral health needs, myths and misconceptions about 
suicidal behavior and its hinderance to prevention efforts, suicidal behavior, risk and protective 
factors, and best practices in suicide prevention. Additionally, the Commission published, 
"Accelerating Transformational Change: Strategic Plan for 2024-2027," which includes the goals of 
supporting school-based mental health. 
 
The California Department of Public Health, Office of Suicide Prevention (OSP) is the designated 
state entity responsible for coordinating and aligning statewide suicide prevention efforts and resources. 
OSP's youth suicide prevention projects, including the Youth Suicide Prevention Media and Outreach 
Campaign, are available on OSP's website. The California Department of Health Care Services provides 
free mental health and wellness resources to schools through its CalHOPE Schools Initiative. 
Additionally, SchoolSafety.gov is an interagency website created by the U.S. Department of Homeland 
Security, 
 
U.S. Department of Education (USDOE), U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ), and U.S. Department of 
Health and Human Services to provide districts with actionable recommendations to create safe and 
supportive learning environments for students, including information about suicide management. 
 
The following policy and accompanying administrative regulation should be revised to reflect district 
practice and the grade levels offered by the district. 

 
The Governing Board recognizes that suicide is a leading cause of death among youth, that prevention is a 
collective effort that requires stakeholder engagement, and that school personnel who regularly 
interact with students are often in a position to recognize the warning signs of suicide and to offer 
appropriate referral and/or assistance. In an effort to reduce suicidal behavior, its impact on students 



Page 2 of 5 

 

and families, and other trauma associated with suicidetrauma, the Superintendent or designee shall 
develop measures, strategies, practices, and supports for suicide prevention, intervention, and 
postvention.  
 
In developing and updating district policy and procedures for suicide prevention, intervention, and 
postvention, the Superintendent or designee shall consult with school and community stakeholders, 
school-employed mental health professionals, and suicide prevention experts, and, in developing . If the 
policy for gradeswill affect K-6 students, the county mental health plan.  shall also be consulted. 
(Education Code 215) 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. Education 
Code 215 does not define "school and community stakeholders" or "school-employed mental health 
professionals" who must be consulted in the development of policy. The following paragraph details 
examples that are consistent with CSBA and CDE recommendations. 

 
School and community stakeholders and school mental health professionals with whom the 
Superintendent or designee shall consult may include district and school administrators, school 
counselors, school psychologists, school social workers, school nurses, other staff, parents/guardians and 
caregivers, students, local health agencies, mental health professionals, community organizations, law 
enforcement, legal counsel, and/or the district's risk manager or insurance carrier.  The Superintendent or 
designee may also collaborate with county and/or city governments in an effort to align district policy 
with any existing community suicide prevention plans. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 215, as amended by SB 1318, if the district does not have a 
school mental health professional or contract with a mental health professional, the Board is 
encouraged to consider, when reviewing its policy on suicide prevention, whether funding should be 
identified for purposes of hiring a school mental health professional. 

 
When developing or reviewing district policy on suicide prevention, the Superintendent or designee 
may make a recommendation regarding the need to hire a mental health professional for the district, or 
for any school that is not currently served by a mental health professional, and the possible funding 
source(s) for such hiring. 
 
Measures and strategies for suicide prevention, intervention, and postvention shall include, but are not 
limited to: 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 215 mandates that the district's policy address any training on suicide 
awareness and prevention to be provided to teachers of students in all grade levels served by the district. 
See the accompanying administrative regulation for additional language fulfilling this mandate. 
Additionally, Education Code 49604 encourages each district to provide suicide prevention training at 
least once to each middle, junior high, and high school counselor. Item #1 should be revised to specify 
the categories of employees who will receive the training. 

 
1. Staff development on suicide awareness and prevention for teachers, interns, school counselors, 

and others who interact with students, including, as appropriate, substitute teachers, coaches, 
expanded day learning staff, crossing guards, tutors, and volunteers 

 
CSBA NOTE: Items #2-9 below reflect optional strategies for suicide prevention, intervention, 
and postvention and may be revised to reflect district practice. 

2. Instruction to students in problem-solving, coping, and resiliency skills to promote students' 
mental, emotional, and social health and well-being, as well as; help-seeking strategies and 
resources; and instruction in recognizing and appropriately responding to warning signs of 
suicidal intent in others 



Page 3 of 5 

 

 
3. Methods for promoting a positive school climate that enhances students' feelings of 

connectedness with the school and that is characterized by caring staff and harmonious 
interrelationshipsrelationships among students 
 

4. The review of materials and resources used in awareness efforts and communications to ensure 
they align with best practices for safe and effective messaging about suicide 
 

5. The provision of information to parents/guardians and caregivers regarding risk and protective 
factors, warning signs of suicide, the severity of the suicide problem among youth, the district's 
suicide prevention curriculum, the district's suicide prevention policy and procedures, basic 
steps for helping suicidal youth, the importance of communicating with appropriate staff if 
suicide risk is present or suspected, access to suicide prevention training, and/or school and 
community resources that can help youth in crisis 
 

6. Encouragement for students to notify appropriate school personnel or other adults when they 
are experiencing thoughts of suicide or when they suspect or have knowledge of another student's 
suicidal intentions 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 215, as amended by SB 1318, CDE is required to 
update its Model Policy, by July 1, 2026, to address crisis intervention protocols in the event of 
a student suicide crisis. The Board is required to update its suicide prevention policy to include 
the best practices identified in CDE's updated Model Policy when it next reviews this policy 
after July 1, 2026. 

7. Crisis intervention proceduresprotocols for addressing suicide threats or attempts 
 

8. Counseling and other postvention strategies for helping students, staff, and others cope in the 
aftermath of a student's suicide 

 
CSBA NOTE: The National Association of School Psychologists recommends that the 
district and/or school sites create a suicide prevention crisis team to assist in effectively 
identifying and intervening with students who are at risk of suicidal behavior, including 
adoption and implementation of policies and procedures. It is recommended that such teams 
include, at a minimum, administration, mental health staff, and school security personnel. 
CDE also recommends that students are included on the team, to represent the student voice. 
The same crisis intervention team may be established to address broader mental health 
concerns as described in BP 5141.5 - Mental Health. 

9. Establishment of district and/or school-site crisis intervention team(s) to ensure the proper 
implementation and review of this policy and other district practices related to the emotional 
and behavioral wellness of students, including, but not limited to, the oversight of mental 
health and suicide prevention training, ensuring the suicide prevention policy, protocols, and 
resources are posted on the district and school websites, collaboration with community mental 
health organizations, identification of resources and organizations that provide evidence-based 
treatment, collaboration to build community response, and compliance with Education Code 215 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 215 mandates that the district's policy specifically address the needs of 
high-risk groups, including, but not limited to, those listed in the following paragraph. See the 
accompanying administrative regulation for additional language fulfilling this mandate. 
CDE's Model Policy encourages districts to use the California School Climate, Health, and Learning 
Surveys or other survey data to determine the prevalence of suicidal ideation and behaviors, including 
patterns or trends, among all students, particularly among identified high-risk populations. 
 
 



Page 4 of 5 

 

Pursuant to Education Code 218.3, CDE has developed and posted on its website, "Providing Relevant 
Inclusive Support that Matters for LGBTQ Students (PRISM)," a training curriculum for certificated 
staff to support lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, and questioning (LGBTQ ) cultural 
competency. Beginning with the 2025-26 school year, through the 2029-30 school year, districts are 
required to provide at least one hour of training annually to all certificated employees serving 
students in grades 7-12, in accordance with Education Code 218.3. 

 
As appropriate, these measures and strategies shall specifically address the needs of students who are at 
high risk of suicide, including, but not limited to, students who are bereaved by suicide; students with 
disabilitiesexceptional needs, mental illness, or substance use disorders; students who are experiencing 
homelessness or who are in out-of-home settings such as foster care; and students who are lesbian, gay, 
bisexual, transgender, or questioning.  (Education Code 215) 
 

CSBA NOTE: USDOE and DOJ's joint publication, "Supporting and Protecting the Rights of Students 
at Risk of Self- Harm in the Era of COVID-19," provides that anxiety, depression, or substance use 
disorder may be considered a mental health disability that entitles a student to special education or 
related services in accordance with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act or the federal Individuals 
with Disabilities Education Act. While this is written in response to the pandemic, the guidance may 
be interpreted as having a more general applicability. The following optional paragraph reflects this 
guidance. 

 
In order to address mental health disabilities, the district may, as appropriate and in accordance with 
law, develop trauma-informed crisis management procedures that include an individualized assessment 
of the student's circumstances; provide and facilitate access to mental health evaluations and services; 
reasonably modify policies, such as attendance policies, for individual students; and train staff to 
recognize and respond appropriately to signs of distress and suicidal ideation in students. 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following two optional paragraphs may be revised to reflect district practice. The 
paragraphs are consistent with CDE's Model Policy that recommends protocols for maintaining staff 
connection with students during school closures, in order to support student mental wellbeing and 
provide guidance on suicide prevention.  

 
The Superintendent or designee shall establish a process for school staff to maintain daily or regular 
contact with all students, including during distance learning and school closures, and for such staff to 
communicate any concerns about a student's emotional wellbeing and/or safety to the appropriate 
authorities. 
 
Additionally, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure that school-based mental health professionals 
maintain regular contact with high-risk students, students who are on their caseloads, and those who are 
identified by staff as demonstrating need. 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following two paragraphs are for use by districts that serve students in grades K-6. 

 
The Board shall ensure that suicide prevention measures and strategies for students in grades K-6 are age 
appropriate and delivered and discussed in a manner that is sensitive to the needs of young 
students.  (Education Code 215) 
 
If a referral is made for mental health or related services for a student in grade K-6 who is a Medi-Cal 
beneficiary, the Superintendent or designee shall coordinate and consult with the county mental health 
plan.  (Education Code 215) 
 
District employees shall act only within the authorization and scope of their credential or license. 
Nothing in this policy shall be construed as authorizing or encouraging district employees to diagnose or 



Page 5 of 5 

 

treat mental illness unless they are specifically licensed and employed to do so.  (Education Code 215) 
 
When the district determines that a student is in need of mental or behavioral health services, the services 
shall be provided in accordance with protocols specified in Board Policy 5141.5 - Mental Health. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 215 requires that the district's student suicide prevention policy be 
updated to incorporate best practices identified in CDE's Model Policy. Education Code 215 also 
requires that the district's suicide prevention policy be updated at least every five years. Given the 
severity of the issue and importance of maintaining an up-to-date suicide prevention policy, CSBA and 
CDE recommend reviewing and updating this policy annually. The following paragraph may be 
revised to reflect district practice. 

 
The Board shall review, and update as necessary, this policy at least every five years. The Board may, at 
its discretion, review the policy more frequently.  (Education Code 215) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall periodically review district data pertaining to school climate and 
reports of suicidal ideation, attempts, or death to identify patterns or trends and make recommendations 
regarding program development. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall post this policy on the district's web sitewebsite, in a 
prominent location and in a manner that is easily accessible to parents/guardians and 
students.  (Education Code 234.6) 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 11, 2017  
revised: March 12, 2019  
revised: June 23, 2020 
revised: September 21, 2021 
revised: ??, 2025 





Page 1 of 2 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District & Sierra County Office of Education 

Students 
Policy 5145.13: Response To Immigration Enforcement 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 234.7, districts were mandated to adopt policies, by July 
1, 2018, with language that is equivalent to the model policy language developed by the California 
Attorney General in "Promoting a Safe and Secure Learning Environment for All: Guidance and Model 
Policies to Assist California's K-12 Schools in Responding to Immigration Issues," first published in 
April 2018 ("2018 Guidance"). The Attorney General updated the 2018 Guidance in December 2024 
("2024 Guidance") and has stated that districts "should" adopt or update their policies based on the 
2024 Guidance by May 1, 2025. The 2024 Guidance is available on the Office of the Attorney 
General's website. 
 
Since the legal landscape regarding a district's response to immigration enforcement is in flux and 
additional legislation is currently pending, it is recommended that districts consult with CSBA's District 
and County Office of Education Legal Service or district legal counsel when adopting this policy. 
 
See the accompanying administrative regulation, BP 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and 
Activities, BP/AR 5111 - Admission, AR 5111.1 - District Residency, BP/AR 5125 - Student Records, 
AR/E 5125.1 - Release of Directory Information, and BP 5131.2 - Bullying for additional language 
that is equivalent to the model policy language in the 2018 Guidance and 2024 Guidance. 

 
The Governing Board of Education is committed to the success of all students and believes that every 
school site should be a safe and welcoming place for all students and their families irrespective of their 
citizenship or immigration status.  
 
District staff shall not solicit or collect information or documents, and shall not seek or require 
information or documents to the exclusion of other permissible information or documents, regarding the 
citizenship or immigration status of studentsa student or theirthe student's family members or provide 
assistance with immigration enforcement at district schools, except as may be required by state and 
federal law.. (Education Code 234.7) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 234.1 mandates that districts adopt policy prohibiting discrimination, 
harassment, intimidation, and bullying based on the actual or perceived characteristics set forth in 
Education Code 220 and Penal Code 422.55. Education Code 234.1 expressly includes immigration 
status among the protected categories. See BP 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and 
Activities and BP 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment for language fulfilling this mandate. 

 
NoIn accordance with law, Board Policy 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities, 
and Board Policy 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment, no student shall be denied equal rights and 
opportunities, nor be subjected to unlawful discrimination, harassment, intimidation, or bullying in the 
district's programs and activities on the basis of his/herthe student's or family's immigration status. or 
for the refusal to provide information related to the student's or family's immigration status. 
(Education Code 200, 220, 234.1) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Government Code 8310.3 prohibits districts from disclosing information about 
immigration status or religion for use in the compilation of a registry for immigration enforcement or 
otherwise assisting in the creation of such a registry. The 2024 Guidance contains a similar 
prohibition. Also see BP 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities and BP 5125 
- Student Records. 



Page 2 of 2 

 

 
Resources and data collected by the district shall not be used, directly or by others, to compile a list, 
registry, or database of individuals based on national origin, immigration status, religion, or other 
category of individual characteristics protected against unlawful discrimination. (Government Code 
8310.3) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 234.7, a district is required to notify parents/guardians of 
their children's right to a free public education regardless of immigration status. The 2024 Guidance 
provides additional detail on this topic, which includes one appendix titled "Know Your Educational 
Rights." Such notice may be included in the annual parental notification provided pursuant to 
Education Code 48980 or through any other cost-effective means. See 5145.6 - Parent/Guardian 
Notifications and BP 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall notify parents/guardians regarding their children's right to a free 
public education regardless of immigration status or religious beliefs and their rights related to 
immigration enforcement. (Education Code 234.7) 
 
Consistent with requirements of the California Office of the Attorney General, the 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall develop procedures for addressing any immigration-related requests 
by a law enforcement officer for access to district records, school sites, or students for the purpose of 
immigration enforcement. 
 
Teachers, school administrators, 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph reflects a recommendation from the 2024 Guidance 
and may be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
Teachers, school administrators, and other school staff shall receiveThe Superintendent or designee may 
provide training to staff regarding immigration issues, including information on responding to a request 
from an immigrationa law enforcement officer to visit a school site or to have access to a student. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall report to the Board in a timely manner any requests for information 
or access to a school site by an officer or employee of a law enforcement agencyofficer for the 
purpose of enforcing the immigration laws. Such notification shall be provided in a manner 
that ensures the confidentiality and privacy of any potentially identifying information. 
(Education Code 234.7) 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: September 11, 2018 
revised: ??, 2025 



Page 1 of 2 

CSBA POLICY GUIDE SHEET – May 13, 2025__First Reading 

 
Board Policy 1312.2 - Complaints Concerning Instructional Materials 

Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 153, 2024) which prohibits the Governing Board from 
adopting or approving the use of any textbook, instructional material, supplemental instructional 
material, or curriculum for classroom instruction if the use would subject a student to unlawful 
discrimination in accordance with specified state law. 
 

Board Policy 1340 - Access to District Records 
Policy updated to delete material related to the copying of public records, as it is more appropriately 
placed in, and therefore moved to, the accompanying Administrative Regulation. 

 
Board Policy 3311 - Bids 

Policy updated to clarify that bidding procedures are required to be established in accordance with, and 
meet the requirements for, bidding procedures specified in law. Additionally, policy updated to 
incorporate material from the accompanying administrative regulation related to awarding contracts, 
protests by bidders, and instances when bids are not required, as the majority of such content is related to 
Governing Board actions and therefore more appropriately placed in Board policy. 
 

“NEW” Board Policy 3311.1 - Uniform Public Construction Cost Accounting Procedures 
Policy updated to add language related to authorization for the Governing Board when, after the first 
invitation of bids pursuant to informal or formal bidding procedures under the Uniform Public 
Construction Cost Accounting Act all bids are rejected, declare that a project can be performed more 
economically by employees of the district. 

 
Board Policy 3312 - Contracts 

Policy updated to broaden philosophical statement to include that the Governing Board ensure that 
contracts entered into on behalf of the district conform to any applicable legal standards. Additionally, 
policy updated to provide that Board members and district employees involved in the making of 
contracts on behalf of the district comply with applicable law. In addition, policy updated to add 
language that executed contracts for the purchase of goods or services, even if the contract contains 
provisions specifying that the contract is confidential or a proprietary record of the vendor, is a public 
record unless otherwise exempt from disclosure under state or federal law. Policy also updated to reflect 
NEW LAW (SB 1303, 2024) which (1) requires, if the district utilizes a private labor compliance entity, 
the entity to submit a signed declaration verifying that it does not have a conflict of interest, and (2) 
defines "private labor compliance entity" and "conflict of interest." Additionally, policy updated to 
clarify language regarding public records and that a district may not enforce a confidentiality clause that 
would prevent the district from making any part of the contract a public record. 
 

Board Policy 3516.5 - Emergency Schedules 
Policy updated to add "health conditions" as a reason for which the Superintendent or designee is 
authorized by the Governing Board to close a school site, change the regular school day schedule, or take 
any necessary action. Additionally, policy updated to reference NEW LAW (SB 1429, 2024) which 
adds snowstorms to the list of emergencies for which a district may apply to the Superintendent of 
Public Instruction to obtain apportionment credit for days and minutes lost due to emergency closure and 
material decreases in attendance. In addition, policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 153, 2024) and 
NEW LAW (AB 176, 2024) which require a district that submits an affidavit for a school closure 
necessitated by an emergency condition to (1) for an emergency event occurring after September 1, 2021 
but before July 1, 2026, certify that the district has a plan for offering independent study to affected 
students within 10 instructional days of the first day of a school closure or material decrease in 
attendance, and (2) for events occurring on or after July 1, 2026, certify that an instructional continuity 
plan is included in the district's comprehensive safety plan and that the district offered student 
engagement and instruction consistent with the instructional continuity plan or certify that it did not do so 
due to extenuating circumstances. NEW LAW (SB 153, 2024) also authorizes districts, beginning July 
1, 2025, to implement attendance recovery programs for students in grades transitional kindergarten-12 

Note: Descriptions below identify revisions made to CSBA's sample board policies, administrative regulations, 
board bylaws, and/or exhibits. Editorial changes have also been made. Districts and county offices of education 
should review the sample materials and modify their own policies accordingly. 



Page 2 of 2 

to make up lost instructional time and offset absences due to emergency events. Additionally, policy 
updated to combine material related to student and parent/guardian notifications, make more current 
the modalities of the district's notification system for informing students and parents/guardians 
of a change in the school day schedule, a school closure due to an emergency, or change in operation of 
school bus schedules, and reflect NEW LAW (AB 2905, 2024) which requires, when a district or school 
uses an automatic dialing-announcing device, for the device to be operated by a person who follows all 
procedures required by law prior to operating the device, and disconnect the device from the telephone 
line upon the termination of the call. 
 

Board Policy 3580 - District Records 
Policy updated to include protection of records against damage, loss, or theft, which may be caused by 
cybersecurity breaches. Additionally, policy updated to require the Superintendent or designee to (1) 
ensure that employees receive information and training about cybersecurity, including ways to protect 
district records from breaches to the district's digital infrastructure, and (2) to report a cyberattack that 
impacts more than 500 students or personnel to the California Cybersecurity Integration Center. In 
addition, policy updated to clarify that if a breach in security of district records has resulted in the release 
of personal information that was either unencrypted, or encrypted under certain specified circumstances, 
the Superintendent or designee is required to notify individuals, as specified. Policy also updated to 
specify that records containing confidential address information of a participant in the Safe at Home 
program are required to be kept in a confidential location and not shared with the public. 

 
Board Policy 4151/4251/4351 - Employee Compensation 

Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 938, 2024) which requires districts, beginning January 31, 
2026, to annually complete the Salary and Benefit Schedule for Bargaining Units (Form J-90), for 
classified and certificated staff assigned to a district school site(s) and report the Form J-90 to the 
California Department of Education. Additionally, policy updated to include "fillable" language for 
districts to utilize to reflect the payroll schedule determined by the Governing Board. In addition, policy 
updated to delete material related to the compensation of employees during periods of extended closure 
or disruption which was COVID-19 specific, and therefore outdated. Policy also updated to correct an 
inaccuracy regarding overtime rate of pay, which required the deletion of material related to an overtime 
rate of twice the regular rate of pay for any hours worked in excess of 12 hours in one day or eight hours 
on the seventh consecutive work day, since the Labor Code section which provides for such overtime 
compensation does not apply to school districts. Additionally, policy updated to add language regarding 
the rate of pay for a classified employee in an exempt position who is required to work on a holiday 
designated in law or by the Board. In addition, policy updated to clarify that, when an employee does not 
respond or disputes the existence or amount of an overpayment claimed by the district, the district may 
only recover an overpayment after pursuing appropriate legal action, and to delete the requirement for 
Board approval for the district to exercise legal means to recover an overpayment, as Board approval is 
not required by law. 
 

Board Policy 4158/4258/4358 - Employee Security 
Policy updated to include material which authorizes a collective bargaining representative to seek a 
temporary restraining order on behalf of a district employee who has been subjected to harassment, 
unlawful violence, or a credible threat of violence in the workplace, if the collective bargaining 
representative serves that employee in employment or labor matters at the employee's workplace. 
Additionally, policy updated to incorporate Executive Order 14127, "Combating Emerging Firearms 
Threats and Improving School-Based Active-Shooter Drills," which establishes a task force to provide 
guidance to schools related to school- based active shooter drills. In addition, policy revised to more 
closely align with law and to reflect a change in provisions from the Labor Code to the Government 
Code. 

 



Page 1 of 3 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District & Sierra County Office of Education 

Community Relations 
Policy 1312.2: Complaints Concerning Instructional Materials 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional policy, accompanying administrative regulation, and exhibit are 
for complaints concerning the content or use of any existing textbook, instructional material, 
supplemental instructional material, or other curriculum for classroom instruction, or any book or 
other resource in a school library, and should be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
The California Department of Education's (CDE), "Guidance for Local Instructional Materials 
Adoptions," provides guidance for districts when identifying, reviewing, piloting, and adopting 
instructional materials in all content areas, including links to current legislation, sample timelines, 
support for student groups, and implementation considerations. 
 
For complaints regarding the sufficiency of instructional materials or textbooks pursuant to Education 
Code 35186, see AR/E(1)/E(2) 1312.4 - Williams Uniform Complaint Procedures. 
For policy related to the selection, evaluation, and prohibited use of individual instructional materials, 
see BP/AR 6161.1 - Selection and Evaluation of Instructional Materials, BP 6161.11 - Supplementary 
Instructional Materials, and BP 6163.1 - Library Media Centers. For more information regarding the 
adoption of instructional materials, see CSBA's, "Instructional Materials Adoptions: State and local 
governing board processes, roles, and responsibilities," "Instructional Materials Adoption: Local 
governing board responsibilities," and "State Roles, Responsibilities, and Process for Instructional 
Materials Adoption," and the California Attorney General's, "Guidance to School Officials re: Legal 
Requirements for Providing Inclusive Curricula and Books." 

 
The Governing Board uses a comprehensive process to adopt district instructional materials that is based 
on selection criteria established by law and Board policy and includes opportunities for the involvement 
of district staff, parents/guardians, and community members, and, as appropriate, students. Complaints 
concerning the content or use of instructional materials, including textbooks, supplementary 
instructional materials, library materials, or other instructional materials and equipment, shall be 
properly and fairly considered using established complaint procedures.  
 
Parents/guardians are encouraged to discuss any concerns regarding instructional materials with their 
child'sstudent’s teacher and/or the school principal. If the situation remains unresolved, a complaint may 
be filed using the process specified in the accompanying administrative regulation and exhibit. 
 
The district shall accept complaints concerning instructional materials only from staff, district residents, 
or the parents/guardians of childrenstudents enrolled in a district school. (Education Code 35160) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 243 clarifies when it is unlawful discrimination for the Governing 
Board to (1) refuse to approve the use of any textbook, instructional material, supplemental 
instructional material, or other curriculum for classroom instruction, or any book or other resource 
in a school library, or (2) prohibit the use of any textbook, instructional material, supplemental 
instructional material, or other curriculum for classroom instruction, or any book or other resource 
in a school library. The Board may not refuse to approve such use on the basis that the material 
includes a study of the role and contributions of specified individuals or groups, unless the study of the 
role and contributions reflects adversely upon legally protected groups. Additionally, the Board may 
not prohibit such use on the basis that the study of the role and contributions contain inclusive or 
diverse perspectives. In addition, pursuant to Education Code 244, as added by SB 153 (Ch. 38, 



Page 2 of 3 

 

Statutes of 2024), the Board is prohibited from adopting or approving the use of any textbook, 
instructional material, supplemental instructional material, or curriculum for classroom instruction 
if the use of the textbook, instructional material, supplemental instructional material, or curriculum 
would subject a student to unlawful discrimination pursuant to Education Code 220. 
 
Complaints alleging discrimination based on a violation of Education Code 243 or 244, as added by SB 
153, may be brought under the district's uniform complaint procedures or may be filed directly with 
the Superintendent of Public Instruction (SPI). Complaints that are filed directly with the SPI are 
required to identify the basis for doing so, and present evidence that supports the basis for the direct 
filing. In such cases, the SPI may directly intervene without waiting for an investigation by the 
district. See BP/AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures. 

 
However, a complaint related to the use or prohibited use of any existing textbook, instructional 
material, supplemental instructional material, or other curriculum for classroom instruction, or any book 
or other resource in a school library that alleges unlawful discrimination based on a violation of 
Education Code 243 or 244 shall be filed, investigated, and resolved in accordance with Board Policy 
1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures. 

 
CSBA NOTE: CDE's, "Guidance for Local Instructional Materials Adoptions," provides guidance 
regarding how to review instructional materials to ensure that they represent diverse perspectives and 
are culturally relevant. 
 
Additionally, the Attorney General's, "Guidance to School Officials re: Legal Requirements for 
Providing Inclusive Curricula and Books," provides guidance to districts regarding the obligation to 
provide curricula, instructional materials, and books that are inclusive and reflect the roles and 
contributions of our diverse population. 

 
When deliberating upon challenged materials, the Superintendent, or any designee or committee 
established by the Superintendent to review the materials, shall consider the degree to which the 
materials alignedalign with the criteria for instructional materials as specified in law, Board policy, and 
administrative regulation. In addition, such deliberations may consider the educational philosophy and 
vision of the district; the educational suitability of the materials including the manner in which the 
materials support the curriculum and appropriateness for the student's age; the professional opinions 
of teachers of the subject and of other competent authorities and/or experts; reviews of the materials 
by reputable bodies; the stated objectives in using the materials; community standards; the allegations in 
the complaint, including the extent to which the objections are based on the dislike of ideas contained 
in the materials; and the impact that keeping or removing the materials would have on student well-
being. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 243 clarifies that it is unlawful discrimination for the Board to 
prohibit the use of any textbook, instructional material, supplemental instructional material, or other 
curriculum for classroom instruction, or any book or other resource in a school library on the basis 
that it contains inclusive or diverse perspectives. Additionally, Education Code 244, as added by SB 
153, prohibits the Board from adopting or approving the use of any textbook, instructional material, 
supplemental instructional material, or curriculum for classroom instruction if the use would subject a 
student to unlawful discrimination pursuant to Education Code 220. 
 
While Education Code 243 and 244 are specifically applicable to boards, districts should assume that 
any similar decision by the Superintendent, designee, or any committee established by the 
Superintendent would likely constitute unlawful discrimination as well; see BP 6161.1 - Selection 
and Evaluation of Instructional Materials. 



Page 3 of 3 

 

 
The Superintendent, or any designee or committee established by the Superintendent to review the 
materials, shall not prohibit the continued use of an appropriately adopted textbook, instructional 
material, supplemental instructional material, or other curriculum for classroom instruction, or any book 
or other resource in a school library on the basis that it contains inclusive and/or diverse perspectives, 
as specified in Education Code 243. 
 
Additionally, the Superintendent, or any designee or committee established by the Superintendent to the 
review materials, shall not authorize the continued use of an adopted textbook, instructional material, 
supplemental instructional material, or curriculum for classroom instruction if the use would subject 
a student to unlawful discrimination pursuant to Education Code 220. 
 
If the complainant finds the Superintendent's or review committee's decision unsatisfactory, the 
complainant may appeal the decision to the Board. 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph limits reconsideration within a specified time period 
and should be modified to reflect district practice. 

 
Any challenged instructional material that is reviewed by the district shall not be subject to further 
reconsideration for 12 months, unless required by law. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 35186 details a specific process that districts must use to resolve 
complaints regarding sufficiency/availability of instructional materials or textbooks. See AR/E(1)/E(2) 
1312.4 - Williams Uniform Complaint Procedures. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 60119, boards are required to hold a public hearing annually regarding the 
sufficiency of instructional materials. If, at the public hearing, the Board makes a determination of 
"insufficient materials," Education Code 1240 requires the Board to take certain actions and 
specifies potential consequences for not remedying the deficiency as required by law; see BP 6161.1 
- Selection and Evaluation of Instructional Materials. 

 
Complaints related to the sufficiency of textbooks or instructional materials shall be resolved as 
specified in Administrative Regulation 1312.4 - Williams Uniform Complaint Procedures. 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: March 05, 2024 
revised: ??, 2025 





Page 1 of 2 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District & Sierra County Office of Education 

Community Relations 
Policy 1340: Access To District Records 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional policy and accompanying administrative regulation reflect 
requirements of the California Public Records Act (CPRA) (Government Code 7920.000 - 7930.215) 
pertaining to public access to public records of the district. "Public records," as defined by 
Government Code 7920.530, include any writing containing information relating to the conduct of 
the district's business prepared, owned, used, or retained by the district regardless of physical form or 
characteristics; see "Definitions" in the accompanying administrative regulation. For information 
regarding retention of records, see BP/AR 3580 - District Records, AR 4112.6/4212.6/4312.6 - 
Personnel Files, and BP/AR 5125 - Student Records. 
 
Because the rules and regulations surrounding CPRA disclosures are complex, it is recommended that 
districts with questions about an appropriate response to a CPRA request consult CSBA's District and 
County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel. 

 
The Governing Board of Education recognizes the right of members of the public to have access to 
public records of the district. The district shall provide any person reasonable access to the public 
records of the schools and district during normal business hours and within the requirements of 
law.  Public access shall not be given to records listed as exempt from public disclosure in the California 
Public Records Act and other state or federal law.  
 

CSBA NOTE: In City of San Jose v. Superior Court, the California Supreme Court held that 
communications regarding public business that have been sent, received, or stored by public officials 
on a personal account or device are not categorically exempt from disclosure under the CPRA. The 
court noted that public agencies are required to disclose all applicable records that can be located "with 
reasonable effort," including those records contained on a public official's or employee's personal 
device, regardless of whether they were transmitted through district servers. Such searches need not be 
extraordinarily extensive or intrusive. For further information, see CSBA's, "Legal Alert: Tips for 
Governing Boards in Response to Public Records Act Ruling on Electronic Communications." Also see 
AR 3580 - District Records, BP 4040 - Employee Use of Technology, and BB 9012 - Board Member 
Electronic Communications. 

 
In response to a public records request, the Superintendent or designee shall make reasonable efforts to 
locate the requested records, including, but not limited to, any electronic communication substantively 
related to the records, such as email, text messages, instant messages, and other electronic 
communications, regardless of whether they are transmitted through a district-provided device or account 
or through an employee's or Board member's personal device or account. 
 
The district may charge for copies of public records or other materials requested by individuals or groups, 
unless they are using their own personal equipment to reproduce the record.  The charge shall be based on 
actual costs of duplication, as determined by the Superintendent or designeein accordance with law and 
as specified in the accompanying administrative regulation. 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. 

 
In order to help maintain the security of district records, members of the public granted access shall 
examine records in the presence of a district staff member. 



Page 2 of 2 

 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007  
revised: June 13, 2017 
revised: July 14, 2020 
revised: ??, 2025 



Page 1 of 5 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District & Sierra County Office of Education 

Business and Noninstructional Operations 
Policy 3311: Bids 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 54202, districts are mandated to establish bidding 
procedures governing the purchase of equipment and supplies; this policy and the accompanying 
administrative regulation reflects the competitive bidding procedures applicable to these purchases. 
 
Additionally, Public Contract Code 20111 requires public contracts for the lease or purchase of 
equipment, materials, supplies, or services or for "public projects," as defined, to be competitively bid 
when they involve expenditure of specified amounts. 
 
An alternative procedure for public works projects is provided pursuant to the Uniform Public 
Construction Cost Accounting Act (UPCCAA) (Public Contract Code 22000-22045); for more 
information regarding UPCCAA see BP/AR 3311.1 - Uniform Public Construction Cost Accounting 
Procedures. Also see AR 3311.2 - Lease-Leaseback Contracts, AR 3311.3 - Design-Build Contracts, 
and AR 3311.4 - Procurement of Technological Equipment for procedures applicable to those 
contracts. 
 
Due to the complexities of the bid process, it is recommended that districts consult CSBA's District and 
County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel as appropriate. 

 
The Governing Board of Education is committed to promoting public accountability and ensuring 
prudent use of public funds. When leasing, purchasing, or contracting for equipment, materials, supplies, 
or services for the district, including when contracting for public projects involving district facilities, 
the Board shall explore lawful opportunities to obtain the greatest possible value for its expenditure of 
public funds. When required by law, or if the Board determines that it is in the best interest of the 
district, such contracts shall be made using competitive bidding.  
 
No work, project, service, or purchase shall be split or separated into smaller work orders or projects for 
the purpose of evading legal requirements for competitive bidding. (Public Contract Code 20116) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Requirements for competitive bidding, including notice and advertising, are specified in 
Public Contract Code 20110-20118.4. See "Instructions and Procedures for Advertised Bids," in the 
accompanying administrative regulation. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall establish comprehensive bidding procedures for the district in 
accordance with law.Government Code 54202, and that meet the requirements for bidding procedures 
specified in law. The procedures shall include a process for advertising bids, instructions and timelines 
for submitting and opening bids, and other relevant requirements. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Public Contract Code 20111.5, the district is permitted, but not required, 
to establish prequalification procedures for any contract for which bids are legally required; see 
"Prequalification Procedure" in the accompanying administrative regulation. However, pursuant to 
Public Contract Code 20111.6, a district with average daily attendance of 2,500 or greater is 
required to prequalify all general contractors and electrical, mechanical, and plumbing 
subcontractors for public projects of $1,000,000 or more, when the project uses state general funds, 
School Facilities Program funds (Education Code 17070.10-17079.30), or uses or is reimbursed from 
future state school bonds. A model prequalification questionnaire is available on the Department of 
Industrial Relations' website. 



Page 2 of 5 

 

 
For award of contracts which, by law or Board policy, require prequalification, the procedures shall 
identify a uniform system for rating bidders on the basis of a completed questionnaire and financial 
statements. 
 

CSBA NOTE: It is recommended that districts carefully craft bid specifications, as a misleading 
specification that results in a lower bid than might have been made may make the district liable for the 
extra work done or expenses incurred by the contractor. In Los Angeles Unified School District v. Great 
American Insurance Co., the California Supreme Court held in favor of a contractor who was misled by 
the district's nondisclosure of material information that would have affected the contractor's bid. 

 
When calling for bids, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure that the bid specifications clearly 
describe in appropriate detail the quality, delivery, and service required, and include all information of 
which the district knows, or has in its possession, that is relevant to the work to be performed or that 
may impact the cost of performing the work. 
 
Award of Contract 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Public Contract Code 20111, a contract required to be put out to bid must be 
awarded to the lowest responsible bidder. As defined in Public Contract Code 1103, a "responsible 
bidder" is one who has demonstrated the attribute of trustworthiness and possesses the quality, 
fitness, capacity, and experience to satisfactorily perform the proposed work. 
 
However, a bid may be awarded other than to only the lowest responsible bidder when conditions 
specified in law exist. 
 
Additionally, pursuant to Public Contract Code 6102, a contract is voidable if entered into in 
violation of a state or federal crime relating to bribery of a public official, including, but not limited 
to, a violation of Penal Code 68 or 86.  

 
Except as authorized by law, contractsContracts shall be let to the lowest responsible bidder who shall 
give such security as the Board requires, or else all bids shall be rejected. (Public Contract Code 
20111) 
 
However, the Board may let contracts to other than only the lowest responsible bidder in the following 
circumstances: 
 

1. When the contract is for the procurement and/or maintenance of electronic data processing 
systems and supporting software, in which case the Board may contract with any one of the 
three lowest responsible bidders (Public Contract Code 20118.1) 
 

2. When the contract is for any transportation service which involves an expenditure of more 
than $10,000 and which will be made with any person or corporation other than a common 
carrier, municipally owned transit system, or a parent/guardian of a student who is to be 
transported, in which case the Board may contract with other than the lowest bidder 
(Education Code 39802) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Public Contract Code 2000-2002, a district is permitted to establish 
bidding requirements that facilitate the participation of minority, women, disabled veteran, 
and small business enterprises in contracts. Though minorities and women are included in Public 
Contract Code 2000, Article 1, Section 31(a) of the California Constitution prohibits the 



Page 3 of 5 

 

granting of preferences based on race, sex, color, ethnicity, or national origin in state 
employment and contracting. It is recommended that the district consult CSBA's District and 
County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel with questions about the 
granting of preferences to any such business. 

3. When the contract is one for which the Board has established goals and requirements relating 
to participation of disabled veteran or small business enterprises in accordance with Public 
Contract Code 2000-2002, in which case the Board may contract with the lowest responsible 
bidder who submits a responsive bid and complies or makes a good faith effort to comply with 
the goals and requirements (Public Contract Code 2000- 2002) 
 

4. When procuring a lease-leaseback contract, in which case the Board shall award the contract 
based on objective criteria for determining the best combination of price and qualifications in 
accordance with Education Code 17400 and 17406 

 
CSBA NOTE: Districts may, in accordance with Education Code 17250.25, utilize the design-
build method of construction delivery. The repeal of Education Code 17250.55, pursuant to SB 
956 (Ch. 177, Statutes of 2024), has the effect of indefinitely extending the authorization for 
districts to use such method of construction delivery, which otherwise would have become 
inoperative January 1, 2025. Pursuant to Education Code 17250.15, "design-build" means a 
project delivery process in which both the design and construction of a project are procured 
from a single entity. 

5. When procuring a design-build contract for a public works project in excess of $1,000,000 in 
accordance with Education Code 17250.20, in which case the Board may award the contract to 
either the low bid or the best value to the district, taking into consideration, at a minimum, price, 
technical design and construction expertise, and life-cycle costs (Education Code 17250.20, 
17250.25) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 17250.60-17250.69, the district may, until January 1, 
2029, utilize alternative design-build contracts for public works projects in excess of $5,000,000. 
Pursuant to Education Code 17250.60, "alternative design-build" means a project delivery 
process in which both the design and construction of a project are procured from a single design-
build entity based on its proposed design cost, general conditions, overhead, and profit as a 
component of the project price. 
 
A contract for an alternative design-build project must be awarded to either the low bidder or the 
best value, and is subject to further negotiation and amendment pursuant to Education Code 
17250.65. Alternative design-build subcontracts are subject to an open book evaluation by the 
district and the district sets the price based on this open book evaluation. The alternative 
design-build contract may be subject to further negotiation or amendment, and if the district 
and the design-build entity are unable to reach an agreement, the district may terminate the 
contract. A district that utilizes the alternative design-build procurement method is required to 
submit, by January 1, 2028, a report to the Legislature, as specified in Education Code 17250.67. 
See AR 3311.3 - Design-Build Contracts for more information specific to design-build and 
alternative design-build projects. 

6. When procuring an alternative design-build contract for a public works project in excess of 
$5,000,000 in accordance with Education Code 17250.62, in which case the Board may award 
the contract to either the low bid or the best value, taking into consideration, at a minimum, 
design cost, general conditions, overhead, and profit as a component of the project price; 
technical design and construction expertise; and life-cycle costs (Education Code 17250.61, 
17250.62) 

 



Page 4 of 5 

 

Protests by Bidders 
 

CSBA NOTE: The law does not specify a procedure for handling protests by bidders. The following 
optional section provides one such procedure and should be modified to reflect district practice. 

 
If the bidder believes that the award is not in compliance with law, Board policy, administrative 
regulation, or the bid specification, the bidder may protest the award. A protest must be filed in 
writing with the Superintendent or designee within five working days after receipt of notification of 
the contract award and shall include all documents supporting or justifying the protest. A bidder's 
failure to file the protested documents in a timely manner shall constitute a waiver of the right to 
protest the award of the contract. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall review the documents submitted with the bidder's claims and render 
a decision in writing within 30 working days. The Superintendent or designee may also convene a 
meeting with the bidder in order to attempt to resolve the problem. 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph provides a process for appealing a bid award to the Governing 
Board. Although the law does not specify the notice to be given in this circumstance, it is 
recommended that the district give notice to the bidder at least three business days before the Board 
meeting where the appeal will be heard, which is reflected below, and may be modified to reflect 
district practice. 

 
The bidder may appeal the Superintendent or designee's decision to the Board. The Superintendent or 
designee shall provide notice to the bidder of the date and time for Board consideration of the protest 
at least three business days before the Board meeting. The Board's decision shall be final. 
 
Bids Not Required 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Public Contract Code 20118, districts may be exempt from the bidding 
requirements and may "piggyback" onto the bid of any public corporation or agency for specific items 
when the Board determines it is in the best interest of the district. 
 
The Attorney General opined, in 89 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 1, 2006, that a district may not rely on the 
piggyback exception to contract for the acquisition and installation of factory-built modular 
building components (i.e., roofs and walls) for installation on a permanent foundation. This opinion 
does not clearly address whether the piggyback exception applies to typical portable or relocatable 
single-classroom buildings, that lack a permanent foundation. However, in 2022 the State Allocation 
Board (SAB) notified districts that permanent modular school facilities must be competitively bid and 
districts that use piggyback contracts for permanent modular facilities are ineligible for state funding 
from SAB administered programs. It is recommended that districts considering using the piggyback 
process for modular facilities which are relocatable, portable, or temporary consult CSBA's District 
and County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel. 

 
When the Board has determined that it is in the best interest of the district, the district may piggyback 
onto the contract of another public agency or corporation to lease or purchase any personal property to 
the extent authorized by law., including the lease of data-processing equipment or the purchase of 
materials, supplies, equipment, automotive vehicles, tractors, and other personal property for the district 
in the manner that the other public corporation or agency is authorized to make the leases or 
purchases from a vendor. (Public Contract Code 20118) 
 
 



Page 5 of 5 

 

Alternatively, if the public corporation or agency has an existing contract with a vendor for the lease 
or purchase of personal property, the district may authorize the lease or purchase of personal property 
directly from the vendor and make payments under the same terms that are available to the public 
corporation or agency under the contract. (Public Contract Code 20118) 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph reflects the authority granted to public agencies 
pursuant to Government Code 4217.10-4217.18 to enter into energy service contracts without 
competitive bidding when the agency's governing body determines that the contract is in the best 
interest of the agency based on the "cost- benefit" analysis specified in Government Code 4217.12. 

 
Without advertising for bids, the Board may enter into an energy service contract and any related 
facility ground lease, when it determines that the terms of the contract and lease are in the best interest 
of the district and meet the cost effectiveness requirements specified in Government Code 4217.12. The 
Board's determination shall be made at a regularly scheduled public hearing of which notice is given to 
the public at least two weeks in advance and shall be based on a cost and saving comparison finding 
specified in Government Code 4217.12. (Government Code 4217.12) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Public Contract Code 20113, a district may award contracts without 
competitive bidding in emergency situations, as specified below. In Marshall v. Pasadena Unified 
School District, a court held that the definition of "emergency" in Public Contract Code 1102 is 
applicable. Public Contract Code 1102 defines "emergency" as a sudden, unexpected occurrence that 
poses a clear and imminent danger, requiring immediate action to prevent or mitigate the loss or 
impairment of life, health, property, or essential public services. 

 
In an emergency when any repairs, alterations, work, or improvement to any school facility is necessary 
to permit the continuance of existing school classes or to avoid danger to life or property, the Board 
may, by unanimous vote and with the approval of the County Superintendent of Schools, contract for 
labor and materials or supplies without advertising for or inviting bids or may authorize the use of day 
labor or force account for the emergency purpose. (Public Contract Code 1102, 20113) 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: October, 2013 
revised: June 14, 2016 
revised: March 14, 2017 
revised: ??, 2025 





Page 1 of 2 
**NEW** 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District & Sierra County Office of Education 

Business and Noninstructional Operations 
Policy 3311.1: Uniform Public Construction Cost Accounting Procedures 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional policy is for use by districts that elect to use an alternative 
procedure for awarding contracts for public works projects pursuant to the Uniform Public 
Construction Cost Accounting Act (UPCCAA) (Public Contract Code 22000-22045), which 
establishes a higher bid limit and a more informal bidding process for certain projects. See BP/AR 3311 
- Bids for traditional bidding procedures pursuant to Public Contract Code 20110-20118.4. 
Pursuant to Public Contract Code 22032, as amended by AB 2192 (Ch. 953, Statutes of 2024), projects 
of $75,000 or less may be performed by the district's own work force, projects of $220,000 or less 
may be contracted using a more informal bidding procedure as specified, and projects over 
$220,000 are required to be let to contract by formal bidding procedures. See the accompanying 
administrative regulation for related requirements. 
 
In order to participate in UPCCAA, Public Contract Code 22030 requires the Governing Board to adopt 
a resolution electing to use UPCCAA for district contracting and to notify the State Controller of 
that action. In the event of a conflict with any other provision of law relative to bidding procedures, 
UPCCAA applies for any district that has adopted a resolution and so notified the Controller. 
According to the California Uniform Construction Cost Accounting Commission's, "Frequently 
Asked Questions," available on its website, once the Board has adopted such a resolution, it can only 
withdraw from UPCCAA by adopting a resolution of the election to withdraw and filing that 
resolution with the State Controller. 

 
In awarding contracts for public works projects involving district facilities, the Governing Board desires 
to obtain the best value to the district and ensure the qualifications of contractors to complete the 
project in a satisfactory manner. The Board has, by resolution, adopted the procedures set forth in the 
Uniform Public Construction Cost Accounting Act (UPCCAA) pursuant to Public Contract Code 
22030-22045, including the informal bidding procedures when allowed by law. 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. In circumstances 
where the informal bidding procedure is authorized, Public Contract Code 22034 allows the Board to 
delegate the authority to award contracts to an appropriate district administrator. Additionally, 
Public Contract Code 22039 authorizes the Board to delegate the authority to adopt plans, 
specifications, and working details for projects subject to formal bidding procedures. 

 
The Board delegates to the Superintendent or designee the responsibilities to award any contract 
eligible for informal bidding procedures and to develop plans, specifications, and working details for all 
public projects requiring formal bidding procedures. 
 
No work, project, service, or purchase shall be split or separated into smaller work orders or projects for 
the purpose of evading legal requirements for competitive bidding. (Public Contract Code 22033) 
 
If after the first invitation of bids pursuant to informal or formal bidding procedures under UPCCAA 
all bids are rejected, the Board may, by passage of a resolution by four-fifths vote, declare the project can 
be performed more economically by the employees of the district. (Public Contract Code 22038) 
 
 
 



Page 2 of 2 
**NEW** 

CSBA NOTE: In electing to be subject to UPCCAA, the district agrees to follow the cost accounting 
procedures set forth in the, "Cost Accounting Policies and Procedures Manual of the California 
Uniform Construction Cost Accounting Commission," pursuant to Public Contract Code 22017 and 
22019. According to the Commission's, "Frequently Asked Questions," available on its website, 
districts may use the statewide Standardized Account Code Structure to comply with tracking 
requirements. 

 
Projects awarded through UPCCAA shall be subject to the cost accounting procedures established by the 
California Uniform Construction Cost Accounting Commission. (Public Contract Code 22030) 
 
Emergency Actions 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Public Contract Code 22035, a district may, in accordance with Public 
Contract Code 22050, replace or repair a school facility without going through the UPCCAA process in 
cases of emergency. Public Contract Code 1102 defines "emergency" as a "sudden, unexpected 
occurrence that poses a clear and imminent danger, requiring immediate action to prevent or mitigate 
the loss or impairment of life, health, property, or essential public services." 

 
When formal bids are required by law, but an emergency necessitates immediate repair or replacements, 
the Board may, upon a four-fifths vote of the Board, proceed to replace or repair a facility without 
adopting plans, specifications, strain sheets, or working details, or giving notice for bids to let contracts. 
The work may be done by day labor under the direction of the Board and/or contractor. The emergency 
action shall subsequently be reviewed by the Board in accordance with Public Contract Code 22050 and 
shall be terminated at the earliest possible date that conditions warrant, so that the remainder of the 
emergency action may be completed by giving notice for bids to let contracts. (Public Contract Code 
1102, 22035, 22050) 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: ??, 2025 



Page 1 of 7 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District & Sierra County Office of Education 

Business and Noninstructional Operations 
Policy 3312: Contracts 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following policy is mandated for districts that enter into a contract that (1) grants 
exclusive or nonexclusive sales or advertising for carbonated beverages, non-nutritious beverages, or 
non-nutritious foods, pursuant to Education Code 35182.5, or (2) is for digital storage, management, or 
retrieval of student records, or digital educational software that authorizes a third-party provider of 
digital educational software to access, store, and use student records, pursuant to Education Code 
49073.1. 
 
Several statutes authorize the Governing Board to contract for services, equipment, materials, and 
supplies on behalf of the district. Such statutes include, but are not limited to, Education Code 
17596, which allows a broad range of services to be performed under a "continuing contract" and 
Education Code 45103.5, which authorizes a contract for management consulting services relating to 
food service. 
 
Some contracts are subject to certain specific legal requirements which, if not complied with, may 
render the contract void or unenforceable. For instance, when contracting for the purchase of 
equipment, materials, or supplies in excess of the current bid limit ($114,800 for 2025), the district 
is required to seek competitive bids, pursuant to Public Contract Code 20111. Additionally, pursuant 
to Labor Code 1771.8, as added by SB 1303 (Ch. 991, Statutes of 2024), when contracting with a 
private labor compliance entity on a public works project, the private labor compliance entity is 
required to disclose a potential conflict of interest. See "Contracts for Non- nutritious Foods or 
Beverages," "Contracts for Electronic Products and Services," "Contracts for Digital Storage and 
Maintenance of Student Records," and "Contracts for Personal Services," below, for specific 
requirements and/or restrictions related to such contracts. See AR 3311.3 - Design-Build Contracts 
for information about design-build contracts for public works projects in excess of $1,000,000 and 
for alternative design-build projects in excess of $5,000,000. It is recommended that the district 
consult CSBA's District and County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel when 
questions arise about legal requirements for specific contracts. 

 
The Governing Board recognizes its responsibility to enter into contracts on behalf of the district for 
the acquisition of equipment, supplies, services, and other resources necessary for the achievement of 
district goals. In exercising this authority to enter into a contract, the Board shall ensure that the 
district's interest isinterests are protected, and that the terms of the contract conform to any applicable 
legal standards, including the, but not limited to, bidding requirements in Public Contract Code 20111.  
 

CSBA NOTE: When entering into a contract, a district is required to comply with California's 
conflict of interest laws, including, but not limited to, Government Code 1090 (financial interest in a 
contract), Government Code 87100-87500 (Political Reform Act), and Government Code 84308 
(conflict of interest from campaign contributions). The violation of any of these laws could result in 
cancelation of the contract and, in certain cases, the Board members and/or district officials 
implicated could be subject to civil and criminal penalties. For example, pursuant to Government 
Code 84308, as amended SB 1243 (Ch. 1017, Statutes of 2024), Board members are prohibited from 
participating in decisions involving parties who have provided campaign contributions of more than 
$500 in the prior 12 months. Additionally, pursuant to Public Contract Code 6102, a contract is 
voidable if entered into in violation of a state or federal crime relating to bribery of a public 
official, including, but not limited to, a violation of Penal Code 68 or 86. 
 



Page 2 of 7 

 
Additionally, Government Code 1097.6 clarifies that an independent contractor is not considered to 
be an "officer" and thereby not subject to the restrictions of Government Code 1090 when the 
district enters into a contract with an independent contractor to perform one phase of a project and 
later seeks to enter into a subsequent contract with that same independent contractor for another 
phase of the same project if the independent contractor's duties and services related to the initial 
contract did not include engaging in or advising on public contracting on behalf of the district. 
 
For more information related to the policy on conflict of interest, see BB 9270 - Conflict of Interest. 

 
In addition, Board members and district employees involved in the making of contracts on behalf of the 
district shall comply with applicable law and the district's conflict of interest policy, as specified in 
Board Bylaw 9270 - Conflict of Interest. 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to specify any desired limits to the 
delegation of authority to enter into contracts on behalf of the district. Pursuant to Education Code 
35161, the Board may delegate any of its, or the district's, powers or duties authorized by law to an 
officer or employee of the district. However, the Board retains ultimate responsibility over the 
performance of such powers and duties. Additionally, pursuant to Education Code 17604 and 17605, 
the Board may adopt a rule delegating to any officer or employee the authority to purchase supplies, 
materials, apparatus, equipment, and services. The Board's rule is required to describe the limits of the 
delegation by prescribing time, money, and subject matter limits. The amount delegated may not be in 
excess of the amounts specified in Public Contract Code 20111, with any expenditures over those 
amounts required to be competitively bid. See BP 3300 - Expenditures and Purchases for language 
delegating the purchasing authority and setting the maximum limit. 

 
The Board may, by a majority vote, delegate to the Superintendent or designee the authority to enter 
into contracts on behalf of the district. To be valid or to constitute an enforceable obligation against the 
district, all such contracts must be approved and/or ratified by the Board. 
 
Every contract entered into on behalf of the district shall be made available for public inspection, except 
when the law prohibits disclosure.  (Education Code 17604, 17605, 35161) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 7928.801, any executed contract for the purchase of 
goods or services by the district, including the price and terms of payment, is a public record subject to 
disclosure under the California Public Records Act. Because other state and/or federal law may also be 
applicable when contracting for goods or services outside of California or pursuant to federal law, it is 
recommended that districts with questions about such contracts consult CSBA's District and County 
Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel. 

 
Unless otherwise exempt from disclosure under state or federal law, executed contracts for the purchase 
of goods or services, even if the contract contains provisions specifying that the contract is 
confidential or a proprietary record of the vendor, are public records to which members of the public 
shall have access. (Government Code 7928.801) 
 
No contract shall prohibit a district employee from disparaging the goods or services of any contracting 
party. (Education Code 35182.5) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 1771.8, as added by SB 1303, if the district utilizes a private 
labor compliance entity, that entity is required to submit a signed declaration under penalty of perjury 
verifying that it has no conflicts of interest. Pursuant to Labor Code 1771.8, as added by SB 1303, a 
violation of the conflict of interest provisions by a private labor compliance entity would void a 



Page 3 of 7 

contract between the parties and subject the private labor compliance entity to specified civil fines 
and fees. Because Labor Code 1771.8 does not apply to the Los Angeles Unified School District 
(LAUSD), LAUSD should delete the following four paragraphs. 

 
If the district utilizes a private labor compliance entity, the Superintendent or designee shall verify that 
the entity does not have a conflict of interest. (Labor Code 1771.8) 
 
A private labor compliance entity is a third-party company hired by a district to perform labor compliance 
and enforcement activities on public works projects on the district's behalf. (Labor Code 1771.8) 
 
A conflict of interest is a situation in which a private labor compliance entity performs labor compliance 
work under contract for both the district and a contractor who is bidding a public works project for the 
district. (Labor Code 1771.8) 
 
If the district's private labor compliance entity seeks to respond to an alleged conflict of interest, the 
Superintendent or designee shall confer with the entity and/or the contractor regarding the applicable 
contracts and relevant public works law. (Labor Code 1771.8) 
 
Contracts for Non-Nutritious Foods or Beverages 
 

CSBA NOTE: Foods and beverages that do not meet nutritional standards specified in law may not be 
sold in schools except under limited circumstances; see BP/AR 3554 - Other Food Sales for more 
information regarding food sales outside the district's food service program. Schools that do not 
participate in the National School Lunch or Breakfast program are required to comply with the 
nutritional standards in Education Code 49431-49431.7, 5 CCR 15500-15501, and 15575-15578, from 
one-half hour before the school day to one-half hour after it. Schools that participate in the National 
School Lunch or Breakfast program are required to comply with the stricter of the nutritional standards 
in Education Code 49431-49431.7, 7 CFR 210.11, and 220.12, between midnight before and one-half 
hour after the end of the school day. 

 
The district shall not enter into or renew a contract for the sale of foods or beverages that do not meet 
applicable nutritional standards specified in Education Code 49431-49431.7, 5 CCR 15500-15501 or 
15575-15578, or 7 CFR 210.11 or 220.12, unless the contract specifies that such sale will occur off 
campus or outside the time restriction specified in the applicable law. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 35182.5, the district may not enter into a contract that grants 
exclusive or nonexclusive sales or advertising for carbonated beverages, non-nutritious beverages, or 
non-nutritious foods unless the Board holds a public hearing and, as mandated, adopts policy that 
ensures that internal controls are in place to protect the integrity of public funds, that the funds raised 
will benefit public education, and that the contracts are entered into on a competitive basis. 

 
Before the district enters into or renews a contract that grants exclusive or nonexclusive advertising or 
sale of carbonated beverages, non-nutritious beverages, or non-nutritious foods as defined in law, the 
Board shall ensure that the district has sufficient internal controls in place to protect the integrity of 
public funds and to ensure that funds raised as a result of the contract benefit public education. 
(Education Code 35182.5) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 35182.5 does not define the term "internal controls." Items #1-2 below 
are based on suggested "internal controls" as recommended by the Fiscal Crisis Management Assistance 
Team (FCMAT) and should be modified to reflect the specific internal controls developed by the 
district. 

 



Page 4 of 7 

The Superintendent or designee shall develop the district's internal control procedures to protect the 
integrity of public funds. Such internal controls may include, but are not be limited to, the following: 
 

1. Procedures that produce accurate and reliable financial statements and, at the same time, 
safeguard the assets, financial resources, and integrity of every employee responsible for 
handling money or property.  
 
Control systems shall be systematically evaluated and revised to keep pace with the changing 
responsibilities of management. 
 

2. Procedures to ensure that district personnel do not handle cash or product at the school site.  
The contract shall specify that the vendor stock the machines and shall provide cash accounting, 
along with a check, for district proceeds directly to the control office. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Optional Items #1-4 below are not required by law, but present additional factors for 
the Board to consider to help ensure that the funds raised benefit public education in accordance with 
Education Code 35182.5. The following list should be modified to reflect district practice. 

 
To ensure that funds raised by the contract benefit district schools and students:  
 

1. The Superintendent or designee may invite parents/guardians, students, staff, and interested 
community members to make recommendations regarding the contract, including 
recommendations as to how the funds will be spent in a manner that benefits public education. 
 

2. Prior to ratifying the contract, the Board shall designate the specific programs and activities that 
will be funded by the proceeds of the contract and consider how the contract reflects the 
district's vision and goals. 
 

3. The contract shall specify that the contractor report, on a quarterly basis, to the Superintendent or 
designee the number of food items or beverages sold within the district and the amount of 
money raised by the sales.  
 
The Superintendent or designee shall report these amounts to the Board on a regular basis. 
 

4. The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that the contract does not limit the ability of student 
and parent organizations to plan and operate fundraising activities. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 35182.5 mandates the Board to adopt policy to ensure that the contract 
is entered into on a competitive basis pursuant to Public Contract Code 20111 or through the 
issuance of a Request for Proposal. Public Contract Code 20111 requires districts to seek 
competitive bids through advertisements for contracts or services exceeding an amount specified in 
law. For a detailed procedure for the bidding of contracts, see AR 3311 - Bids. 

 
Any contract for the sale or advertisement of non-nutritious foods or carbonated or non-nutritious 
beverages shall be entered into on a competitive bid basis pursuant to Public Contract Code 20111 or 
through the issuance of a Request for Proposal. (Education Code 35182.5) 
 
The Board shall not enter into or renew any contract that grants exclusive or nonexclusive advertising or 
sale of carbonated beverages, non-nutritious beverages, on non-nutritious foods until parents/guardians, 
students, and members of the public have had an opportunity to comment on the contract at a public 
hearing held during a regularly scheduled Board meeting. The Board shall clearly, and in a manner 
recognizable to the general public, identify in the agenda the contract to be discussed at the meeting. 



Page 5 of 7 

(Education Code 35182.5) 
 
The public hearing shall include, but not be limited to, a discussion of the nutritional value of foods 
and beverages sold within the district; the availability of fresh fruit, vegetables, and grains in school 
meals and snacks, including locally grown and organic produce; the amount of fat, sugar, and additives 
in the foods and beverages discussed; and barriers to student participation in school breakfast and lunch 
programs. (Education Code 35182.5) 
 
The contract shall be a public record and shall be accessible to the public and. The district may not 
include a confidentiality clause that would prevent the district or a district school from making any 
part of the contract public. (Education Code 35182.5) 
 
Contracts for Electronic Products or Services 
 
The Board shall not enter into a contract for electronic products or services that requires the dissemination 
of advertising to students, unless the Board: (Education Code 35182.5)  and may not enforce any such 
clause included by a contracting party. (Education Code 35182.5; Government Code 7928.801) 
 
Contracts for Electronic Products or Services 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 35182.5 prohibits districts or schools from entering into contracts for 
electronic products or services that require dissemination of advertising to students, unless the 
following conditions are satisfied. This section should be modified to reflect any additional 
requirements included by the Board. 

 
The Board shall not enter into a contract for electronic products or services that requires the dissemination 
of advertising to students, unless the Board: (Education Code 35182.5) 
 

1. Enters into the contract at a noticed, public hearing of the Board. 
 

2. Makes a finding that the electronic product or service is or would be an integral component of 
the education of students. 
 

3. Makes a finding that the district cannot afford to provide the electronic product or service 
unless it contracts to permit dissemination of advertising to students. 
 

4. As part of the district's normal, ongoing communication to parents/guardians, provides written 
notice that the advertising will be used in the classroom or other learning center.centers 
 

5. Offers parents/guardians the opportunity to request in writing that their childthe student not be 
exposed to the program that contains the advertising.  
 
A request shall be honored for the school year in which it is submitted, or longer if specified, 
but may be withdrawn by the parents/guardians at any time. 

 
Contracts for Digital Storage and Maintenance of Student Records 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 49073.1, the Board is mandated to adopt policy when the 
district chooses to enter into a contract with a third party to provide services specified in the 
following section. 

 
The district may enter into or renew a contract with a third party for the purpose of providing 



Page 6 of 7 

services, including cloud-based services, for the digital storage, management, and retrieval of student 
records and/or to provide digital educational software that authorizes a third-party provider of digital 
educational software to access, store, and use student records. For these purposes, student records 
include any information maintained by the district that is directly related to a student and any 
information acquired directly from the student through the use of instructional software or 
applications assigned to the student by a teacher or other district employee, and do not include de- 
identified information. (Education Code 49073.1) 
 
Any such contract shall contain all of the following: (Education Code 49073.1) 
 

1. A statement that student records continue to be the property of and under the control of the 
district 
 

2. If applicable, a description of the means by which students may retain possession and control 
of their own student-generated content, as defined in Education Code 49073.1, including options 
by which a student may transfer student-generated content to a personal account 
 

3. A prohibition against the third party using any information in the student record for any 
purpose other than those required or specifically permitted by the contract 
 

4. A description of the procedures by which a parent/guardian or a student age 18 years or older 
may review personally identifiable information in the student's records and correct erroneous 
information 
 

5. A description of the actions the third party will take, including the designation and training of 
responsible individuals, to ensure the security and confidentiality of student records 
 

6. A description of the procedures for notifying the affected parent/guardian, or the affected 
student if age 18 years or older, in the event of an unauthorized disclosure of the student's 
records 
 

7. A certification that a student's records shall not be retained or available to the third party upon 
completion of the terms of the contract and a description of how that certification will be 
enforced, except that these requirements shall not apply to student-generated content if the 
student chooses to establish or maintain an account with the third party for the purpose of 
storing that content 
 

8. A description of how the district and the third party will jointly ensure compliance with the 
federal Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 20 USC 1232g 
 

9. A prohibition against the third party using personally identifiable information in student 
records to engage in targeted advertising 

 
Contracts for Personal Services 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is applicable when the district chooses to contract for 
personal services that are currently or customarily performed by its classified employees. Pursuant to 
Education Code 45103.1, such a contract may be entered into or renewed by the district in order to 
achieve cost savings, but only if the contract (1) is awarded through a publicized, competitive bidding 
process, (2) does not result in displacement of district employees (layoff, demotion, involuntary 
transfer to a new classification, involuntary transfer to a new location requiring a change of 
residence, or time base reductions), and (3) meets other specified conditions. 



Page 7 of 7 

 
In order to achieve cost savings, the district may enter into or renew a contract for any personal 
service that is currently or customarily performed by classified employees, if the contract does not 
displace school district employees and meets other conditions specified in Education Code 45103.1. To 
enter into or renew such a contract, the Board shall ensure that the district meets the numerous 
conditions specified in Education Code 45103.1. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 45103.1 permits personal service contracts that do not meet the 
conditions specified in the above paragraph so long as the circumstances listed below exist. 

 
In addition, the district may enter into or renew any contract for personal service without meeting the 
conditions described above, if any of the following conditions existsexist: (Education Code 45103.1)  
 

1. The contract is for new district functions and the Legislature has specifically mandated or 
authorized the performance of the work by independent contractors 
 

2. The services contracted are not available within the district, cannot be performed satisfactorily by 
district employees, or are of such a highly specialized or technical nature that the necessary 
expert knowledge, experience, and ability are not available through the district 
 

3. The services are incidental to a contract for the purchase or lease of real or personal property, 
including, but not be limited to, agreements to service or maintain office equipment or 
computers that are leased or rented 
 

4. The district's policy, administrative, or legal goals and purposes cannot be accomplished through 
the utilization of persons selected pursuant to the regular or ordinary district hiring process 
 

5. The nature of the work is such that the criteria for emergency appointments, as defined in 
Education Code 45103.1, apply 
 

6. The contractor will provide equipment, materials, facilities, or support services that could not 
feasibly be provided by the district in the location where the services are to be performed 
 

7. The services are of such an urgent, temporary, or occasional nature that the delay that would 
result from using the district's regular or ordinary hiring process would frustrate their very 
purpose 

 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: May 12, 2015 
revised: October 10, 2023 
revised: ??, 2025 





Page 1 of 3 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District & Sierra County Office of Education 

Business and Noninstructional Operations 
Policy 3516.5: Emergency Schedules 

 

 
In order to provide for the safety of students and staff, the Governing Board authorizes the 
Superintendent or designee to close a school site, change the regular school day schedule, or take any 
necessary action when hazardous environmental, health, or weather conditions, or other emergencies, 
warrant.  
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 41422 and 46392, a district may apply to the 
Superintendent of Public Instruction to obtain apportionment credit for days and minutes lost due to 
emergency closure and material decreases in attendance due to emergency events such as a fire, flood, 
impassable roads, epidemic, earthquake, imminence of a major safety hazard, strike involving 
transportation services to students provided by a nonschool entity, other "extraordinary condition", or, 
as amended by SB 1429 (Ch. 477, Statutes of 2024), snowstorms, so that it may receive full average 
daily attendance apportionment. 

 
When an emergency condition causes a school closure, reduction in attendance, or change in schedule 
pursuant to Education Code 41422 or 46392, thereby preventing the district from complying with the 
minimum number of instructional days or minutes required by law, the Superintendent or designee 
shall complete and submit to the Superintendent of Public Instruction (SPI) the necessary forms 
and/or affidavits for obtaining approval of apportionment credit for the days of the closure, reduction in 
attendance, or change in schedule.  The Superintendent or designee shall submit other relevant district 
records as may be required. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 46393, as amended by SB 153 (Ch. 38, Statutes of 2024) and AB 176 
(Ch. 998, Statutes of 2024), requires districts submitting affidavits regarding emergency events 
occurring after September 1, 2021 but before July 1, 2026, to certify that the district has a plan for 
offering independent study to impacted students within 10 instructional days of the first day of a 
school closure or material decrease in attendance. For events occurring on or after July 1, 2026, 
Education Code 46393, as amended by SB 153 and AB 176, requires districts to certify that the 
district's comprehensive safety plan includes an instructional continuity plan, and that the district 
offered student engagement and instruction consistent with the instructional continuity plan, or 
certify that it did not do so due to extenuating circumstances. 

 
For school closures or material decreases in attendance due to emergency events that occur between 
September 2, 2021 and June 30, 2026, the Superintendent or designee shall certify in the affidavit 
submitted to the SPI that the district has a plan for offering independent study within 10 instructional 
days of the school closure to any student impacted by the emergency condition.  The plan shall also 
address the establishment, within a reasonable time, of independent study master agreements as specified 
in BPBoard Policy 6158 - Independent Study.  The plan shall, and require reopening in person as soon as 
possible once allowable under the direction from the city or county health officer.  The  (Education 
Code 46393) 
 
For school closures or material decreases in attendance due to emergency events occurring on or after 
July 1, 2026, the Superintendent or designee shall certify that the district has a plan for independent 
study in in the affidavit submitted to the SPI pursuant to Education Code 46392. that the district's 
comprehensive safety plan includes an instructional continuity plan, and that the district offered student 
engagement and instruction consistent with the instructional continuity plan, or that it did not do so 
due to extenuating circumstances. (Education Code 46393) 



Page 2 of 3 

 
CSBA NOTE: Vehicle Code 34501.6 mandates the Governing Board of any district that provides 
student transportation to adopt procedures that limit the home-to-school operation of school buses 
when atmospheric conditions reduce visibility to 200 feet or less; see AR 3543 - Transportation Safety 
and Emergencies for language implementing this mandate. The following optional paragraph may be 
revised to reflect district practice. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall establish a system for informing students and parents/guardians 
when with timely notice in advance of any changes to the school day, a school closure, or if school buses 
are not operating as scheduled, the school day schedule is changed, or the school is closed.  . The 
district's notification system shall include, but is not limited to, notifying local television, streaming 
services, and/or radio stations,; posting on district web sitewebsite(s),) and/or social media account(s); 
sending email and text messages,; and/or making telephone calls. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Public Utilities Code 2874, as amended by AB 2905 (Ch. 316, Statutes of 
2024), when a district or school uses an automatic dialing-announcing device, the person making calls 
and operating the device is required, prior to operating the device, to personally make an unrecorded, 
natural voice announcement to those being called which (1) states the nature of the call and the name, 
address, and telephone number of the district or school, (2) inquires whether the person called consents 
to hear the prerecorded message of the person calling, and (3) informs the person if the prerecorded 
message uses an artificial voice. Districts and schools are required to disconnect the device from the 
telephone line upon the termination of the call. 

 
When the district makes any notification to students and/or parents/guardians utilizing an automatic 
dialing- announcing device, the device shall be operated by a person who shall follow all procedures 
required by law prior to operating the device, and disconnect the device from the telephone line upon 
the termination of the call. (Public Utilities Code 2874) 
 
Whenever the school day schedule changes after students have arrived at school, the Superintendent or 
designee shall ensure that students are supervised in accordance with the procedures specified in the 
district's emergency and disaster preparedness plan. 
 
Board Policy/Administrative Regulation 3516 - Emergencies and Disaster Preparedness Plan. 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is for districts that provide a means for students to make up lost 
instructional time due to an emergency and may be revised to reflect district practice. Pursuant to 
Education Code 46211, as added by SB 153, a district may, beginning July 1, 2025, implement 
attendance recovery programs for students in grades transitional kindergarten-12 to make up lost 
instructional time and offset absences due to emergency events, for up to 10 days of attendance in a 
school year or the number of absences a student accrued in that school year, whichever is less. A 
student's participation in an attendance recovery program may not be compulsory or punitive. 
Attendance recovery programs may be operated before or after school, on weekends, or during 
intersessional periods. However, Education Code 46210, as added by SB 153, expresses legislative 
intent that access to instruction as part of a regular instructional program is the preferred method of 
student learning and that the availability of attendance recovery should not discourage districts that 
regularly experience school closures from maintaining school calendars of greater than 180 days to 
maximize instruction in the regular instructional program. For more information regarding attendance 
recovery programs, see BP/AR 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy. 

 



Page 3 of 3 

The Superintendent or designee may provide a means to make up lost instructional time later during the 
year.  Students and parents/guardians shall receive timely notice in advance of any resulting changes in 
the school calendar or school day schedule. 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: July 12, 2011 
revised: October 12, 2021 
revised: ??, 2025 





Page 1 of 4 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District & Sierra County Office of Education 

Business and Noninstructional Operations 
Policy 3580: District Records 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional policy and accompanying administrative regulation address the 
classification and retention of district records pursuant to 5 CCR 16020-16027 and may be revised 
to reflect district practice. For more information about personnel records, including the contents and 
retention of such records pursuant to 5 CCR 16023, see AR 4112.6/4212.6/4312.6 - Personnel Files. 
For additional requirements pertaining to student records, including the contents and retention of such 
records pursuant to Education Code 49069.7, 5 CCR 430-438, and the Family Educational Rights and 
Privacy Act (20 USC 1232g and 34 CFR 99.1-99.8), see BP/AR 5125 - Student Records. For 
requirements pertaining to public access to certain records in accordance with the California Public 
Records Act (CPRA) (Government Code 7920.000 - 7930.215), see BP/AR 1340 - Access to District 
Records and BB 9012 - Board Member Electronic Communications. 

 
The Governing Board of Education recognizes the importance of securing and retaining district 
documents. The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that district records are developed, maintained, 
and disposed of in accordance with law, Board policy, and administrative regulation.  
 

CSBA NOTE: 5 CCR 16020 defines a "record" as any document which the district is required by law to 
prepare or retain or which the district prepares or retains as necessary to the discharge of official duty. 5 
CCR 16022 requires the Superintendent or designee to annually review and classify these records in 
order to determine the length of time for which they must be retained. Depending on their content, 
electronic communications such as email, voicemail, and text messages may also be considered 
"records" and thus are subject to the same classification and retention schedule as paper documents. 
 
Code of Civil Procedure 1985.8 (the California Electronic Discovery Act) and Code of Civil 
Procedure 2031.010 describe the procedural rules requiring the disclosure of documents to the 
opposing party in litigation applicable to electronically stored information. These state statutes are 
similar to federal Rules of Civil Procedure that apply to actions in federal courts and which also 
include provisions related to electronically stored information. In general, the rules require parties in 
litigation to identify and disclose potentially relevant electronic information and, upon notification 
by district legal counsel of pending or anticipated litigation, halt the routine destruction of paper or 
electronic records (e.g., suspend automatic monthly erasure of back-up tapes) that could be potentially 
relevant (a "litigation hold"). 
 
It is important that districts have an efficient and consistent system in place for discarding those 
documents, including email, that are not considered "records." Such a system may help reduce storage 
costs and prevent unnecessary disclosure. For example, Government Code 7927.500 exempts from 
disclosure "preliminary drafts" not retained by the district. The purpose of this exemption is to allow 
a measure of confidentiality for pending district action. However, if preliminary drafts are not 
regularly discarded, then they may be considered a "record" that has been retained by the district and 
thus subject to disclosure under the CPRA. 
 
The following optional paragraph, which may be revised to reflect district practice, directs the 
Superintendent or designee to create a document management system which includes a process for the 
storage and destruction of electronic materials. Each district will need to do an analysis of the type of 
system needed based on the size of the district, number of school sites, number of employees, and the 
type, practice, and capability of the district's information technology system. It is recommended that 
districts with questions about records retention requirements consult CSBA's District and County 
Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel. 



Page 2 of 4 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall consult with district legal counsel, site administrators, district 
information technology staff, personnel department staff, and others as necessary to develop a secure 
document management system that provides for the storage, retrieval, archiving, and destruction of 
district documents, including electronically stored information such as email. This document 
management system shall be designed to comply with state and federal laws regarding security of 
records, record retention and destruction, response to "litigation hold" discovery requests, and the 
recovery of records in the event of a disaster or emergency. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 8586.5, the California Cybersecurity Integration Center 
(CSIC) serves as the central organizing hub of the state government's cybersecurity preparedness and 
response activities. Government Code 8586.5 requires CSIC to coordinate cyber intelligence and 
information sharing with specified public and private entities, and, as amended by AB 1023 (Ch. 555, 
Statutes of 2023), requires such sharing of information, including cyber threat information, with school 
districts. Government Code 11549.3 authorizes districts, at district expense, to request the Military 
Department, in consultation with CSIC, to perform an independent security assessment of the district or 
individual district school. Districts are encouraged to consult with the California Office of Emergency 
Services and utilize resources such as the State Threat Assessment System and Regional Fusion 
Centers to help assess potential threats. 
 
Additionally, in an effort to enhance cybersecurity across K-12 schools, the U.S. Department of 
Education and the Cybersecurity and Infrastructure Security Agency launched the Government 
Coordinating Council for the Education Facilities Subsector in 2024. Districts who meet the federal 
universal service discounts for Internet access (E-rate discounts) eligibility requirements may be eligible 
for funding to purchase cybersecurity services and equipment through the Federal Communications 
Commission's Schools and Libraries Cybersecurity Pilot Program. The State Educational Technology 
Directors Association's 2023 guidance, "Small Districts, Big Hurdles: Cybersecurity Support for Small, 
Rural, and Under-resourced Districts," provides additional information regarding the use of leadership 
development, partnership building, vulnerability assessment, and staff training to enhance cybersecurity 
readiness.  

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure the confidentiality of records as required by law and shall 
establish regulations to safeguard data against damage, loss, or theft., including damage, loss, or theft 
which may be caused by cybersecurity breaches. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that employees receive information about the district's 
document management system, including retention and confidentiality requirements and an employee's 
obligations in the event of a litigation hold or California Public Records Act request established on the 
advice of legal counsel. 
 
 Additionally, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure that employees receive information and 
training about cybersecurity, including ways to protect district records from breaches to the district's 
digital infrastructure. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Civil Code 1798.29, districts are required to disclose any breach of security 
of any records that contain personal information, as defined. The required formatting and contents of 
the notification are detailed in Civil Code 1798.29. A district may maintain its own notification 
procedure as part of an information security policy provided that the notification is consistent with 
the requirements in Civil Code 1798.29 regarding timing of the notification. 
 
Additionally, pursuant to Education Code 35266, districts that experience a cyberattack, as defined, 
which impacts more than 500 students or personnel, are required to report such cyberattack to CSIC. 

 



Page 3 of 4 

If the district discovers or is notified that a breach ofin the security of district records containing 
unencrypted personal information has occurredresulted in the release of personal information, the 
Superintendent or designee shall notify every individual whose personal information was, or is 
reasonably believed to have been, acquired by an unauthorized person. , if that information was either 
unencrypted or encrypted under the circumstances specified in Civil Code 1798.29. "Personal 
information" includes, but is not limited to, a social security number, driver's license or identification 
card number, medical information, health insurance information, or an account number in 
combination with an access code or password that would permit access to a financial account. (Civil 
Code 1798.29) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide the notice in a timely manner either in writing or 
electronically, unless otherwise provided in law. The notice shall include the material specified in Civil 
Code 1798.29, be formatted as required, and be distributed in a timely manner, consistent with the 
legitimate needs of law enforcement to conduct an uncompromised investigation or any measures 
necessary to determine the scope of the breach and restore reasonable integrity of the data system. 
(Civil Code 1798.29) 
 
If the district experiences a cyberattack that impacts more than 500 students or personnel, the 
Superintendent or designee shall report the cyberattack to the California Cybersecurity Integration 
Center. (Education Code 35266) 
 
Safe at Home Program 
 

CSBA NOTE: The Safe at Home address confidentiality program has been in existence pursuant to 
Government Code 6205-6210 and 6215-6216 to protect victims of domestic violence, sexual assault, 
stalking, human trafficking, and elder or dependent adult abuse, and members of their households, as 
well as district employees who face threats of violence, or violence or harassment from the public 
because of the employee's work for the district. This type of protection has been extended to district 
employees and Governing Board members who face threats of violence, or violence or harassment 
from the public because of the employee's work for the district, and, pursuant to Government Code 
6205-6210, as amended by AB 243 (Ch. 642, Statutes of 2023), to victims of child abduction and 
members of their households. Government Code 6207 provides that, when creating a public record, the 
district may not include actual residences of students, parents/guardians, or employees when a substitute 
address is designated through the Safe at Home program. 

 
District public records shall not include the actual addresses of students, parents/guardians, or employees 
when a substitute address is designated by the Secretary of State pursuant to the Safe at Home program. 
(Government Code 6206, 6207) 
 

CSBA NOTE: According to the Secretary of State, a participant's confidential, actual address may only 
be used to establish student enrollment eligibility and for school emergency purposes. Pursuant to 
Government Code 6207, a participant's confidential, actual address is not a public record and should 
not be made available to anyone under any circumstances. For more information regarding 
establishing district residency when a student or parent/guardian is participating in the Safe at 
Home/Confidential Address Program, see AR 5111.1 - District Residency. 

 
When a substitute address card is provided pursuant to this program, the confidential, actual address may 
be used only to establish district residency requirements for enrollment and for school emergency 
purposes. 
 
Records containing a participant's confidential address information shall be kept in a confidential location 
and not shared with the public. 
 



Page 4 of 4 

 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION  
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: December 13, 2011 
revised: June 14, 2016 
revised: ??, 2025 



Page 1 of 5 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District & Sierra County Office of Education 

Personnel 
Policy 4151~4251~4351: Employee Compensation 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: Districts that include provisions related to employee compensation in their collective 
bargaining agreements should modify or delete the following optional policy accordingly. 

 
In order to recruit and retain employees committed to the district's goals for student learning, the 
Governing Board recognizes the importance of offering a competitive compensation package whichthat 
includes salaries and health and welfare benefits. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 45023 and 45162 require the Governing Board to adopt salary 
schedules for certificated and classified employees, respectively. For districts operating under a merit 
system, Education Code 45268 specifies that the personnel commission will recommend a salary 
schedule for classified employees to the Board for approval and that the Board may not amend the 
schedule without first giving the commission a reasonable opportunity to respond to the 
amendments. 

 
The Board shall adopt separate salary schedules for certificated, classified, and supervisory and 
administrative personnel. These schedules shall that comply with law and applicable collective bargaining 
agreements and shall be printed and made available for review at the district office.. (Education Code 
45022, 45023, 45160, 45162, 45268) 
 
Each certificated employee, except an employee in an administrative or supervisory position, shall be 
classified on the salary schedule on the basis of uniform allowance for education level and years of 
experience, unless the Board and employee organization negotiate and mutually agree to a salary schedule 
based on different criteria. Certificated employees shall not be placed in different classifications on the 
schedule, nor paid different salaries, solely on the basis of the grade levels at which they teach. 
(Education Code 45028) 
 
Salary schedules for staff who are not a part of a bargaining unit shall be determined by the Board at the 
recommendation of the Superintendent or designee. 
 
The salary schedules adopted by the Board shall determine the frequency be printed and schedule of 
salary payments, including whether payments for employees who work less than 12 months per year will 
be made over the course of available for review at the district office. (Education Code 45023) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 42238.016, as added by AB 938 (Ch. 345, Statutes of 2024), 
districts are required, beginning January 31, 2026, to annually complete the Salary and Benefit 
Schedule for Bargaining Units (Form J-90), for classified and certificated staff assigned to a district 
school site and report the Form J-90 to the California Department of Education. 

 
Additionally, by January 31, 2026, and annually thereafter, the Superintendent or designee shall complete 
the Salary and Benefit Schedule for Bargaining Units (Form J-90) for classified and certificated staff 
assigned to a district school site and report the Form J-90 to the California Department of Education. 
(Education Code 42238.016) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 45038, certificated employees may be paid once every two 
weeks, twice a month, or once every four weeks. Additionally, the Board may choose to pay 
certificated employees, or one or more individual employees, in 10, 11, or 12 equal payments over 
the year instead of by the school month. 



Page 2 of 5 

 
Education Code 45039 provides that, if the Board arranges to pay certificated employees in 12 equal 
payments for the year, it may pay each monthly installment at the end of each calendar month, 
regardless of whether the employees are actually engaged in teaching during the month. Education 
Code 45165 addresses salary payments for classified employees who are employed 9-11 months per 
year. 
 
In addition, pursuant to Education Code 45500, districts may participate in the Classified School 
Employee Summer Assistance Program whereby eligible classified employees may elect to have up 
to 10 percent of the employee's monthly salary withheld and paid out during the summer recess in 
either one or two payments. 
 
Education Code 45048 and 45165 provide specific timelines for issuing salary payments depending 
on the frequency of payments. If payments are not made in a timely manner, the district is required to 
pay the employee interest on the unpaid amount. 
 
The following paragraph may be revised to reflect the payroll schedule determined by the Board or as 
provided for in any applicable collective bargaining agreement. 

 
Unless otherwise provided for in any applicable collective bargaining agreement, district employees shall 
be paid monthly and in 10, 11 or 12 equal payments over the calendar year. However, if the district 
participates in the Classified School Employee Summer Assistance Program, eligible classified 
employees may elect to have up to 10 percent of the employee's monthly salary withheld and paid out 
during the summer recess in either one or two payments. (Education Code 45038, 45039, 45048, 45165, 
45500) 
 
In extraordinary circumstances or emergency situations, the Board may determine to continue to 
compensate employees during periods of extended closure or disruption of normal district operations 
when permitted by law and consistent with collective bargaining agreements and memoranda of 
understanding. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 29 CFR 516.4, districts are required to post a notice of the minimum wage 
provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) (29 USC 201-219) in a conspicuous place at all 
work sites. The poster that must be used by state and local governments is available on the website of 
the U.S. Department of Labor's Wage and Hour Division. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall post a notice explaining the Fair Labor Standards Act's wage and 
hour provisions in a conspicuous place at each work site. (29 CFR 516.4) 
 
Overtime Compensation 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to the FLSA (29 CFR 553.20) and Education Code 45128, districts are required 
to pay employees who are not specifically exempted by law, including classified employees in both 
merit and non-merit system districts, overtime pay or compensatory time off at a rate not less than one 
and one-half times their regular rate of pay for hours worked in excess of eight hours in any one day 
and/or in excess of 40 hours per calendar week. However, if the Board has established a work day of 
less than eight hours but at least seven hours, and a work week of less than 40 hours but at least 35 
hours, all time worked in excess of the established work schedule must be deemed overtime. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 45130, districts are not required to pay overtime for any classified 
positions established by the Board, or by the personnel commission in a merit system district, as 
supervisory, administrative, or executive. In approving positions for exclusion from the overtime 
provisions, the Board or personnel commission must certify in writing that the duties, flexibility of 



Page 3 of 5 

hours, salary, benefit structure, and authority of the positions are of such a nature that they should be 
set apart from those positions which are subject to the overtime provisions; see BP/AR 4300 - 
Administrative and Supervisory Personnel. However, Education Code 45130 provides that, if a 
classified employee in an exempt position is required to work on a holiday designated in law or by 
the Board, the employee is required to be paid the regular pay for that day plus compensation or 
compensatory time off at a rate not less than the employee's normal rate of pay; see BP/AR 6115 - 
Ceremonies and Observances for more information regarding holidays designated in law or by the 
Board. 
 
Additionally, overtime pay requirements are not applicable to school administrators or teachers in 
elementary or secondary schools under specific exemptions in 29 USC 213 and 29 CFR 541.303. 
Pursuant to 29 CFR 541.303 and 541.600, teachers do not need to meet the salary level requirement to 
be exempt from overtime rules. 29 CFR 541.204 provides that, to be exempt from overtime rules, 
administrators must either meet the salary level requirement or be compensated on a salary basis that 
is at least equal to the entrance salary for teachers in the administrator's school. 
 
Labor Code provisions are not applicable to school districts unless specifically provided for in law. For 
example, in Johnson v. Arvin-Edison Water Storage District, the appellate court held in part that Labor 
Code 510, which provides for overtime compensation including that an employee who works in excess 
of 12 hours in one day or eight hours on the seventh consecutive day of a workweek is entitled to twice 
the regular rate of pay, does not apply to public agencies, including school districts. 
 
Due to the complex interactions between federal law and state law, as well as between different state 
law provisions and classes of employees, it is recommended that districts consult CSBA's District and 
County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel regarding employee overtime 
compensation, as necessary. 

 
District employees shall be paid an overtime rate of not less than one and one-half times their regular rate 
of pay for any hours worked in excess of eight hours in one day and/or 40 hours in one work week, or 
twice their regular rate of pay for any hours worked in excess of 12 hours in one day or eight hours on the 
seventh consecutive day of work.. However, teachers, school administrators, and other employees in 
positions established by the Board as executive, administrative, or professional shall be exempt from 
overtime rules. (Education Code 45128, 45130; 29 USC 213; 29 CFR 541.0-204, 541.710303, 
541.600, 553.27, 553.32) 
 
If the district requires a classified employee in an exempt position to work on a holiday designated in law 
or by the Board, the employee shall be paid the regular pay for that day plus compensation or 
compensatory time off at a rate not less than the employee's normal rate of pay. (Education Code 45130) 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that allow employees to take 
compensatory time off in lieu of overtime compensation as authorized by 29 USC 207 and 29 CFR 
553.20-553.25. Time off in lieu of overtime compensation is allowed only if provided for in a collective 
bargaining agreement or other agreement and must be provided at the rate of at least one and one-half 
hours for each hour of overtime work.  
 
Pursuant to 29 CFR 553.21, an employee must be allowed to use earned compensatory time within a 
"reasonable period" after making the request. 29 CFR 553.25 provides that a "reasonable period" is 
determined on a case-by- case basis by considering customary work practices such as the normal work 
schedule, anticipated peak workloads based on past experience, emergency requirements for staff and 
services, and the availability of qualified substitute staff. Education Code 45129 provides that the 
compensatory time off must be used within 12 calendar months. 

 
 



Page 4 of 5 

When authorized in a collective bargaining agreement or other agreement between the district and 
employees, an employee may take compensatory time off in lieu of overtime compensation, provided the 
employee has not accrued compensatory time in excess of the limits specified in 29 USC 207. An 
employee who has requested the use of compensatory time shall be allowed to use such time within 
12 calendar months after making the requestfollowing the month the overtime was worked if the use of 
the compensatory time does not unduly disrupt district operations. (Education Code 45129; 29 USC 
207; 29 CFR 553.20-553.25) 
 
For each nonexempt employee, the Superintendent or designee shall maintain records on the 
employee’semployee's wages, hours, and other information specified in 29 CFR 516.5-516.6. 
 
Wage Overpayment 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 44042.5 requires districts to follow the process specified below 
when a wage overpayment is made to a district employee. If the provisions of this section are in 
conflict with a collective bargaining agreement or a memorandum of understanding that was in 
effect on July 31, 2022, such agreements shall be controlling until the expiration or renewal of such 
agreements. It is recommended that the district consult CSBA's District and County Office of 
Education Legal Services or district legal counsel when questions arise about legal requirements for 
specific wage overpayments. 
 
If, following the determination of an overpayment, the employee disputes the existence or amount 
of the overpayment, the district is required to first initiate legal action and obtain a court order or 
binding arbitration decision validating the overpayment amount. Binding arbitration may only apply to 
such overpayment disputes if a memorandum of understanding between the district and exclusive 
representative sets forth procedures for adjudicating such wage overpayment disputes that meet the 
minimum requirements set forth in Education Code 44042.5. 

 
If the district determines an employee has been overpaid, the district shall notify the employee in 
writing of the overpayment, afford the employee an opportunity to respond before commencing any 
recoupment actions, and inform the employee of the employee's rights to dispute the existence or 
amount of the claimed overpayment. If the employee agrees there was an overpayment in the claimed 
amount, reimbursement shall be made to the district through one of the methods described in 
Education Code 44042.5, as mutually agreed upon by the employee and the district. (Education Code 
44042.5) 
 
If a mutual agreement on a method of reimbursement is not reached, within 30 days of the employee 
verifying the overpayment amount, the district shall recoup the overpayment through payroll 
deductions in accordance with Education Code 44042.5. 
 
If the employee does not respond or disputes the existence or amount of the district's claimed 
overpayment, the district shall, with board approval, initiate a legal action tomay only recover the 
overpayment. after pursuing appropriate legal action. (Education Code 44042.5) 
 
If the employee separates from the district before the overpayment is fully repaid, the district shall 
withhold the remaining balance due from any money owed to the employee upon separation, provided 
that the state minimum wage is still paid to the employee as required by Education Code 44042.5. The 
Superintendent or designee may consult with legal counsel to calculate the amount to withhold. 
 
If an outstanding overpayment balance still remains, the district shall, with Board approval,may exercise 
any legal means to recover the remaining amount owed by the employee. (Education Code 44042.5) 
 



Page 5 of 5 

Legal action to recover any overpayment under this policy shall be initiated within three years 
from the date of the overpayment, which for leave credits is the date that the employee 
receives compensation in exchange for leave erroneously credited to the employee. 
(Education Code 44042.5) 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007  
revised: August 9, 2011  
revised: February 11, 2020 
revised: July 14, 2020 
revised: November 14, 2023 
revised: ??, 2025 





Page 1 of 3 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District & Sierra County Office of Education 

Personnel 
Policy 4158~4258~4358: Employee Security 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 3543.2, safety conditions in employment are a mandatory 
subject of collective bargaining. The following Board policy and accompanying administrative 
regulation may be revised to reflect district practice and the terms of the district's collective 
bargaining agreements. 

 
The Governing Board desires to provide a safe and orderly work environment for all employees.  As 
part of the district's comprehensive safety plan, the Superintendent or designee shall develop strategies 
for protecting employees from potentially dangerous persons and situations and for providing necessary 
assistance and support when emergency situations occur.  
 
Any person who threatens the safety of others at any district facility may be removed by the 
Superintendent or designee in accordance with ARAdministrative Regulation 3515.2 - Disruptions. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Code of Civil Procedure 527.8 authorizes districts to seek a temporary restraining order 
(TRO) on behalf of employees who have been subjected to harassment, unlawful violence, or a credible 
threat of violence in the workplace. A collective bargaining representative may also seek a TRO on 
behalf of a district employee if the collective bargaining representative serves that employee in 
employment or labor matters at the employee's workplace. Before filing a petition for a TRO, the 
district or collective bargaining representative is required to provide the employee who suffered 
unlawful violence or a credible threat of violence an opportunity to decline to be named in the TRO. 
If such a denial occurs, the district or collective bargaining representative is not prohibited from 
seeking a TRO on behalf of other employees at the workplace, and, if appropriate, other employees at 
other workplaces in the district. 
 
Pursuant to Penal Code 18150 and 18170, a gun violence restraining order prohibiting a person from 
owning, having custody or control of, purchasing, possessing, or receiving a firearm or ammunition 
may be petitioned by that person's employer, a coworker who has had substantial and regular 
interactions with the person for at least one year and has the employer's approval, or an employee or 
teacher of a secondary school that the person has attended in the past six months if the employee or 
teacher has obtained the approval or a school administrator or designee. 

 
Any employee against whom harassment, violence, or any threat of violence has been directed in the 
workplace shall notify the Superintendent or designee immediately. As appropriate, the Superintendent 
or designee shall initiate legal and security measures to protect the employee and others in the 
workplace.  Such measures may include seeking a temporary restraining order (TRO) on behalf of the 
employee pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure 527.8 and/or a gun violence restraining order pursuant 
to Penal Code 18150 and 18170. 
 
Additionally, a collective bargaining representative may seek a TRO on behalf of a district employee 
against whom harassment, violence, or credible threat of violence has been directed in the workplace, if 
the collective bargaining representative serves that employee in employment or labor matters at the 
employee's workplace. (Code of Civil Procedure 527.8) 
 
Upon request by an employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, the 
Superintendent or designee shall provide reasonable accommodations in accordance with 
LaborGovernment Code 230-230.112945.8 and the accompanying administrative regulation to protect 
the employee's safety while at work. 



Page 2 of 3 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48904 and 48905, an employee who is injured or whose 
property is damaged by willful misconduct of a district student under the conditions described 
below may request that the district pursue legal action against the student or the student's 
parent/guardian. For more information regarding recovery for damages when an employee is injured 
or whose property is damaged by the willful misconduct of a district student, see BP 3515.4 - 
Recovery for Property Loss or Damage and AR 5125.2 - Withholding Grades, Diploma or 
Transcripts. It is recommended that the district consult CSBA's District and County Office of Education 
Legal Services or district legal counsel when considering whether to pursue legal action. 

 
The Superintendent or designee may pursue legal action on behalf of an employee against a student or the 
student's parent/guardian to recover damages for injury to the employee's person or property caused by 
the student's willful misconduct that occurred on district property, at a school or district activity, or 
in retaliation for lawful acts of the employee in the performance of the employee's 
duties.  (Education Code 48904, 48905) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 32289.6, as added by AB 1858 (Ch. 530, Statutes of 2024), 
on or before June 15, 2025, the California Department of Education is required to curate and post on its 
website best practices pertaining to school shooter or other armed assailant drills, with which districts 
are encouraged to comply. 
 
Additionally, the 2024, "Executive Order on Combating Emerging Firearms Threats and Improving 
School-Based Active-Shooter Drills," 89 Fed. Reg. 80345, establishes an interagency Emerging 
Firearms Threats Task Force and requires the Secretary of Education and the Secretary of Homeland 
Security to release guidance related to school- based active-shooter drills for schools. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide staff development in crisis prevention and intervention 
techniques, which may include training in classroom management, effective communication techniques, 
procedures for responding to an active shooter situation, and crisis resolution. 
 
In accordance with law, the Superintendent or designee shall inform teachers, administrators, and/or 
counselors of crimes and offenses committed by students who may pose a danger in the 
classroom.  (Education Code 48201, 49079; Welfare and Institutions Code 827) 
 
The Superintendent or designee may make available at appropriate locations, including, but not limited 
to, district and school offices, gyms, and classrooms, communication devices that would enable two-way 
communication with law enforcement and others when emergencies occur. 
 
Use of Pepper Spray 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. Penal 
Code 22810 authorizes adults, with certain exceptions, to carry an approved tear gas weapon such as 
pepper spray for purposes of self-defense. Penal Code 626.9 and 626.10, which prohibit the possession 
of weapons on school grounds, do not prohibit the possession of pepper spray on school grounds. 
Thus, the Governing Board may determine whether to allow or disallow, with certain exceptions, the 
possession of pepper spray on school property or at school activities. See the accompanying 
administrative regulation for related procedures. It is recommended that districts allowing 
employees to carry pepper spray consult CSBA's District and County Office of Education Legal 
Services or district counsel regarding potential liability related to an employee's possession of 
pepper spray and revise the corresponding regulation accordingly. 

 
Employees shall not carry or possess pepper spray on school property or at school activities, except when 
authorized by the Superintendent or designee for self-defense purposes.  When allowed, an employee may 



Page 3 of 3 

only possess pepper spray in accordance with Board policy, administrative regulationsregulation, and 
Penal Code 22810.  Any employee authorized to carry or possess pepper spray on school property who 
is negligent or careless in the possession or handling of pepper spray is acting outside of the scope of 
employment and shall be subject to appropriate disciplinary measures. 
 
Reporting of Injurious Objects 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is consistent with the actions described in AR 5131.7 - Weapons 
and Dangerous Instruments related to student possession. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 49334, a school employee who initially notifies law enforcement regarding 
a student or adult who is in possession of an injurious object while on school grounds or under the 
authority of school personnel cannot be subject to any civil or administrative proceeding, including 
disciplinary action, for violation of any district policy or procedure related to the notification of a 
law enforcement agency. Education Code 49334 requires such an employee to conform with 
district procedures after exercising the option to notify a law enforcement agency. 

 
Employees shall take immediate action upon being made aware that any person is in possession of a 
weapon or unauthorized injurious object on school groundsdistrict property or at a school-district related 
or school-sponsored activity.  Employees shall exercise their best judgment as to the potential danger 
involved and shall do one of the following: 
 

1. Confiscate the object and deliver it to the principal immediately 
 

2. Immediately notify the principal or supervisor, who shall take appropriate action 
 

3. Immediately call 911 and the principal or supervisor 
 
When informing the principal about the possession or seizure of a weapon or dangerous device, an 
employee shall report the name(s) of persons involved, witnesses, location, and the circumstances of any 
seizure. 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007  
revised: May 10, 2011  
revised: August 14, 2018 
revised: August 10, 2021 
revised: ??, 2025 




	01_2025-05-13_SCOE & SPJUSD_Joint Meeting Agenda
	02_Sean Snider Superintendent's Goals 24-25 Progress Update to Board 5-13-25
	03_2025-0201a 46 Sierra COE  USD 202425 2nd Interim
	04_Chronic Absenteeism Rates as of May 7 2025
	05_Enrollment Summary_2024-2025_Month 08
	06_2025-04-08_SCOE & SPJUSD_Joint Meeting Minutes
	07_2025-05-07_SCOE & SPJUSD_Joint SPECIAL Meeting Minutes
	08_CONSENT_SCOE APR2025 CHECKS
	09_CONSENT_SPJUSD APR2025 CHECKS
	10_Consent to Teach_Caroline Griffin
	11_Resolution_Classified Employee Appreciation_blank
	12_SELPA_Section D_Annual Budget Plan
	13_SELPA_Section E_Annual Service Plan
	14_2025-2026 Extra Duty Assignments_athletics
	15_2025-2026 Extra Duty Assignments_non-athletics
	16_CA-SPJU 250417_Reading Difficulties Risk Screener
	17_Estimate_20_from_MARTIN_EARTHWORKS
	18_Quote for ramps on portables
	19_Policy Packet_4-08-25_second reading 5-13-25
	20_Policy Packet_5-13-25_first reading



